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7 times
cash cover on 

A share dividend

R580m
post year-end 

acquisitions at a 
yield of 11,85%

7,7%
vacancies

R525m
debt renewed and 
fixed for five years 

at 9,39%
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Highlights for the year



73,51 cents
total dividend per B share 

for the year *

* exceeding forecast dividend of 
73,36 cents disclosed in the circular 

dated 26 September 2016

20,65%
loan to value ratio, 

with strong 
balance sheet

7% to 9%
forecast dividend 

growth on B share 
for FY18
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Scope and boundary

This integrated annual report to stakeholders is for 
Gemgrow for the year ended 30 September 2017.

This is Gemgrow’s first integrated annual report as a repositioned 
REIT on the JSE and is aimed at providing stakeholders with an 
integrated view of Gemgrow’s economic, social and environmental 
performance and to demonstrate its ability to create and sustain 
value over the short, medium and long term.

The information contained herein relates to Gemgrow’s 
operational activities and interests in South Africa for the past 
financial year, however, post-balance sheet events have been 
included for the sake of completeness.

Gemgrow’s most relevant material matters are presented herein. 
These matters pertain to Gemgrow’s strategy, which underpins its 
sustainability, its performance, associated risks and opportunities 
and its prospects in a manner that is transparent, accurate and 
balanced. This integrated annual report was prepared in accordance 
with best practice, applying the principles of the King IV Report 
on Corporate Governance, the International Integrated Reporting 
Council’s International <IR> Framework (“<IR> Framework”), 
the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008 (“the Companies Act”), 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE Limited (“the JSE Listings Requirements”).

Assurance and comparability
The Board is required to prepare annual financial statements 
in terms of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, 
which represent the financial affairs of Gemgrow in a fair manner 
conforming with IFRS, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements. Gemgrow’s external auditors are obliged to 
examine the annual financial statements and have reported 
their opinion thereon.
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Gemgrow has not pursued external assurance for its non-financial 
information disclosed in this integrated annual report.

Stakeholder feedback
Stakeholders are welcome to address any comments 
to info@gemgrow.co.za with feedback on this integrated 
annual report.

Forward-looking statements
This integrated annual report contains certain forward-looking 
statements relating to the financial performance and position 
of the group. All forward-looking statements are based solely 
on the views and considerations of the directors. While these 
forward-looking statements represent the directors’ judgements 
and future expectations, a number of risks, uncertainties and 
other important factors could cause actual developments and 
results to differ materially from their expectations. Factors 
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
recorded in the forward-looking statements include, but are 
not limited to, global and local market and economic conditions, 
industry factors as well as regulatory factors.

Gemgrow is not under any obligation (and expressly disclaims 
any such obligation) to update or alter its forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future 
events or otherwise.

This forward-looking information has not been reviewed or 
reported on by the external auditors.

Board responsibility statement
The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the integrity 
of the integrated annual report. The directors confirm that they 
have individually and collectively reviewed the content of the 
integrated annual report and believe that it addresses material 
issues, as determined by using Gemgrow’s risk framework as a 
screening mechanism, and is a fair representation of Gemgrow’s 
integrated performance. The Board approved the release of the 
2017 integrated annual report on 7 December 2017.

For and on behalf of the Board

Greg Kinross 
Chairman

Mark Kaplan 
Chief Executive Officer

Rosebank 
7 December 2017
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Synergy was incorporated as a public company on 13 November 
2007, and listed as a property loan stock company on the main 
board of the JSE under the “Real estate – real estate holdings and 
development” sector on 14 December 2011. With effect from 1 July 
2013, Synergy converted from a property loan stock company 
to a REIT and accordingly changed its sector classification to the 
“retail REITS” sector on the JSE. Synergy listed on the JSE with 
a portfolio valued at R280 million, subsequently growing to 
comprise 14 shopping centres valued in excess of R2,4 billion 
as at 30 September 2016.

With effect from 1 October 2016, following the implementation 
of multiple simultaneous transactions, Synergy was renamed 
Gemgrow and re-positioned itself as a specialist high-yielding, 
high-growth diversified REIT with a portfolio comprising retail, 
office and industrial assets. 

The company’s reconstituted, high-yielding portfolio comprises 
property assets in the retail, office and industrial sectors.

The company’s major shareholders are Arrowhead, holding 55,2% 
of Gemgrow’s share capital and Vukile, holding 27,4% as illustrated 
in the group structure diagram below.

The company delivers income growth for investors through:

 › tenant retention;
 › rental escalation;
 › effective cost containment;
 › reducing vacancies;
 › acquiring revenue-enhancing properties; and
 › disposing of underperforming assets.

Quarterly income returns for shareholders
Gemgrow’s dual-class “A” and “B” share capital structure pays 
dividends to its shareholders on a quarterly basis. The company 
leverages its high-yielding and diversified portfolio of properties to 
achieve its strategic objectives and maintain a strong capital base, 
with the aim of delivering long-term, sustainable dividend growth 
to investors. Gemgrow’s financial year-end is 30 September.

In the listed property sector, dual-class share companies 
are scarce. The “A” shares offer income-focused investors 
preferential rights to earnings, capped at a maximum growth 
of 5% per annum. Note that for the income period ending 
30 June 2018 and thereafter, dividends in respect of “A” shares 
will be equal to the lesser of 5% and the most recent CPI figure, 
as per Gemgrow’s memorandum of incorporation. The balance 
of the company’s earnings is attributed to the “B” shares. 

High-yielding assets
Gemgrow is focused on growing the value of its portfolio 
of high-yielding, niche properties.

The company grows its highly diversified property portfolio 
and mitigates its risk by investing in a large number of assets 
throughout South Africa, which are occupied by a wide range 
of retail, office and industrial tenants. See the graphic breakdown 
of Gemgrow’s geographical profile on page 07.

Gemgrow’s property management function is performed by 
ERES. The company benefits from their expertise, complementing 
Gemgrow’s investment strategy through specialist, hands-on asset 
management personnel who perform the crucial day-to-day property 
management functions.

Furthermore, the company’s experienced management team 
receives the added benefit of strategic oversight provided by 
its majority shareholder Arrowhead.

Gemgrow group structure

Arrowhead

55%

100% 100%

27%

Cumulative
100 properties = R1,9bn

Gemgrow Asset 
Management

Vukile

Gemgrow
29 properties  

= R2,6bn
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R4,5bn
reconstituted 
portfolio value

92%
of portfolio lettotal GLA

690 263m2129
properties in all nine 
provinces in SA

Geographical profile (% of GLA)

  61 Gauteng

  2 Free State

 1 North West

  3 Mpumalanga

  4 Limpopo

 3 Eastern Cape

  13 KwaZulu-Natal

  11 Western Cape

  2 Northern Cape

4

61 3

13

3

11

2

2

1
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Award escalating quarterly 
dividends to investors

FY17 performance

“A” share dividend of 101,87 cents 
per share; “B” share dividend of 
73,51 cents per share

FY18 objectives

“A” share dividend of 106,96 cents 
per share; “B” share dividend 
growth of between 7% and 9%

01

Reduce vacancies; avoid 
single tenant material 
exposure to income

FY17 performance

Vacancy rate of 7,7%;  
no material single  
tenant exposure

FY18 objectives

Sustain vacancies below 
8,0%; maintain no material 
single tenant exposure

07

Maintain low gearing levels

FY17 performance

LTV of 20,65% at year end

FY18 objectives

Maintain low gearing

02

Refinance expiring 
debt facilities

FY17 performance

R525 million debt that 
expired has been refinanced 
for a term of five years

FY18 objectives

R50 million of debt expiring  
in final process of refinance

03

Improve the ratio of hedged 
interest rate debt funding  
as a percentage of overall  
debt funding

FY17 performance

Increased overall hedged debt

FY18 objectives

Maintain high ratio 
of hedging of interest 
rate exposure
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Acquire yield-enhancing  
SA properties from 
R20 million up; dispose  
of non-core assets

FY17 performance

Acquired 14 properties of 
approximately R580 million 
in SA at weighted average 
combined yield of 11,85%

FY18 objectives

Conclude further yield-
enhancing acquisitions  
in SA; assess portfolio  
for strategic disposals
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Diversify by sector, 
geographical location 
and grading

FY17 performance

Portfolio well diversified 
by sector, geographical 
location and grading

FY18 objectives

Maintain or improve 
portfolio diversification

06

Key

 Financial

 Portfolio

 Stakeholder
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Positively impact  
communities  
surrounding assets

FY17 performance

Cultivating positive 
reputation for Gemgrow

FY18 objectives

Build positive reputation; 
engage with communities  
via retail and social initiatives

12

Improve exposure of the 
company to investors and  
the property sector

FY17 performance

Held investor and analyst 
engagement roadshows 
and attended conferences 
within the sector and with 
financial institutions

FY18 objectives

Increase engagement with 
investors, analysts and  
other property funds
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Leverage Arrowhead’s 
strategic and operational 
support and guidance

FY17 performance

Significant financial benefits 
from relationship with 
Arrowhead

FY18 objectives

Sustain strategic relationship 
with Arrowhead

10

Emphasis on good  
corporate governance

FY17 performance

Strong Board and committees 
in place

FY18 objectives

Implement governance 
changes in line with King IV
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Manage lease expiries;  
achieve step up escalations

FY17 performance

Tenant retention of 86%; 
renewed 71% of leases with 
existing tenants and of the 
30% not renewed, re-let 53% 
to new tenants; average 3% 
step up escalations

FY18 objectives

Renew or re-let 85% of leases 
that expire during the year. 
Increase step up escalations 
and manage rental reversions  
on renewals of leases

08
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Gemgrow
CEO, CFO and COO

Tenants

Shareholders
Equity
Dividends

Banks
Debt
Interest

Advisors
› Auditors
› Sponsor
› Transfer secretary
› Company secretary
› Communications

Property  
management
ERES

Asset 
management
Accounting

Legal

Arrowhead 
Properties
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Shareholders

Board of  
directors

Asset managers

Financial manager

Legal advisor

Service providers

Executive

Audit and risk

Investment

Remuneration 
and nomination

Social and ethics

Board  
committees

11

Group structure



Being Gemgrow’s maiden year as a newly formed listed entity, the year was characterised by intense 
activity and interaction with our stakeholders. These engagements have helped to develop strong 
relationships with our key stakeholders. Our stakeholder relationships are based on our principles 
of honesty and transparency, and are the responsibility of the Board.

Our executive team has successfully familiarised itself with and 
gained deeper insight into two large “consolidated portfolios” 
ensuring further success going forward. To a large extent, this 
relied on engagements with key stakeholder groups, including 
our shareholders, property managers, service providers, tenants, 
financiers, investors, brokers, analysts, industry bodies, the media, 
and local communities. Our various methods of stakeholder 
engagement are listed in the table on page 13.

To announce Gemgrow’s arrival in the listed property market, 
it was vital to introduce our company and brand to the broker 
and investor network. Our portfolio growth strategy includes 
acquisitive action, the details of which required a programme 
of engagement and communication with a variety of brokers, 
listed and private funds. Once Gemgrow was established, 
our interaction with these various parties intensified with 
our executive directors engaging with them on a daily basis.

Debt facilities play a pivotal role in the listed property sector, 
and Gemgrow is no exception. 58,4% of our debt expired and 
came up for renewal in our first year. Refinancing our debt upon 
maturity for a period of five years ensures a healthy risk managed 
debt expiry profile over the medium term. In addition, if a material 
portion of the interest on such debt is fixed, this creates certainty 
of the impact of finance costs on the net income available for 
distribution to our shareholders. Ongoing engagement and 
negotiation with all major financiers is essential to manage the 
terms of Gemgrow’s debt facilities consistently in the best 
interests of our company, investors and other stakeholders.

We communicate regularly with our sponsors, who provide 
best practice advice concerning information communicated 
to the market generally or by way of integrated reporting, 
year-end and interim results. In addition thereto, they assist 
us in maintaining contact with an array of stakeholders via 
SENS announcements covering changes to our Board, interim 
results, dividends and acquisitions. In order to ensure that 
all communications are in compliance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements and any other regulations, such communications 
are confirmed with our sponsors and legal advisors, prior to 
being released to the market. 

We also engaged with the JSE who provided compliance training 
during the year. Our sponsor also provided training that dealt 
with the procedure for portfolio acquisitions, as well as directors’ 
interests, directors’ share dealings and closed periods.

Different asset and property management models were 
applied to the management of assets prior to the formation 
of Gemgrow: 100 properties in the portfolio originated from 
our parent company Arrowhead and are asset managed with 
their support, while Vukile managed the 29 properties that 
originated from its portfolio. 

To address the issues of service continuity and consistency in 
terms of property management, we engaged a single property 
manager, ERES, to assume responsibility for the portfolio — 
thereby dealing with the legacy of multiple property managers 
inherited from the portfolios that now comprise Gemgrow. 
To scrutinise our properties on an individual basis, our executive 
management team engaged with ERES monthly for a week at a 
time conducting intensive management meetings. With a hands-on 
approach, our executive management evaluated the financial 
performance of every property, and examined every lease and 
vacancy intimately familiarising themselves with the entire 
portfolio. Furthermore, we engaged monthly with the Vukile 
Asset management team and their property managers (Broll 
and ERES) to discuss the financial and asset management of the 
29 properties managed by them.

Our investors care about the extent to which we as Gemgrow 
are invested in our assets and how well we know them. Beyond 
merely knowing a building’s GLA or value, we regularly walk 
through our properties to get a real sense of their offering 
and condition. We also meet face to face with our tenants, 
proactively seeking feedback regarding their occupancy, the 
state of business, and any issues that require resolution.

Through in-depth analyses, management considers the 
maintenance and capital expenditure requirements of every 
property in order to ensure that the value of the portfolio is 
safeguarded and growing. To this end, we liaise with designers 
and architects, discussing various fit-out options that can enhance 
a property’s value and make it more attractive to tenants.

The table on the right discusses the methods of engagement 
Gemgrow’s team utilises in respect of each stakeholder group.
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Stakeholders Methods of engagement

Shareholders, brokers, investors and analysts Direct communication with management, face-to-face and telephonic 
meetings. Integrated reporting, interim and year-end results presentations, 
SENS releases, Gemgrow website, annual general meeting, investor 
presentations, announcements and roadshows.

Financiers Regular meetings with debt providers, covenant reporting, ad-hoc 
meetings and discussions, integrated reporting, interim and year-end 
results presentations, SENS releases and site visits.

Employees Daily interaction and report back, performance appraisals, 
training and development, induction and exit interviews, roadshows 
and presentations.

Tenants Executive directors and property managers ERES engage with tenants 
through regular and ad-hoc site visits, face-to-face meetings, monthly 
statements, written communications, and Gemgrow’s website.

Property managers Direct communication with management, regular monthly 
telephonic and face-to-face meetings, Board meetings, site visits 
and Gemgrow’s website.

Suppliers and service providers Service level agreements and trading terms, relationship 
building, direct communication with property managers and 
executive management.

Regulatory/industry bodies Members of SAREITA, SAPOA, the Property Sector Transformation 
Council, the South African Council of Shopping Centres, SAICA, SA 
Institute of Valuers and the Green Building Council of South Africa. 
Active members of the commercial property industry.

Communities Social and community-related activities and communications via the 
portfolio’s retail properties, maintaining clean and safe properties.

Government Compliance with regulations and laws, timeous payment of rates 
and taxes, interaction and consultations with local government, 
municipalities, SARS and utilities suppliers.

Media Direct access to management, honest, transparent and informative 
media briefings, promoting corporate brand reputation and awareness.
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Risk
Stakeholder 
group affected

Impact 
level

Mitigation 
response

BEE accreditation
Risk of not being able to 
secure satisfactory leases 
with government due to 
lack of BEE credentials.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital
 › Tenants
 › Employees

Moderate As Gemgrow subcontracts its human resources, property 
management and procurement to ERES, it adopts ERES’s 
level 2 B-BBEE Contributor rating when submitting tenders 
to government and other parties.

Business continuity
Loss of company data.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital
 › Tenants
 › Employees

Moderate As Gemgrow subcontracts its human resources, property 
management and procurement to ERES, it is reliant on the 
management agent’s systems and processes to protect its data.

A disaster recovery plan is in place at ERES which is tested 
twice a year.

Fraud and errors
Errors are made or fraud 
committed either by an 
employee of the company 
or its property manager.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital
 › Tenants
 › Employees

Moderate Internal controls, schedules of payments and cash balances are 
tested and reviewed regularly.

Interest rates
Upward movement in interest 
rates will reduce dividends.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital

Low 94% of borrowings are forward hedged through fixed-rate loans 
and interest-rate swaps. The cost of borrowings is monitored 
closely and where appropriate, borrowings are restructured.

As part of the treasury function, the company also deposits 
excess funds into its access facilities.

Liquidity
Insufficient cash flow to 
meet the fund’s obligations.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital

Low Regular cash forecasts are prepared and monitored.

Maturity of loans is managed and refinanced on a timely basis.

Investments
Properties are acquired which 
do not fit investment criteria.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital

Low The investment committee approves all properties acquired and 
investments made after a comprehensive due diligence is performed.

All decisions of the investment committee must be unanimous.

Assets acquired must fall into retail, office, industrial and other 
categories of property and may be situated in any of the provinces 
of South Africa.

Governance and management of risk is ultimately the responsibility of the Board. A formal risk 
management process has been implemented by the Board, which delegates authority to the audit and 
risk committee. The audit and risk committee meets at least four times annually to review matters 
pertaining to risk. This includes determining the risk appetite and tolerance levels and the approval 
of the risk strategy, policy and framework.

The Board regularly reviews Gemgrow’s risk profile to ensure 
that risks are being adequately managed within a tolerable 
level and steps are taken when necessary to address and 
mitigate risks. The Board is cognisant of the fact that the 
company’s core purpose, its risks and opportunities, strategy, 
business model, performance and sustainable development 
are all inseparable elements of the value creation process.

The audit and risk committee oversees the risk management 
process with the executive directors implementing systems 
in order to mitigate risk. The audit and risk committee answers 
to the Board in this regard.

Risk is managed at an operational level with monthly management 
meetings held with Gemgrow’s external management company 
in order to identify and address any potential risk in its infancy. 
The executive committee has implemented systems in order to 
ensure that operations management considers and actions the 
appropriate risk responses. The executive committee ensures 
that risk management is performed on a continuous basis and 
reports and presents to the Board on this matter frequently.

The table below highlights those risks which have been 
identified, the levels thereof, together with the responses 
in mitigation of such risks.
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Risk
Stakeholder 
group affected

Impact 
level

Mitigation 
response

Vacancies
Substantial loss of 
revenue resulting in a 
decrease in dividends.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital

Low Vacancies at a portfolio and property level are monitored regularly.

Leases expiring where tenants are at risk of vacating are escalated 
for executive decision making aimed at retaining tenants and 
managing potential vacancies.

Active marketing policies and letting incentives are pursued for 
vacant premises.

Tenant exposure
Substantial loss of revenue 
from tenant exposure 
resulting in a decrease 
in dividends.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital
 › Tenants

Low Wide tenant profile from a geographical and sector perspective. 

Government (national and provincial) contribute 10% of the total 
income across multiple leases within the portfolio.

With the exception of government, no single tenant exposure 
greater than 3% of the income of the fund.

Stringent tenant vetting approval process prior to take on of 
new tenants.

Tenants are engaged frequently on property-related issues 
and contacted timeously to negotiate lease renewals.

Bad debts
Loss of revenue from bad debts 
in respect of defaulting tenants 
resulting in an increase in bad 
debts and a decrease in dividends.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital

Low Weekly monitoring of rental arrears with proactive legal measures 
implemented to collect arrears.

Regular evaluation of bad debt provisioning to ensure that dividends 
are not negatively impacted by bad debts which have not been 
budgeted for.

Concentration of lease expiries
Could result in a loss of rental 
revenue, with premises being 
let at below market rentals 
and increased holding costs.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital

Low Lease expiries are well spread. Management regularly monitors 
lease expiries.

Ongoing efforts are made to lengthen lease periods.

Regulatory and compliance
Possible non-compliance with 
regulatory requirements could 
result in reputational damage 
and financial loss.

 › Investors
 › Government
 › Regulators

Low Board members strive to ensure compliance with the highest 
professional standards. 

Ongoing consultation with professional advisors to ensure compliance.

Adequate insurance is in place to cover key insurance risks.

Human resources
Loss of key staff members. 
Loss of executives.

 › Investors
 › Property managers
 › Employees

Low Staff members’ packages are competitive and they receive 
performance bonuses and long- and short-term incentives.

Operational risk
Loss of earnings due 
to poor processes 
and controls.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital
 › Tenants
 › Employees

Low Monthly management meetings are held with property managers 
to discuss the performance of the portfolio.

Regular feedback from internal audit of the property manager 
and adoption and monitoring by management of appropriate risk 
management practices.

IT
Unauthorised users gain 
access to the systems, 
failure of the systems or 
information is compromised.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital
 › Tenants
 › Employees

Low Each Gemgrow team member has a laptop which is backed up 
regularly. Reliance is placed on ERES for disaster recovery and 
most IT processes. The disaster recovery processes have been 
assessed and confirmed to be robust.

ERES audits its IT systems and is ISO 9001:2008 compliant.

Hijacking of company
The company being hijacked 
for fraudulent purposes.

 › Investors
 › Providers of capital
 › Tenants
 › Employees

Low Company secretary conducts regular checks of the details 
recorded by CIPC.
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01

Mark Kaplan (37)
Chief Executive Officer
BBusSc, Finance (Hons)
Appointment date: January 2017
Committees: Investment committee

Mark is the co-founder and Chief Executive Officer of Arrowhead 
and an executive director of Indluplace, both of which are listed on 
the JSE. He was previously involved in running a large residential 
portfolio focused on affordable and student housing.

02

Junaid Limalia (46)
Chief Financial Officer
BCom, BAcc, CA(SA), Programme in International  
Tax (Post grad)
Appointment date: December 2016
Committees: Investment committee, Social and ethics committee

Junaid began his career as a chartered accountant at 
PricewaterhouseCoopers over 20 years ago. He spent two 
years in the United Kingdom, whereafter he moved to IBM 
South Africa’s IT outsourcing division. From 2003, he held 
various positions at the South African Revenue Service (“SARS”), 
from tax auditor to executive of the investigative audit division 
for large business. He worked on redesigning the operating 
model of SARS’s large business centre; project managed its 
implementation and represented SARS on IRBA’s committee 
for auditing standards.

03

Alon Kirkel (34)
Chief Operating Officer
BCom (Acc)
Appointment date: December 2016
Committees: Investment committee, Social and ethics committee

Alon completed a BCom, majoring in accounting and human 
resources at the University of the Witwatersrand. He worked 
in the diamond industry for 15 years at Diacore, formerly the 
Steinmetz group. His role included purchasing and analysing high 
quality investment diamonds for the group. Alon has also been 
successful in purchasing neglected commercial and industrial 
buildings and turning them into quality, high-yielding assets.

02 01 03
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04

Gregory Kinross (44)
Independent non-executive Chairman
BCom, BAcc, CA(SA)
Appointment date: December 2016
Committees: Investment committee, Remuneration and 
nominations committee

Gregory qualified as a chartered accountant in 1997. The following 
year, he founded his own private equity business. In 2005, he became 
CEO and President of Tau Capital Corp., a mining and resources 
business. In 2013, he formed Innovo Capital (Pty) Ltd to pursue 
private equity opportunities and in 2014, he formed Genesis 
Innovo Capital (Pty) Ltd in a partnership with the Genesis Capital 
Group. Gregory holds a number of board positions and is the 
lead independent director of Indluplace.
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Clifford Abrams (48)
Independent non-executive Director
BCom, BAcc, CA(SA), Registered auditor
Appointment date: December 2016
Committees: Remuneration and nominations committee, 
Audit and risk committee, Social and ethics committee

Clifford is a chartered accountant and has been in private 
practice for the past 17 years. He is the proprietor of Clifford 
Abrams & Associates. He has held various positions in community 
organisations and is currently the Chairman of the Mizrachi 
Synagogue. Clifford is an independent non-executive director  
of Indluplace.
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Arnold Basserabie (72)
Independent non-executive Director
BSc (Mathematics and Statistics), ASA, CFP
Appointment date: February 2017
Committees: Audit and risk committee, Investment committee

After graduating with a BSc, Arnold joined Fedsure Financial 
Services Group. In 1988 he was appointed Group Chief Executive, 
and its asset base grew from R2 billion to R40 billion during 
his 13-year tenure. In the 1990s, Arnold contributed to the 
advancement of a number of emerging businesses in South Africa. 
Since the early 2000s he has practised as a strategic consultant, 
focusing on strategy, business development and related activities, 
across a diverse range of industries. Arnold is, inter alia, a member 
of the Wits University Foundation’s Board of Governors and 
chairman of its Investment and Finance Committee.

Ayesha Rehman (67)
Independent non-executive Director
Diploma in Financial Accounting, Certificate in Management, 
Certificate in Project Management, Certificate in Property 
Development
Appointment date: December 2016
Committees: Remuneration and nominations committee 
(Chairperson), Audit and risk committee

Ayesha was appointed as senior financial manager of the 
Johannesburg Housing Company in 1998. In 2009, she was 
appointed as the chief financial officer of the Johannesburg 
Housing Company and held that position until she retired in 
February 2015. She was previously an accountant at the Joint 
Education Trust. Ayesha is an independent non-executive  
director of Indluplace.
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Gregory Kinross 
Chairman

The newly appointed Gemgrow Board and management have 
done an outstanding job of integrating the new assets, gaining 
the requisite understanding of and getting to grips with the newly 
constituted portfolio. Management has also had the challenging 
task of assuming reporting and management responsibility over 
all the assets, a substantial undertaking both in terms of number 
of assets and overall value of the portfolio.

In addition to bedding down the new property portfolio during 
the year, I am happy to report that management has also grown 
the value of the portfolio by 13%, having successfully concluded 
the acquisition of an additional 14 properties to the value of 
approximately R580 million which will transfer post year end. 
Amidst all the activity, management also successfully renegotiated 
and refinanced, at attractive interest rates, 54% of the total value 
of debt that matured during the year, for which they are to be 
commended — especially in light of what was a tough year for 
the property sector and the South African economy in general.

Shortly after a controversial cabinet reshuffle that included the 
replacement of the South African Finance Minister, some of 
the major ratings agencies downgraded the country’s sovereign 
credit rating to sub-investment grade, citing concerns regarding 
the levels of political, and therefore economic, uncertainty. 
Then, after two consecutive quarters of economic contraction 
and the effects of the downgrades, the local economy slid into 
technical recession.

Dear stakeholders

It gives me great pleasure to report on 
Gemgrow’s results for the financial year 
ended 30 September 2017. Gemgrow 
(formerly Synergy Income Fund Limited) 
is the product of multiple simultaneous 
transactions involving an asset exchange 
between Gemgrow and Vukile and the 
acquisition of the shares in a property owning 
subsidiary of Arrowhead (“the transaction”). 
Post the transaction, Gemgrow has been 
positioned as a specialist, high yielding, 
high growth property fund. 
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Strategy
Gemgrow has the advantage of being a niche REIT that focuses on 
acquiring assets from a large pool of smaller assets and privately 
held portfolios, rather than the larger assets that are typically 
sought by listed property funds to achieve growth. Supported by 
our business model, our area of expertise lies in maximising yield-
enhancing assets that may be ignored by other funds due to their 
more management-intensive nature.

Gemgrow’s two major shareholders are Arrowhead and Vukile, 
holding 55% and 27% respectively. In light of these significant 
shareholdings, one of our objectives is to improve Gemgrow’s 
share liquidity and shareholder spread, as we grow the portfolio 
over time. Acquisitive growth will be funded via debt facilities, 
the issuing of shares, or a combination of the two, following 
a process of evaluating which funding mix has the lowest cost 
of capital and the most positive impact on dividends. Gemgrow 
is currently geared at approximately 20%, but as the portfolio 
grows, so will our borrowing capacity.

The Board’s 2017 focus areas
During the year under review, the Board focused on bedding 
down the reconstituted group, setting common management 
and reporting standards, and establishing a risk framework to 
manage the portfolio and evaluate assets. This, in turn, helped 
to achieve our dividend and performance targets set out in the 
published circular, and serves to steer management in the year 
ahead. To maintain our healthy debt profile and gearing, the 
Board oversaw the refinancing of R575 million of debt.

Our Board policies and Board sub-committee terms of reference 
were all implemented during the year and it is our intention to 
comply with the corporate governance standards as laid out in the 
King IV Report on Corporate Governance. To ensure effective and 
ethical leadership, we have assembled a strong Board, with four 
out of seven directors being independent, non-executive directors. 

Transformation is important to the Board and over and 
above what we have already achieved through race and 
gender diversity, we endeavour to further improve on this as 
and when opportunities allow. Since Gemgrow has a low staff 
complement comprising only the executive directors, the Board 
ensures that our service providers meet the requisite levels of 
compliance, corporate governance and transformation. To this 
end, we have outsourced the vast majority of our property 
management function to ERES, a B-BBEE Level 2 Contributor. 
This in turn is also positive for our tenants.

These conditions dampened investor confidence and negatively 
impacted the performance of the economy, including the listed 
property sector. Led by the agriculture sector, modest levels 
of growth during the third quarter of 2017 lifted the economy 
out of technical recession, however political uncertainty and 
challenges persist.

The defensive nature of Gemgrow’s strategy should however 
serve to mitigate these and other risks as far as possible. The 
portfolio comprises properties that are diversified geographically, 
as well as by sector, size, value and tenant grading. We also 
have no material single tenant exposure to income within the 
portfolio, no material single counterparty risk, nor any material 
single asset exposure.

Performance in context
I am pleased to report that Gemgrow’s overall performance 
for the year was in line with expectations and forecasts 
communicated in the Gemgrow (previously known as Synergy) 
circular published in September 2016, including but not limited 
to, dividends for the year. 

While the portfolio performed to expectation, it is worth noting 
that in light of the current economic conditions, there remains 
some pressure on tenant retention, renewals, lease escalations, 
and vacancies. These will be dealt with in more detail later 
in this report. Notwithstanding the above, it is gratifying to 
report that we did not experience negative reversions on lease 
renewals. The challenge however lies in achieving sustainable 
rental growth through lease escalations in this difficult climate. 
Tenants are under pressure and seek increasing value from their 
leases including shorter lease terms. 

That said, we are confident that our portfolio is, on average, 
rented “at market” with minimal systemic risk in the portfolio 
of negative rental reversions on lease renewal, more common 
to longer term leases where assets are at risk of being “over 
rented” and, as a result, also overvalued.

Our strategy is to grow dividends on a long-term 
basis by acquiring earnings-accretive assets, with 
market-related rentals. 
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Board priorities for 2018 
The Board priorities for the year ahead are to further unite 
the group and internalise the asset management function 
of the 29 Vukile properties.

Due to the complex nature of the consolidation, our aim is 
to manage these objectives and conclude them expeditiously, 
but in a realistic timeframe to avoid overburdening management.

Our maiden social and ethics sub-committee meeting was held 
on 18 September 2017. Refer to page 57.

The ongoing focus of the Board is facilitating 
Gemgrow’s key objectives of sustainable capital 
and dividend growth for our shareholders through 
earnings-enhancing acquisitions, and maximising 
value and earnings growth from our core portfolio.

Dividends paid to A and B shareholders
Dividends paid to A shareholders of 101,87 cents per share were 
in line with the company’s circular dated 26 September 2016, 
while the dividend paid to B shareholders of 73,51 cents per 
share was marginally higher than the 73,36 cents per share 
per the circular.

Changes to the Board
On 16 December 2016, we were saddened by the unexpected 
passing of Gerald Leissner, who took over as CEO of Gemgrow 
post the implementation of the transaction. Gerald was widely 
respected as a true doyen of the property industry and built 
an impeccable reputation over many years. Gerald was highly 
regarded for his incredible contribution to the property sector, 
his community, and society at large. He has left an indelible 
mark on all the organisations, companies and people with 
whom he was associated.

Training and directors’ development 
Our Board consists of experienced individuals with an excellent 
mix of property sector, financial, investment and governance 
skills. The assembly of a strong Board was at the outset an 
important objective and remains important in taking the 
group through its intended consolidation and growth phase. 

To bolster Gemgrow’s knowledge base, our executives 
participated in several property sector conferences during 
the year under review. Furthermore, to manage any changes 
within the regulatory and legislative environment, the company 
secretary, as well as the company’s legal advisors, sponsors, 
financial advisors and auditors kept the Board appraised of the 
latest developments, and these were included in Board packs for 
in-depth discussion at meetings. The scope of directors’ training 
during the year covered the JSE Listings Requirements, operating 
as a JSE-listed company, the various mandatory compliance 
standards, trading in shares and closed periods, and providing 
a regulatory overview to ensure that directors are up to date.

With the 2017 financial year successfully behind us, in the 
coming year, we intend to improve on our performance 
regarding Board evaluations, governance-related initiatives  
and non-executive directors’ training.

The Board is also in the fortunate position of having the 
day-to-day support and guidance of Arrowhead’s senior 
management. As our major shareholder and partner, 
Arrowhead offers a wealth of experience and strategic 
oversight, to the benefit of our company and stakeholders.

Governance
Gemgrow’s activities regarding governance-related initiatives 
for the year under review were extensive and the Board engages 
in an ongoing process of education, interactions with auditors, 
the sponsor and company secretary on new developments in 
accounting, as well as developments in governance practices and 
standards. As compliance and transparency are cornerstones of 
Gemgrow, we as the Board have, and will continue to, devote 
ample time to the intricate matters of governance, related 
charters and policies. As mentioned, consolidating the group 
was the main focus of the Board during the year under review 
and as such, Board and sub-committee performance evaluations 
will be performed in the coming year.
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Mark Kaplan was subsequently appointed as CEO of Gemgrow 
in January 2017, and also currently serves as CEO of Arrowhead. 
The appointment of a new board following the implementation 
of the transaction saw Junaid Limalia appointed as CFO and 
Alon Kirkel appointed as COO. 

Initially Mr. Mervyn Serebro had been appointed to the 
Gemgrow Board however, in order to comply fully with certain 
requirements of the Competition Commission Mr Serebro 
resigned and in February 2017 Mr. Arnold Basserabie was 
appointed to the Board as an independent non-executive 
director with effect from 14 February 2017.

Outlook
It is anticipated that the operating environment in 2018 
will remain challenging, with political and policy uncertainty 
persisting. The local economy, already beset with negligible real 
growth, awaits the outcome of the African National Congress’ 
Elective Conference in December 2017 with keen interest, as the 
governing party elects its next leader prior to national elections in 
2019. There is also wider uncertainty from geopolitical tensions 
abroad as well as the economic effects of the Brexit vote which 
continue to unfold.

While the majority of the property portfolio is located in 
Gauteng, we will continue to pursue attractive opportunities 
across the country. Furthermore, yield-enhancing investments 
could range from individual properties, to small portfolios and 
other REITs via corporate action, as appropriate.

We draw confidence from Gemgrow’s sound investment case 
and pipeline of assets for the year ahead, with management 
having integrated the various portfolios. We are focused on 
growth and we are positive about our prospects of concluding 
earnings-enhancing acquisitions in the coming year, as well 
as addressing and mitigating any risks that we may face.

Notwithstanding the challenges, the portfolio is diversified, 
our rentals are fairly priced and Gemgrow is well positioned 
to benefit from any upswing in economic conditions during 
the year ahead and is confident of its ability to weather 
current market conditions.
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Financial performance for the year ended 30 September 2017

The year ended 30 September 2017 marks Gemgrow’s first year as a 
repositioned high yield, high growth listed entity. Because of the change 
in composition of the property portfolio from 2016 and the fact that the 
company only reported for six months due to a year end change in that 
year, the 2017 results are not comparable to 2016.

Summary of financial performance
Year ended

30 September 2017
6 months ended

30 September 2016

Dividend per Gemgrow A share (cents) 101,87 49,69

Dividend per Gemgrow B share (cents) 73,51 29,67

Gemgrow A shares in issue  47 352 203  47 352 203 

Gemgrow B shares in issue  400 710 459  106 352 670 

Net asset value per A share at reporting date (cents) * 972 997

Net asset value per B share at reporting date (cents) 845 959

*  The net asset value per Gemgrow A share has been calculated on the 60-day volume weighted average trading price 
as at 30 September 2017 limited to the combined net asset value in accordance with the provisions of Gemgrow’s MOI.

The company issued a circular on 26 September 2016 where it recorded its dividend forecast for the 
year ended 30 September 2017 at 101,87 cents per A share and 73,36 cents per B share. Gemgrow’s 
actual dividend on its A share was in line with its forecast, while the 73,51 cents on its B share was 
marginally higher than its forecast.

Revenue
Revenue includes rental income and expenditure that is recoverable from tenants.

 › At 30 September 2017, Gemgrow owned 129 properties valued at R4,5 billion, of which retail 
comprised 14%, office 37% and industrial 49% based on gross lettable area (“GLA”). In revenue 
terms the portfolio comprised retail at 16%, office 55% and industrial 29%.

 › The average gross monthly rental per m² per sector was R83 for retail, R107 for office and R42 
for industrial.

 › Vacancies reduced slightly from 7,73% to 7,71% during the 12 months ended 30 September 2017. 
At a sector level, retail vacancies were 5,77%, industrial 6,18% and office 10,51%.

 › The total GLA of the portfolio was 690 263m². During the period, contracted leases in respect 
of 183 496m² expired and 129 555m² (71%) of this GLA was renewed. Of the remaining 53 941m², 
a further 28 835m² (53%) was re-let to new tenants. In total 86% of the GLA of leases that 
expired during the period were renewed to existing tenants or re-let to new tenants.

 › The current average lease rental escalations were 8,13%, 8,13% and 8,43% for retail, office and 
industrial properties respectively.

 › The step-up escalations on renewed leases were 5% for retail, 3% for office and 1% for industrial. 
Step-up escalations were in line with expectations.
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Condensed consolidated financial results for the year ended 30 September 2017

R’000/Audited
Full year

2017
6 months

2016

Revenue (excluding straight-line rental income) 666 066 181 404

Property expenses (263 056) (80 010)

Administration and corporate costs (8 531) (1 708)

Amortisation of loan raising cost — 391

Finance charges (91 577) (46 221)

Finance income 20 468 1 229

Distributable income 323 370 55 085

Pre-effective date distribution 19 432 —

Total dividend 342 802 55 085

Property expenses as a percentage of revenue — gross (%) 39 44

Property expenses as a percentage of revenue — net (%) 17 22

A share — dividend for the quarter ended 31 December 11 764 —

B share — dividend for the quarter ended 31 December 71 495 —

A share — dividend for the quarter ended 31 March 11 764 —

B share — dividend for the quarter ended 31 March 72 724 —

A share — dividend for the quarter ended 30 June 12 353 —

B share — dividend for the quarter ended 30 June 74 212 —

A share — dividend for the quarter ended 30 September * 12 353 23 529

B share — dividend for the quarter ended 30 September * 76 137 31 556

Total dividend 342 802 55 085

Dividend per A share (cents) for the quarter ended 31 December 24,85 —

Dividend per B share (cents) for the quarter ended 31 December 17,84 —

Dividend per A share (cents) for the quarter ended 31 March 24,85 —

Dividend per B share (cents) for the quarter ended 31 March 18,15 —

Dividend per A share (cents) for the quarter ended 30 June 26,09 —

Dividend per B share (cents) for the quarter ended 30 June 18,52 —

Dividend per A share (cents) for the quarter ended 30 September * 26,09 49,69

Dividend per B share (cents) for the quarter ended 30 September * 19,00 29,67

175,39 79,36

* The dividend was declared on 15 November 2017.
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12-month letting report
Total

(m²)
Let
(m²)

Vacant
(m²)

Let
(%)

Vacant
(%)

As at 1 October 2016 692 713 639 160 53 553  92,27 7,73

Acquisitions — — — — —

Disposals — — — — —

Net adjustments (2 450) 54 (2 504) — —

Adjusted totals 690 263 639 214 51 049  92,60 7,40

Net gain/(loss) — (2 189) 2 189 — —

As at 30 September 2017 690 263 637 025 53 238  92,29 7,71

Income statement
The reason for the period-on-period variances was due to the reconstituted portfolio being vastly different from the portfolio 
previously owned in the prior financial period. Furthermore, the prior period was only for six months.

Operating costs
R’000 2017 % of total 2016 % of total

Municipal expenses  173 770 67  50 924  64 

Property management  18 843  8  6 247  8 

Security  19 700  7  6 687  8 

Repairs and maintenance  13 743  5  2 096  3 

Cleaning  8 818  3  2 737  3 

Insurance  3 212  1  570  1 

Other  24 970  9  10 749  13 

Total  263 056  100  80 010  100 

The gross expense to income ratio decreased from 44% to 39%. The net expense to income ratio decreased from 22% to 17%.

Administrative expenses and corporate costs
R’000 2017 % of total 2016 % of total

Salaries  5 491  64  806  47 

Professional service fees  1 690  20  356  21 

Other  1 350  16  546  32 

Total  8 531  100  1 708  100 

Salaries in the comparative period related only to non-executive directors’ remuneration whilst the current year’s figure included both 
executive and non-executive remuneration. Furthermore, a portion of non-executive salaries not provided for in the prior period was 
accounted for in the current period. 

Professional fees increased primarily due to the re-positioning of the company and the number of reporting periods in the current 
year compared to the prior period. Furthermore, audit fees and certain professional fees not provided for in the prior period were 
accounted for in the current period.
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Statement of financial position

Investment properties
The company owned a portfolio of 129 retail, industrial and 
office properties valued at R4,5 billion at 30 September 2017, 
located in all nine provinces of South Africa. The average value 
per property as at 30 September 2017 was R34,6 million.

Analysis of movement in investment property
The value of investment property increased from R2,4 billion 
at 30 September 2016 to R4,5 billion at 30 September 2017. 
The increase was attributable to an asset exchange of 14 retail 
assets at R2,4 billion for 29 retail, office and industrial assets 
valued at R2,6 billion, and the acquisition of the 100% holding 
in Cumulative, which held 100 properties valued at R1,9 billion, 
in exchange for the issue of B shares in the company.

The company has a notarial lease on a property, Royal Palm 
situated in Durban with the Passenger Rail Association of 
South Africa (PRASA), which has a lease expiry of 30 November 
2017. Despite numerous engagements between the parties to 
negotiate the lease renewal, PRASA notified the company that 
it would not be renewing the lease and requested that the 
property be handed back on expiry of the lease. The directors 
have decided to write down the value of this property from 
R16 million to R0 in the current period. No income was forecast 
on the renewal of the lease on this property after expiry.

Acquisitions and disposals
Post the implementation of the transaction on 1 October 2016, 
the company made no further acquisitions or disposals during 
the 12-month period to 30 September 2017.

Loans to executives pursuant to the transaction
During the period under review, pursuant to the transaction and for 
purposes of incentivising certain executives, loans of R163 million 
were made to executives for the purposes of funding the purchase 
of B shares in the company. The loans bear interest at a rate equal 
to the dividend of the company for the period ending 30 September 
2017. The shares have been pledged as security to the company 
for the outstanding loans. During the year, shortly after the sad 
passing of the CEO, Mr G Leissner, his shares were sold and 
loans to the value of R41 million were repaid.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, deposits, other receivables and payments 
in advance increased from R41 million to R75 million. The items 
making up this balance are R17 million for trade receivables, 
R7 million for municipal recovery income accruals, R8 million for 
municipal deposits and R43 million in respect of the adjustment 
accounts relating to the Vukile asset exchange, which is in the 
process of being finalised. During the period under review, 
bad debts amounting to R3 million were written off, and an 
allowance for bad debts of R4 million was raised.

Finance income
R’000 2017 % of total 2016 % of total

Interest received on bank balances  3 726  18 680  55 

Interest received on loans to executives  15 390  75 — —

Interest on debtors  836  4  549  45 

Interest received other 516  3 — —

Total  20 468  100 1 229  100 

Interest on the loans to executives was in respect of interest charged on outstanding balances of the loans granted to executives 
pursuant to the transaction.

Finance charges
R’000 2017 % of total 2016 % of total

Interest paid on loans  86 860  94  45 829  99 

Interest paid on interest rate swaps  3 262  4 — —

Amortisation of loan raising costs  777  1  391  1 

Other interest paid  678  1  1 —

Total  91 577  100  46 221  100 
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Secured financial liabilities
The loans of R919 million measured against investment 
properties of R4,5 billion represents a loan to value of 20,6%. 
The interest rate swaps of R300 million and the fixed rate 
loans of R237 million resulted in interest on R537 million of 
the total R919 million being fixed. This equates to 58,4% of 
the total borrowings. 

The effective interest rate for the period ended 30 September 
2017 was 9,33%.

Gemgrow has entered into interest rate swaps to hedge its 
exposure to fluctuations in interest rates of its debt as follows:

 › an interest rate swap over R50 million until 19 February 2019;
 › an interest rate swap over R40 million until 19 February 2019;
 › an interest rate swap over R40 million until 1 July 2019;
 › an interest rate swap over R40 million until 1 July 2019;
 › an interest rate swap over R80 million until 30 September 

2019; and
 › an interest rate swap over R50 million until 1 September 2020.

Funding activities

Maturity
Fixed 
rate %

One-month 
Jibar margin %

Three-month
Jibar margin %

Prime rate 
margin %

Capital
2017

R’000

Capital
2016

R’000

September 2017 — — — minus 1,6 50 000 50 000

December 2017 9,14 — — — 90 000 90 000

December 2017 8,36 — — — 146 705 146 705

December 2017 — 2,30 — — 28 295 28 295

December 2017 — 1,65 — — 25 042 25 042

January 2018 — — — minus 1,5 234 998 235 004

November 2018 — — — minus 1,5 200 674 200 678

September 2019 — — 2,3 — 139 000 162 000

September 2019 — — — minus 1,1 4 000 —

Total exposure   918 714  937 724 

(Excluding loan initiation fees and fair value adjustments on swaps.)

Analysis of movement in investment property
Gemgrow portfolio Cumulative portfolio * Total

No. of
buildings R'000

No. of
buildings R'000

No. of
buildings R'000

Balance at the beginning of the period 14 2 451 435 — — 14 2 451 435

Acquisitions, additions and fair value adjustments 29 2 534 351 100 1 913 257 129 4 447 608

Disposals (14) (2 451 435) — — (14) (2 451 435)

Balance at the end of the period # 29 2 534 351 100 1 913 257 129 4 447 608

* Gemgrow’s shareholding in Cumulative was 100% at 30 September 2017.
# The above includes non-current assets available for sale.
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Prospects for the year ending 
30 September 2018

Core portfolio
The company expects the net income, after taking into 
consideration property expenses and the effects of gearing, 
to grow at between 3% and 5% in the year.

Acquisitions
The acquisitions of R580 million concluded in 2017 are expected 
to transfer in the year. The company remains committed to concluding 
more sustainable yield enhancing acquisition in the year.

Projected 2018 dividend per share
The company has secured acquisitions to the value of R580 million, 
at a weighted average yield of 11,85%, funded with the hedged debt 
facilities mentioned above. Transfer of these properties will take 
place in the new financial year.

The company is operating in an environment of subdued growth 
impacted by economic and political uncertainty. Gemgrow’s 
diversified portfolio is positioned to withstand measured market 
movements and produce sustainable value to its stakeholders. 
The Gemgrow forecast is modelled on the assumption that 
current trading conditions will prevail. Forecast income is based 
on contractual terms as at the date hereof and anticipated 
market-related renewals. The company projects growth in 
dividends of between 7% and 9% on its B share for the year 
ending 30 September 2018. The A share will grow at the lower 
of 5% or the consumer price index. The projection includes 
income from acquisitions anticipated to transfer between 
1 December 2017 and 31 January 2018. This forecast, prepared 
by the company, has not been reported on by the independent 
reporting accountants, Grant Thornton.

Loans to the value of R290 million and R235 million 
expire on 31 December 2017 and 31 January 2018, respectively. 
The company has refinanced both these loans at a forward 
hedged five-year rate of 9,39%. Drawdown of this new debt 
facility and repayment of the old debt facilities are both 
expected to be finalised early in the new financial year. Post 
year-end, the company also concluded a five-year renewal 
of the R50 million loan that was due to expire on 30 September 
2017. The company has also secured debt funding for the 
total value of its of acquisitions during the year at a forward 
hedged five-year rate of 9,74%.

After hedging the existing refinanced debt of R525 million 
and the debt on the acquisitions above, the ratio of hedged 
secured loans as a percentage of total secured loans will 
increase from 58% to 94%. The 94% hedge will take effect 
from 15 November 2017.

Trade and other payables
The material items making up trade creditors are VAT payable 
of R7 million, tenant deposits of R41 million, rentals received in 
advance of R10 million, trade creditors of R5 million, capital and 
operational expenditure accruals of R64 million. The increase in 
accruals is acceptable given the increased size of the fund.
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Properties in process of being transferred

Property name Province Sector
GLA
(m²) (R)

Disposal

Town Talk Nelspruit Mpumalanga Retail 1 082 6 000 000

Corpgro Welkom Free State Industrial 4 400 3 370 000

5 482 9 370 000

Acquisition

Checkers Centre Limpopo Retail 7 894 72 397 040

Hawama Noor Centre Limpopo Retail 9 767 116 837 790

Noor Centre Limpopo Retail 8 143 78 617 920

Shoprite Centre Limpopo Retail 8 362 62 147 250

Alberton Gauteng Retail 4 467 26 000 000

Vereeniging Gauteng Retail 2 113 13 000 000

Boxer Boksburg Gauteng Retail 3 454 36 000 000

Jet building Phalaborwa Limpopo Retail 2 305 15 226 000

Nizams Phalaborwa Limpopo Retail 2 263 16 274 000

Shoprite Brakpan Gauteng Retail 6 815 29 500 000

Monument Mall Gauteng Retail 4 742 28 642 616

Alrode Gauteng Industrial 8 674 30 437 787

Wonderboom Gauteng Retail 10 526 55 000 000

79 525 580 080 403
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Top 10 properties by value

Property name Province
2017

(R)
Vacancies

(m²)
Vacant

(%)
GLA
(m²) Address

Jhb Isle of Houghton Gauteng 294 800 000 3 118 11 28 070 36 Boundary Road, 
Houghton Estate

Cape Town Bellville 
Tijger Park

Western Cape 251 924 000 180 1 20 221 3 Tijger Park, Bellville Park, 
Bellville

Germiston 
Meadowdale R24

Gauteng 180 654 000 3 492 10 35 016 Erf 210 Herman Road, 
Meadowdale, Germiston

Pretoria 
Lynnwood Sanlynn

Gauteng 155 900 000 — — 8 625 Cnr Sanlam, Alkantrand 
and Lynnwood Streets, 
Pretoria

Pretoria 
High Court Chambers

Gauteng 151 900 000 — — 12 093 220 Madiba Street, 
Pretoria

Durban Valley 
View Industrial Park

KwaZulu-Natal 142 400 000 — — 30 790 24 Otto Volek Road, 
New Germany, Durban

Randburg Trevallyn 
Industrial Park

Gauteng 137 282 000 1 972 6 32 006 Cnr River Road and 
Hyskraan, Randburg, 
Kya Sands

Pinetown Westmead 
Kyalami Industrial Park

KwaZulu-Natal 95 648 000 — — 16 914 26 – 30 Kyalami Road, 
Westmead, Pinetown

East London 
Vincent Office Park

Eastern Cape 95 018 000 33 — 9 040 59 Western Avenue, 
Vincent, East London

Sandton Bryanston 
St Andrews Complex

Gauteng 91 700 000 575 6 10 184 Sloane Street, 
Bryanston

1 597 226 000 9 370 5 202 959

The average annualised property yield for total property portfolio was 10,5%.
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Sectoral profile by m² (%)
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A-Grade
Large national tenants, large listed tenants, 
government and major franchisees.

B-Grade
National tenants, listed tenants, franchisees, 
medium to large professional firms.

C-Grade
Small tenants (SMEs), start up companies and 
individuals, tenants who do not fall within the above 
categories (A and B). These comprise 880 tenants.

 61 Gauteng
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 1 North West
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 13 KwaZulu-Natal

 11 Western Cape

 2 Northern Cape

Geographical profile by m² (%)

Tenant grading (m²)

 49 A-Grade

 13 B-Grade

 38 C-Grade
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Combined lease expiry profile by revenue (R)

Sectoral profile by revenue (%) Percentage of govt revenue of total portfolio (%)
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Geographical profile by revenue (%)

Tenant grading by revenue (%)

A-Grade
Large national tenants, large listed tenants, 
government and major franchisees.

B-Grade
National tenants, listed tenants, franchisees, 
medium to large professional firms.

C-Grade
Small tenants (SMEs), start up companies and 
individuals, tenants who do not fall within the above 
categories (A and B). These comprise 880 tenants.
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Retail tenant grading 
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Retail lease expiry profile by revenue (R)

Monthly: 4%
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2019: 25%

2020: 25%

2021: 11%
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Retail lease expiry profile by GLA (m2)
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Retail makes up 16% of the portfolio on a revenue basis and 14% in m2. Retail has performed well and 
vacancies are 6%. Gross rentals average R83/m2 and the average annual lease escalation is 8,13%.

Top 10 retail properties by value

Property name Province
2017

(R)
Vacancies

(m²)
Vacant

(%)
GLA
(m²)

Sandton Bryanston Grosvenor Shopping Centre Gauteng 60 194 000 308 7 4 585

4 Weightman Avenue KwaZulu-Natal 36 500 000 — — 4 171

Tsolo Eastern Cape 36 174 000 — — 4 097

Ronsyn Building Western Cape 34 100 000 — — 2 391

Odendaalsrus Shopping Centre Free State 33 800 000 — — 3 683

Thohoyandou Shopping Centre Limpopo 32 546 000 — — 4 359

Oudehuis Centre Western Cape 31 300 000 475 11 4 182

The Pond Shopping Centre Gauteng 30 638 000 — — 5 501

Thohoyandou Centre Limpopo 28 800 000 — — 4 006

Town Centre Boksburg Gauteng 24 419 000 — — 6 883

348 471 000 783 2 43 858

12-month retail letting report

Total (m²) Let (m²) Vacant (m²) Let (%) Vacant (%)

At the beginning of the year 
(1 October 2016) 96 433 88 370 8 063 92 8

Acquisitions — — — — —

Disposals — — — — —

Adjustments (44) — (44) — —

Adjusted totals 96 389 88 370 8 019 92 8

Net gain/(loss) — 2 459 (2 459) — —

At the end of the year 
(30 September 2017) 96 389 90 829 5 560 94 6
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Property name Province
Purchase
date

GLA
(m²)

Value
(R)

Vacancies
(m²)

Vacancies
(%)

Weighted
average

rental
(R/m²)

105 Landdros Mare Street Limpopo Oct 16 571 6 320 000 — — 120

106 Landdros Mare Street Limpopo Oct 16 1 200 8 588 000 — — 71

38 Prospecton Road KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 1 528 20 387 000 115 8 123

4 Weightman Avenue KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 4 171 36 500 000 — — 88

Absa Gezina Gauteng Oct 16 2 053 21 763 000 — — 107

Absa Heidelberg Gauteng Oct 16 777 3 587 000 — — 127

Absa Nigel Gauteng Oct 16 961 8 025 000 — — 102

Citizens Building Kimberley Northern Cape Oct 16 840 5 887 000 — — 79

Citizens Cape Town Western Cape Oct 16 1 480 21 331 000 — — 143

Dikai Shopping Centre Mpumalanga Oct 16 2 923 22 631 000 554 19 80

Ellerines Dundee KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 3 518 21 746 000 — — 66

Ellerines Thohoyandou Limpopo Oct 16 829 7 218 000 — — 88

Greytown Shopping Centre KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 5 373 18 931 000 1 858 35 32

Groblersdal Fruit & Veg City Mpumalanga Oct 16 3 980 17 173 000 — — 45

Karoo Junction Western Cape Oct 16 6 899 22 400 000 822 12 69

Klein Brothers Northern Cape Oct 16 915 4 082 000 — — 52

Melville Properties Gauteng Oct 16 1 156 16 860 000 263 23 119

Nelspruit Centre Mpumalanga Oct 16 1 060 16 636 000 — — 171

Nelspruit Ellerines 1 Mpumalanga Oct 16 1 147 7 630 000 — — 73

Retail property schedule
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Property name Province
Purchase
date

GLA
(m²)

Value
(R)

Vacancies
(m²)

Vacancies
(%)

Weighted
average

rental
(R/m²)

Odendaalsrus Shopping Centre Free State Oct 16 3 683 33 800 000 — — 89

OK Klerksdorp North West Oct 16 7 931 17 165 000 — — 24

Oudehuis Centre Western Cape Oct 16 4 182 31 300 000 475 11 88

Ronsyn Building Western Cape Oct 16 2 391 34 100 000 — — 146

Royal Palm KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 893 — — — 204

Grosvenor Crossing Shopping Centre Gauteng Oct 16 4 585 60 194 000 308 7 130

Sanlam Centre Vryburg Northern Cape Oct 16 1 861 18 294 000 83 4 111

Shoprite Boksburg Gauteng Oct 16 3 034 23 293 000 — — 87

The Pond Shopping Centre Gauteng Oct 16 5 501 30 638 000 — — 69

Thohoyandou Centre Limpopo Oct 16 4 006 28 800 000 — — 90

Thohoyandou Shopping Centre Limpopo Oct 16 4 359 32 546 000 — — 80

Town Centre Boksburg Gauteng Oct 16 6 883 24 419 000 — — 44

Town Talk Nelspruit Mpumalanga Oct 16 1 082 6 000 000 1 082 100 —

Truworths Corner Western Cape Oct 16 520 11 543 000 — — 220

Tsolo Eastern Cape Oct 16 4 097 36 174 000 — — 83

96 389 675 961 000 5 560 6

Year
No. of

retail buildings

Avg. size
of retail

buildings (m²)

2017 34 2 835

Retail property schedule continued
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Office lease expiry profile by revenue (R)

Monthly: 5%

2018: 27%

2019: 32%

2020: 11%

2021: 14%

>2021: 11%

Office lease expiry profile by GLA (m2)

Monthly: 5%

2018: 24%

2019: 27%

2020: 10%

2021: 12%

>2021: 11%

Vacancy: 11%
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Office makes up 55% of the portfolio on a revenue basis and 37% in m2. Gemgrow’s office portfolio 
has performed well considering the difficult office conditions and vacancies are 11%. Gross rentals 
average R107/m2 and the average annual lease escalation is 8,13%.

Top 10 office properties by value  

Property name Province
2017

(R)
Vacancies

(m²)
Vacant

(%)
GLA
(m²)

Jhb Isle of Houghton Gauteng 294 800 000 3 118 11 28 070

Cape Town Bellville Tijger Park Western Cape 251 924 000 180 1 20 221

Pretoria Lynnwood Sanlynn Gauteng 155 900 000 — — 8 625

Pretoria High Court Chambers Gauteng 151 900 000 — — 12 093

East London Vincent Office Park Eastern Cape 95 018 000 33 — 9 040

Sandton Bryanston St Andrews Complex Gauteng 91 700 000 575 6 10 184

Sandton Sunninghill Place Gauteng 91 315 000 518 6 8 774

Midrand IBG Gauteng 83 913 000 1 209 14 8 515

Cape Town Bellville Suntyger Western Cape 69 748 000 336 5 6 344

Bedfordview Gauteng 66 800 000 — — 9 243

1 353 018 000 5 969 5 121 109

12-month office letting report

Total (m²) Let (m²) Vacant (m²) Let (%) Vacant (%)

At the beginning of the year 
(1 October 2016) 253 761 229 236 24 525 90 10

Acquisitions — — — — —

Disposals — — — — —

Adjustments (548) 54 (602) — —

Adjusted totals 253 213 229 290 23 923 90 10

Net gain/(loss) — (2 691) 2 691 — —

At the end of the year 
(30 September 2017) 253 213 226 599 26 614 89 11
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Property name Province
Purchase
date

GLA
(m²)

Value
(R)

Vacancies
(m²)

Vacancies
(%)

Weighted
average

rental
(R/m²)

101 Dorp Street GVT Limpopo Oct 16 5 093 44 100 000 909 18 96

135 Pietermaritz Street KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 2 198 23 971 000 — — 119

137 Sivewright Gauteng Oct 16 4 792 31 076 000 580 12 74

151/155 Juniper Road KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 1 546 8 896 000 — — 125

ABSA Randburg Gauteng Oct 16 1 533 4 990 000 — — 48

Bedfordview Gauteng Oct 16 9 243 66 800 000 — — 101

Cape Town Bellville Suntyger Western Cape Oct 16 6 344 69 748 000 336 5 113

Cape Town Bellville Tijger Park Western Cape Oct 16 20 221 251 924 000 180 1 115

Dept of Forestry and Water Eastern Cape Oct 16 3 790 36 317 000 — — 101

East London Vincent Office Park Eastern Cape Oct 16 9 040 95 018 000 33 — 125

Edufin PE Eastern Cape Oct 16 3 500 12 254 000 — — 30

Empire Place Limpopo Oct 16 1 066 9 908 000 — — 107

Endemol — Kent Gauteng Oct 16 2 526 25 772 000 — — 98

F B Motors Limpopo Oct 16 4 217 33 760 000 — — 81

Jhb Isle of Houghton Gauteng Oct 16 28 070 294 800 000 3 118 11 95

Jhb Parktown 55 Empire Road Gauteng Oct 16 5 960 50 044 000 1 385 23 81

Kimberley Building Northern Cape Oct 16 1 305 2 955 000 350 27 34

Kimberley Printing Northern Cape Oct 16 1 193 2 262 000 — — 35

La Rocca Gauteng Oct 16 2 935 29 000 000 203 7 106

Longmarket Street Branch KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 3 354 29 908 000 — — 103

Lynnwood Botco Place Gauteng Oct 16 493 3 487 000 493 100 —

Lynnwood Wapadrant Gauteng Oct 16 1 304 15 684 000 — — 152

Media Shop Gauteng Oct 16 2 522 35 200 000 2 522 100 —

Middelburg SAP Mpumalanga Oct 16 3 400 11 972 000 1 660 49 31

Midrand IBG Gauteng Oct 16 8 515 83 913 000 1 209 14 89

Motswedi House Gauteng Oct 16 1 630 17 230 000 411 25 89

Nedbank Kimberley Northern Cape Oct 16 1 284 6 945 000 842 66 31

Nu-Payment Gauteng Oct 16 1 408 22 498 000 — — 180

Office property schedule
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Office property schedule continued

Property name Province
Purchase
date

GLA
(m²)

Value
(R)

Vacancies
(m²)

Vacancies
(%)

Weighted
average

rental
(R/m²)

Oakhill Gauteng Oct 16 1 361 15 760 000 340 25 118

Parc Du Bel Western Cape Oct 16 2 299 14 513 000 — — 83

Perm — Smith Street KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 10 127 61 900 000 903 9 79

Perm Building Pietermartizburg KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 2 726 11 835 000 865 32 49

Perm Kimberley Northern Cape Oct 16 4 967 22 500 000 1 242 25 60

Philippi Court Western Cape Oct 16 1 357 14 581 000 — — 120

Pretoria Hatfield Festival 
Street Offices

Gauteng Oct 16 5 358 56 966 000 1 013 19 152

Pretoria High Court Chambers Gauteng Oct 16 12 093 151 900 000 — — 121

Pretoria Lynnwood Excel Park Gauteng Oct 16 3 529 28 073 000 — — 109

Pretoria Lynnwood Sanlynn Gauteng Oct 16 8 625 155 900 000 — — 161

Pretoria Lynnwood Sunwood Park Gauteng Oct 16 6 412 61 186 000 2 024 32 81

Provence House Witbank Mpumalanga Oct 16 5 866 40 100 000 2 340 40 65

Rivonia Boulevard Gauteng Oct 16 3 708 18 288 000 1 099 30 35

Sandton Bryanston 
St Andrews Complex

Gauteng Oct 16 10 184 91 700 000 575 6 84

Sandton Hyde Park 50 Sixth Road Gauteng Oct 16 4 108 61 069 000 — — 151

Sandton Rivonia 36 Homestead Road Gauteng Oct 16 2 459 31 325 000 — — 92

Sandton Sunninghill Place Gauteng Oct 16 8 774 91 315 000 518 6 83

SAPS — Mitchell's Plain Western Cape Oct 16 3 416 17 201 000 — — 60

SAPS Worcester Western Cape Oct 16 3 848 30 908 000 — — 81

Standard Bank Blackheath Gauteng Oct 16 2 880 21 440 000 29 1 104

The Arches Eastern Cape Oct 16 2 707 22 600 000 — — 116

The Main Change Gauteng Oct 16 5 268 44 800 000 1 434 27 79

Wilcon House Northern Cape Oct 16 2 659 34 200 000 — — 151

253 213 2 420 492 000 26 613 11

Year
No. of

office buildings

Avg. size
of office

buildings (m²)

2017 51 4 965
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Industrial lease expiry profile by revenue (R)

Monthly: 4%

2018: 27%

2019: 41%

2020: 21%

2021: 2%

>2021: 5%

Industrial lease expiry profile by GLA (m2)

Monthly: 5%

2018: 25%

2019: 36%

2020: 20%

2021: 2%

>2021: 6%

Vacancy: 6%
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Industrial properties make up 29% of the portfolio on a revenue basis and 49% in m2. Vacancies are 
6% and gross rentals are R42/m2 and the average annual lease escalation is 8,43%.

Top 10 industrial properties by value  

Property name Province
2017

(R)
Vacancies

(m²)
Vacant

(%)
GLA
(m²)

Germiston Meadowdale R24 Gauteng 180 654 000 3 492 10 35 016

Durban Valley View Industrial Park KwaZulu-Natal 142 400 000 — — 30 790

Randburg Trevallyn Industrial Park Gauteng 137 282 000 1 972 6 32 006

Pinetown Westmead Kyalami Industrial Park KwaZulu-Natal 95 648 000 — — 16 914

Roodepoort Robertville Industrial Park Gauteng 84 254 000 3 575 13 28 225

Cape Town Parow Industrial Park Western Cape 82 900 000 — — 19 834

Randburg Tungsten Industrial Park Gauteng 52 982 000 1 672 16 10 365

Simgold Gauteng 40 100 000 2 925 18 16 573

McCarthy Centre — Turffontein Gauteng 29 483 000 — — 5 935

Kolbenco Gauteng 29 428 000 375 3 12 425

875 131 000 14 011 7 208 083

12-month industrial letting report

Total (m²) Let (m²) Vacant (m²) Let (%) Vacant (%)

At the beginning of the year 
(1 October 2016) 342 520 321 663 20 857 94 6

Acquisitions — — — — —

Disposals — — — — —

Adjustments (1 858) — (1 858) — —

Adjusted totals 340 662 321 663 18 999 94 6

Net gain/(loss) — (2 066) 2 066 — —

At the end of the year 
(30 September 2017) 340 662 319 597 21 065 94 6
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Property name Province
Purchase
date

GLA
(m²)

Value
(R)

Vacancies
(m²)

Vacancies
(%)

Weighted
average

rental
(R/m²)

16 and 18 Forge Road Gauteng Oct 16 3 166 10 689 000 — — 38

21 Dartfield (Omlap) Gauteng Oct 16 1 016 5 855 000 — — 62

249 Commissioner Gauteng Oct 16 1 120 4 190 000 — — 37

38 Derrick Road Gauteng Oct 16 3 846 15 857 000 — — 51

46 Steel Road Gauteng Oct 16 3 790 17 676 000 — — 46

9 Montague Drive Western Cape Oct 16 2 649 19 761 000 210 8 68

Beka Bloemfontein Free State Oct 16 400 2 973 000 — — 78

Beka Durban KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 490 3 059 000 — — 114

Cape Town Parow Industrial Park Western Cape Oct 16 19 834 82 900 000 — — 45

CMH Spartan Gauteng Oct 16 2 467 9 190 000 — — 41

Corpgro Welkom Free State Oct 16 4 401 3 370 000 — — —

Creston Gauteng Oct 16 6 546 26 512 000 1 143 17 39

Diesel Road Gauteng Oct 16 7 923 24 300 000 — — 35

Durban Valley View Industrial Park KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 30 790 142 400 000 — — 43

Federal Mogul Mpumalanga Oct 16 900 3 913 000 — — 54

Germiston Meadowdale R24 Gauteng Oct 16 35 016 180 654 000 3 492 10 44

Herfred Pietersburg Limpopo Oct 16 2 250 9 455 000 — — 43

Hi Tech Mini Factories Gauteng Oct 16 2 719 13 686 000 647 24 48

Jet Industrial Park Gauteng Oct 16 10 209 19 924 000 1 218 12 16

JM Investments Gauteng Oct 16 2 700 11 779 000 — — 42

Kimberley Clark Gauteng Oct 16 6 817 18 376 000 — — 44

Kolbenco Gauteng Oct 16 12 425 29 428 000 375 3 26

Lea Glen Gauteng Oct 16 3 411 13 798 000 — — 38

Maverick Corner Gauteng Oct 16 1 570 14 099 000 203 13 110
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Property name Province
Purchase
date

GLA
(m²)

Value
(R)

Vacancies
(m²)

Vacancies
(%)

Weighted
average

rental
(R/m²)

McCarthy Centre — Turffontein Gauteng Oct 16 5 935 29 483 000 — — 46

Metcash Welkom Free State Oct 16 6 812 16 816 000 — — 24

Parmac Gauteng Oct 16 4 155 8 153 000 1 295 31 17

Pinetown Westmead 
Kyalami Industrial Park

KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 16 914 95 648 000 — — 59

Plantation Road 18 Gauteng Oct 16 3 954 15 079 000 — — 42

Plantation Road 20 Gauteng Oct 16 4 209 17 752 000 — — 48

Pretoria Silverton 22 Axle Street Gauteng Oct 16 1 817 11 302 000 — — 60

Pretoria Silverton 294 Battery Street Gauteng Oct 16 5 787 21 828 000 — — 42

Pretoria Silverton 301 Battery Street Gauteng Oct 16 3 784 17 480 000 — — 73

Pretoria Silverton 309 Battery Street Gauteng Oct 16 3 770 18 423 000 — — 52

Pretoria Silverton 330 Alwyn Street Gauteng Oct 16 1 185 4 429 000 — — 42

Pretoria Silverton 34 Bearing 
Crescent

Gauteng Oct 16 5 000 25 662 000 — — 52

Propstars Gauteng Oct 16 6 622 16 064 000 — — 24

Randburg Trevallyn Industrial Park Gauteng Oct 16 32 006 137 282 000 1 972 6 41

Randburg Tungsten Industrial Park Gauteng Oct 16 10 365 52 982 000 1 672 16 44

Roodepoort Robertville Industrial 
Park

Gauteng Oct 16 28 225 84 254 000 3 575 13 31

Simgold Gauteng Oct 16 16 573 40 100 000 2 925 18 22

Star Foods KwaZulu-Natal Oct 16 3 114 17 472 000 — — 52

Tarry's Head Office Gauteng Oct 16 10 824 8 614 000 2 338 22 10

Virgin Active Benoni Gauteng Oct 16 3 154 28 488 000 — — 89

340 660 1 351 155 000 21 065 6

Year
No. of

industrial buildings

Avg. size
of industrial

buildings (m²)

2017 44 7 742

Industrial property schedule continued
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Value and volume: Gemgrow Properties Limited “A”

Total volume: 14 034 827
Total value: R136 073 402
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Total volume: 9 723 650
Total value: R68 078 889
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Value and volume: Gemgrow Properties Limited “B”

 GPB -9,90%  ALSI +2,84%  SA Property Index -2,77%  ALBI20 +3,29%
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Analysis of ordinary shareholders: Gemgrow Properties Limited “A”

Number of
shareholders

% of total
shareholdings

Number of
shares

% of shares
in issue

Shareholder spread

1 – 1 000 23 9,27 9 560  0,02 

1 001 – 10 000 50  20,16 209 633  0,44 

10 001 – 100 000 101  40,73 4 139 379  8,74 

100 001 – 1 000 000 63  25,40 18 225 357  38,49 

Over 1 000 000 11  4,44 24 768 274  52,31 

Total 248  100,00 47 352 203  100,00 

Distribution of shareholders

Assurance companies 5  2,01 273 624  0,58 

Close corporations 1  0,40 2 089 0,01

Collective investment schemes 57  22,98 23 499 407 49,63

Custodians 2  0,80 136 071 0,29

Foundations and charitable funds 8  3,23 193 038 0,41

Hedge funds 2  0,82 28 839 0,06

Insurance companies 3  1,21 2 103 742 4,44

Investment partnerships 2  0,80 109 362 0,23

Managed funds 8  3,23 463 754 0,97

Medical aid funds 10  4,03 925 201 1,95

Private companies 8  3,23 435 783 0,92

Public companies 1  0,40 4 691 084 9,92

Public entities 2  0,81 150 100 0,32

Retail shareholders 41  16,53 377 998 0,79

Retirement benefit funds 86  34,68 13 589 775 28,70

Scrip lending 1  0,40 9 171 0,02

Stockbrokers and nominees 2  0,81 11 201 0,02

Trusts 9  3,63 351 964 0,74

Total 248 100,00 47 352 203 100,00
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Number of
shareholders

% of total
shareholdings

Number of
shares

% of shares
in issue

Shareholder type

Non-public shareholders — — — —

Directors and associates — — — —

Public shareholders 248 100,00 47 352 203 100

Total 248 100,00 47 352 203 100

Number of
shares

% of shares
in issue

Fund managers with a holding greater than 3% of the issued shares

Coronation Fund Managers 29 708 758 62,75

Old Mutual Investment Group 3 496 967 7,40

Catalyst Fund Managers 2 258 311 4,74

Prescient Investment Management 1 792 295 3,79

Total 37 256 331 78,68

Beneficial shareholders with a holding greater than 3% of the issued shares

Coronation Fund Managers 12 475 703 26,34

Vukile Property Fund Ltd 4 691 084 9,91

Old Mutual Group 3 481 283 7,35

Alexander Forbes Investments 2 966 923 6,27

Professional Provident Society 2 005 029 4,23

Prescient 1 792 295 3,79

ACSIS 1 772 101 3,74

Total 29 184 418 61,63

Share price performance

Closing price 30 September 2017 R9,60 

High for period R10,06 

Low for period R9,01 

Total number of shareholders 248 

Number of shares in issue 47 352 203 

Volume traded during period 14 034 827 

Ratio of volume traded to shares issued (%) 29,64
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Analysis of ordinary shareholders: Gemgrow Properties Limited “B”

Number of
shareholders

% of total
shareholdings

Number of
shares

% of shares
in issue

Shareholder spread

1 – 1 000 23 14,11 7 039 0,00

1 001 – 10 000 38 23,31 177 754 0,05

10 001 – 100 000 72 44,17 2 910 717 0,73

100 001 – 1 000 000 21 12,88 5 303 567 1,32

Over 1 000 000 9 5,53 392 311 382 97,90

Total 163 100,00 400 710 459 100,00

Distribution of shareholders

Assurance companies 4 2,45 256 743 0,06

Collective investment schemes 26 15,95 7 041 686 1,76

Custodians 1 0,61 10 000 0,01

Foundations and charitable funds 5 3,06 231 942 0,06

Managed funds 6 3,68 216 785 0,05

Medical aid funds 6 3,68 233 722 0,05

Organs of state 1 0,61 2 050 850 0,52

Private companies 8 4,90 165 950 0,04

Public companies 3 1,84 365 599 380 91,24

Retail shareholders 66 40,49 7 484 484 1,86

Retirement benefit funds 24 14,72 5 253 153 1,31

Stockbrokers and nominees 2 1,22 12 000 001 2,99

Trusts 11 6,79 165 763 0,05

Total 163 100,00 400 710 459 100,00

50

Shareholders’ analysis continued
aS at 30 September 2017



Number of
shareholders

% of total
shareholdings

Number of
shares

% of shares
in issue

Shareholder type

Non-public shareholders 5 3,66 383 599 380 95,72

 Directors and associates 2 2,44 18 000 000 4,49

 Arrowhead Properties Ltd (Holders >10%) 2 0,61 247 412 267 61,74

 Vukile Property Fund Ltd (Holders >10%) 1 0,61 118 187 113 29,49

Public shareholders 158 96,34 17 111 079 4,28

Total 163 100,00 400 710 459 100,00

Number of
shares

% of shares
in issue

Fund managers with a holding greater than 3% of the issued shares

None 0 0,00

Beneficial shareholders with a holding greater than 3% of the issued shares

Arrowhead Properties Ltd 247 412 267 61,74

Vukile Property Fund Ltd 118 187 113 29,49

Total 365 599 380 91,23

Share price performance

Closing price 30 September 2017 R6,70 

High for period R7,40 

Low for period R6,50 

Total number of shareholders 163 

Number of shares in issue 400 710 459 

Volume traded during period 9 723 650 

Ratio of volume traded to shares issued (%) 2,42 
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Non-public breakdown

30 September 2017 400 710 459

Direct holding %

Beneficial holders >10% 

Arrowhead Properties Ltd

Arrowhead Properties Ltd 247 412 267 61,74

247 412 267 61,74

Vukile Property Fund Ltd

Vukile Property Fund Ltd 118 187 113 29,49

118 187 113 29,49

Treasury

None 0 0

0 0,00

Share schemes

None 0 0

0 0,00

Directors

M Kaplan 6 000 000 1,5

J Limalia 3 000 000 0,75

A Kirkel 3 000 000 0,75

12 000 000 3,00
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The chairman is an independent non-executive director whose 
role is separate and distinct from that of the CEO.

The Board has adopted a gender diversity policy. The Board 
composition is kept under review and any shortfalls in terms 
of gender diversity, skills and experience are identified and 
addressed accordingly. Deliberations and appointments of the 
Board are formal and transparent and a matter for the Board 
as a whole, with the Board assisted by the remuneration and 
nomination committee. Any director appointed during the year 
is required to have the appointment confirmed by shareholders 
at the next annual general meeting.

Each Board member contributes to the wide range of knowledge, 
expertise, commercial and technical experience and business acumen 
that allows the Board to exercise independent judgement in Board 
deliberations and decision-making. Brief curricula vitae for each 
Board member are set out on pages 16 and 17 of this integrated 
annual report.

The CEO has overall responsibility and accountability for the 
operations of the company. The chairman leads the Board and 
ensures that relations between the executive and the Board are 
constructive. The Board is chaired by independent non-executive 
director, Gregory Kinross. The Board assessed, and confirmed 
its satisfaction with Mr Kinross’s contribution and performance 
as chairman and approved the extension of his chairmanship 
for another year. The chairman does not hold the position 
of chairman in respect of any other listed company.

The CEO and other executive directors are responsible for 
the implementation of strategy and decisions in respect of 
operational issues. Non-executive directors contribute their 
independent and objective knowledge and experience to Board 
deliberations. All non-executive directors are appropriately 
qualified, with the necessary skills and expertise to make 
a positive contribution to the operations.

After following the approved procedure, directors are 
encouraged to take independent advice at the cost of 
the company for the proper execution of their duties and 
responsibilities. The Board has unrestricted access to the 
external auditors, professional advisors, the services of the 
company secretary, the executives and the staff of the company. 
An induction programme is provided for new directors.

The directors of the company as at year-end were:

G Kinross (Independent non-executive chairman)
M Kaplan (CEO)
J Limalia (CFO)
A Kirkel (COO)
C Abrams (Independent non-executive director)
A Rehman (Independent non-executive director)
A Basserabie (Independent non-executive director)

Good corporate governance 
and ethical leadership
Gemgrow’s Board considers sound corporate governance 
practices to be a critical element in delivering sustainable 
growth for the benefit of all stakeholders. In conducting 
the affairs of the company, the Board applies the principles 
of fairness, responsibility, transparency and accountability. 
Gemgrow complies with the Companies Act and endorses 
the principles of King IV and continues to refine the process 
of ongoing disclosure on corporate governance, including in 
respect of those contained in the JSE Listings Requirements.

In regularly reviewing Gemgrow’s governance structures, the 
Board exercises and ensures effective and ethical leadership, 
always acting in the best interests of the company, and at the 
same time concerning itself with the sustainability of its business 
operations. The Board recognises that it is the ultimate custodian 
of corporate governance.

The directors of the company subscribe to the principle that they 
are accountable to shareholders as well as having an obligation 
to all stakeholders, to ensure that the company is, and is seen to 
be a good corporate citizen. The Board appreciates that strategy, 
risk, performance and sustainability are inseparable.

A formally appointed social and ethics sub-committee of 
the Board has been constituted to assist the Board with social 
and ethics related matters. The social and ethics committee 
monitors the company’s ethics and endeavours to ensure that 
such ethics pervade the culture of the company.

The Board charter, which is reviewed annually, details the Board’s 
responsibilities and terms of reference. It has been developed 
to enable the directors to maintain effective control over the 
strategic, financial and compliance matters of Gemgrow. The 
Board is accountable to the shareholders and it directs Gemgrow 
to achieve profitability by exercising good judgement, strong 
leadership as well as acting with integrity at all times.

The Board of directors

Composition and skills of the Board
The Board is responsible for the strategic direction and control of 
the company. It exercises control through a governance framework 
that includes the review and implementation of detailed reporting 
presented to it and its subcommittees and the implementation of 
a continuously updated risk management programme.

As at year-end, the Board comprised seven directors, four 
of whom are independent non-executive directors. The 
executive directors comprise a chief executive officer (CEO), 
Mark Kaplan, a chief operating officer (COO), Alon Kirkel, 
and chief financial officer (CFO), Junaid Limalia.
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Directors are informed timeously of matters that will be 
discussed at meetings and are provided with comprehensive 
information packs well in advance of meetings.

Board charter
The Board has adopted a charter that sets out the practices 
and processes it follows in discharging its responsibilities. The 
charter specifically sets out a description of roles, functions, 
responsibilities and powers of the Board, the shareholders, 
the chairman, individual directors, company secretary, and 
other prescribed officers and executives of the company.

The terms of reference of the Board and its committees deal 
with matters such as corporate governance, directors’ dealings 
in securities, declarations of conflicts of interest, Board meeting 
documentation and procedures for the nomination, appointment, 
induction, training and evaluation of the directors.

There is an appropriate balance of power and authority on the 
Board so that no individual has unfettered powers of decision-
making and no individual dominates the Board’s deliberations 
and decisions. The Board regularly reviews the decision-making 
authority given to management as well as those matters 
reserved for decision-making by the Board.

The Board’s responsibilities include:

 › The Board of directors determines Gemgrow’s purpose, values 
and stakeholders relevant to its business and develops strategies 
combining all three elements. The Board ensures that procedures 
are in place to monitor and evaluate the implementation of its 
strategies, policies, senior management’s performance criteria 
and the company’s business plans.

 › The Board reviews and approves the financial objectives, 
plans and actions, including significant capital allocations 
and expenditure.

 › The Board exercises leadership, integrity and judgement, based 
on fairness, accountability, responsibility and transparency.

 › The Board provides strategic direction to Gemgrow and 
ensures that succession planning is in place.

 › The Board ensures that Gemgrow complies with all relevant 
laws, regulations and codes of best business practice and 
communicates with its shareholders and relevant stakeholders 
(internal and external) openly and promptly and with substance 
prevailing over form.

 › The Board regularly reviews processes and procedures to 
ensure the effectiveness of Gemgrow’s internal systems of 
control, so that its decision-making capability and the accuracy 
of its reporting are maintained at a high level at all times.

 › The Board defines the levels of materiality, reserving specific 
powers to itself and delegating other matters with the 
necessary written authority to management.

 › The Board has unrestricted access to all Gemgrow’s 
information, records, documents and property.

 › The Board has an agreed procedure whereby, if necessary, 
directors may take independent professional advice at 
Gemgrow’s expense.

Independence of Board members
The independent non-executive directors exercise significant 
influence at meetings. Competency in conducting the affairs of 
Gemgrow carries as much weight as independence.

The independence of the directors was assessed and was 
confirmed in terms of Recommendation 28 of Principle 7 
of King IV.

The responsibilities of the independent non-executive Chairman and 
CEO, and likewise the responsibilities of executive and non-executive 
directors, are kept strictly separate, to ensure that no director 
can exercise unrestricted powers of decision-making.

Rotation and tenure
The Board continuously assesses the need for new appointments 
to the Board, with directors appointed through a formal process.

At each annual general meeting (“AGM”) one third of the 
directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or a 
multiple of three, the number nearest to one third but not less 
than one third, retire from office and, if eligible, offer themselves 
for re-election.

The appointment of directors to fill any casual vacancy 
that arises during the year is confirmed at the next AGM. 
The directors retiring by rotation and who are nominated for 
re-election can be found in the notice of AGM commencing 
on page 114 of this integrated annual report.

Induction and development training
Upon appointment, all new directors undergo an approved 
induction programme. This is done with the express intent 
of ensuring that directors fully appreciate and understand 
the complexities of Gemgrow’s businesses.

Training of Board members is arranged at the company’s 
expense as and when required. There is no formal Board 
mentorship programme in place, as it is not deemed necessary 
at this stage and mentorship is provided to directors when 
guidance is required.

Information requirements
In order to make informed decisions, it is vital that directors are 
provided with adequate information to inform their understanding 
in respect of the matter at hand. The Board keeps under review 
the information needed by directors to enable them to perform 
their duties and fulfil their obligations responsibly.

All directors have access to the company’s records, information, 
documents and property as required. Non-executive directors 
also have unfettered access to management at any time.
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Regulatory and legislative compliance
The Board has delegated to executive management the 
implementation of an effective compliance framework and 
processes. The Board and each individual director have a good 
working knowledge of the effect of the applicable laws, rules, 
codes and standards on the company and its operations.

The company’s internal legal resource, external legal advisors, 
sponsor and company secretary advise the Board in respect 
of any amendments to legislation and regulations applicable 
to the company. The social and ethics committee monitors 
the company’s compliance with all applicable legislation and 
regulations. Compliance risk is monitored on an ongoing basis 
both by the company’s internal legal resource, its external 
legal advisors and the company secretary.

Gemgrow’s compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements 
is a standing agenda item for all Board and committee meetings. 
There were no significant instances of non-compliance with 
regulatory requirements to report on during the reporting period.

Board and committee effectiveness
The chairman reviews the Board’s performance informally on an 
ongoing basis which includes monitoring the contributions made 
by each of the directors. Given the skill and experience of the 
current Board, the Board believes that informal assessments 
are adequate at this time.

The Board periodically conducts an evaluation of its mix of 
skills, the effectiveness of the subcommittees and related 
corporate governance matters.

Succession planning
The remuneration and nomination committee is responsible 
for ensuring adequate succession planning for directors and 
management, and that all committees are appropriately 
constituted and chaired. The Board is satisfied that the depth of 
skills among current directors meets succession requirements. 
Succession planning at management level is actively monitored 
by management and communicated to the Board.

Delegation of authority — Board committees

Function of the Board committees
The committees assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities 
and duties, while overall responsibility remains with the Board. 
Full transparency and disclosure of committee deliberations 
is encouraged and the minutes of all committee meetings are 
available to all directors.

The approvals framework, which is reviewed from time to 
time, ensures that there is a clear balance of power between 
the various Board members. The Board of Gemgrow delegates 
certain of its functions to the committees and others to the 
executive directors of the Board.

 › The Board considers whether or not its size, diversity and 
skills mix makes it effective.

 › The Board identifies key risk areas and key performance 
indicators, which are regularly monitored with particular 
attention given to technology and systems.

 › The Board identifies and monitors the non-financial aspects 
relevant to the business of Gemgrow.

 › The Board records the facts and assumptions on which it 
relies to conclude that the business will continue as a going 
concern in the financial year ahead.

 › The Board finds the correct balance between performing in 
an entrepreneurial way while ensuring compliance with best 
practice in terms of corporate governance.

 › The Board has established sub-committees to facilitate efficient 
decision making. It has established an investment committee, 
an audit and risk committee, a remuneration and nomination 
committee and a social and ethics committee. The Board has 
clearly defined the parameters of the sub-committees.

 › The Board assesses its own effectiveness in fulfilling these 
and other Board responsibilities.

Board processes

Company Secretary
The company secretary provides company secretarial services, 
oversees corporate governance processes at holding company 
level, and attends all Board and committee meetings.

The Board and the individual directors have unrestricted access 
to the company secretary who guides them on how they should 
discharge their duties and responsibilities in the best interests of 
the company.

During the year under review, the company secretary continued 
to assist the Board and its committees, as required, in preparing 
annual plans, agendas, minutes, and terms of reference.

 › Ms Gillian Prestwich of CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary 
Limited (“CIS”), who holds a:
 » BA degree (University of the Witwatersrand);
 » Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 

Administrators (FCIS); and
 » a Diploma in International Trust Management (TEP),

  replaced Neville Toerien of CIS during the current financial year. 
She has extensive experience in the company secretarial and 
corporate governance arenas both locally and internationally. 
In line with the JSE Listings Requirements the Board undertook 
an annual performance appraisal of the company secretary. 
The Board was satisfied with the quality of assistance received 
as well as the knowledge, competence and experience of 
the incumbent.

The company secretary is neither a director nor employee of the 
company or any of its subsidiaries and accordingly, maintains an 
arm’s length relationship with the company and the directors.
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For information pertaining to the audit and risk committee, 
refer to the audit and risk committee report commencing 
on page 63 of this integrated annual report.

Remuneration and nomination committee
The remuneration and nomination committee comprises 
three independent non-executive directors, whose primary 
responsibilities include approving the remuneration policy of the 
company, monitoring its implementation, ensuring that directors 
and senior executives are remunerated fairly and responsibly as 
well as identifying, assessing and nominating new non-executive 
directors for appointment to the Board.

Any new appointees are required to possess the necessary 
skills to contribute meaningfully to Board deliberations 
and to enhance Board composition in accordance with 
recommendation, legislation, regulations and best practice.

The committee considers the mix of basic remuneration, annual 
bonuses and performance related incentive elements. Incentives 
are based on targets that are stretching, verifiable and relevant. 
The remuneration and nomination committee is mandated by 
the Board to approve the remuneration and incentivisation of 
all employees, including executive directors. In addition, the 
remuneration and nomination committee recommends directors’ 
fees payable to non-executive directors and members of Board 
sub-committees, for ultimate approval by shareholders.

As at year-end, the members of this committee included:

 › A Rehman (Chairman — Remuneration committee)
 › G Kinross (Chairman — Nomination committee)
 › C Abrams

The CEO, COO and CFO attend meetings by invitation.

For information pertaining to the company’s remuneration 
policy, the remuneration and nomination committee and its 
responsibilities refer to the remuneration report commencing 
on page 67 of this integrated annual report.

Social and ethics committee
The social and ethics committee acts on behalf of the Board 
and is responsible for ensuring that the company conducts 
its operations in a socially and ethically responsible manner 
as provided for in the Companies Act. The social and ethics 
committee has all the functions and responsibilities provided 
for in the Companies Act.

The social and ethics committee is chaired by the CFO and otherwise 
comprises an independent non-executive and the COO.

For information pertaining to the social and ethics committee, 
refer to the social and ethics committee report commencing 
on page 66 of this integrated annual report.

Formal terms of reference set out the purpose, membership, 
duties and reporting procedures of the various Board committees, 
which are reviewed annually and updated where necessary. Each 
committee acts within the scope of these terms of reference, 
which have been adopted and approved by the Board. The Board 
evaluates the performance and effectiveness of each committee 
on an annual basis.

While retaining overall accountability and responsibility, the 
Board has delegated the authority to run the day-to-day affairs 
of Gemgrow to the CEO. The executive directors aid the CEO 
in this task.

The EXCO meets monthly to assist the CEO in the management 
of group operations and finances and reports directly to the 
CEO, who in turn reports to the Board.

Audit and risk committee
The Companies Act has transformed the audit committee from 
being a committee of the Board to a separate statutory committee 
that is appointed by shareholders. The audit committee still 
forms part of the Board even though it has specific statutory 
responsibilities over and above the responsibilities assigned to it 
by the Board. The committee members have the requisite financial 
and commercial skills to make an effective contribution to the 
committee’s deliberations.

The Board oversees the management of risk and has delegated the 
process to the audit and risk committee. It reports to shareholders 
on the extent to which it carried out its statutory oversight duties 
in respect of the external auditors, the appropriateness of the 
financial statements and the accounting practices, as well as the 
internal financial controls. The risk management policy adopted by 
the Board is aligned with industry practice and Gemgrow may not 
enter into any derivative transactions that are not in the normal 
course of its business in compliance with REIT provisions of the 
JSE Listings Requirements.

The committee comprises three independent non-executive 
directors with Clifford Abrams as the Chairman.

The CEO, COO and CFO, as well as representatives of the external 
auditors, attend meetings by invitation.

Well in advance of meetings, the audit and risk committee receives 
reports on the financial performance, internal controls, adherence 
to accounting policies, compliance and areas of significant risk as 
well as written reports from the auditors.

It is the responsibility of the audit and risk committee to monitor 
the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and risk 
management processes generally. The company has an effective 
ongoing process for identifying risk, measuring its potential impact 
and initiating and implementing measures to reduce exposure 
to an acceptable level.

External specialist consultants are utilised, where required, 
to assist the audit and risk committee with risk management 
measures. The audit and risk committee also has unrestricted 
access to independent expert advice, after following the agreed 
procedure, should the need arise.
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Board meetings
The Board met three times during the year. The Board meets with 
management annually to agree on Gemgrow’s strategy. Additional 
meetings are convened when required. All necessary information, 
including a detailed Board pack, is provided to directors in advance 
to enable them to discharge their responsibilities.

The Board agenda and meeting structure focuses on strategy, 
performance monitoring, governance and related matters. 
Management ensures that Board members are provided with 
all relevant information and facts to enable them to make 
objective and informed decisions. The company’s memorandum 
of incorporation provides for decisions to be taken between 
Board meetings by way of written resolution, where necessary.

Non-executive directors meet without the presence of 
management as and when deemed necessary.

The charters of the Board committees are reviewed annually 
as standard practice, committee chairpersons provide the 
Board with reports on committee activities and the minutes 
of committee meetings are made available to the Board.

There is full transparency and disclosure between these 
committees and the Board.

In addition, the chairs of the committees, or a nominated 
committee members attend the company’s annual general 
meeting to answer any questions from stakeholders pertaining 
to the relevant matters handled by their respective committees.

All committees have met their key responsibilities during the 
year under review.

Investment committee
The role of the Board-appointed investment committee is 
to consider and approve, on behalf of the company and its 
subsidiaries, investment opportunities in line with the investment 
strategy of Gemgrow, and to approve capital expenditure relating 
to improvements to the property portfolio as well as to approve 
the sale of properties which have been identified for disposal, as 
defined in its Board-approved terms of reference. The investment 
committee gives due regard to the principles of sound governance 
and codes of best practice in the execution of its duties.

The investment committee comprises five members appointed by 
the Board of directors namely three executive and two independent 
non-executive directors. The Board chairman is also the chairman 
of this committee.

As at year-end, the members of this committee included:

 › G Kinross (Chairman)
 › A Basserabie
 › A Kirkel
 › J Limalia
 › M Kaplan

Imraan Suleman and Vicki Turner (both of Arrowhead Properties) 
attend committee meetings by invitation.

Subsidiaries
Gemgrow’s subsidiary companies subscribe to the holding company’s 
governance framework. Subsidiary oversight is handled through 
the process of delegated authority, which is in place between 
the holding and operating companies to ensure adherence to 
Gemgrow’s overall commitment to the principles of ethical 
leadership and good corporate governance.

Attendance at Board and committee meetings

Member Board
Audit and 
risk committee

Remuneration 
and nomination 
committee 

Investment 
committee

Social and 
ethics committee

Chairman G Kinross C Abrams A Rehman G Kinross J Limalia

Number of meetings 3 3 1 3 1

G Kinross 3/3 3/3 * 1/1 3/3 n/a

C Abrams 3/3 3/3 1/1 n/a 1/1

A Rehman 3/3 3/3 1/1 n/a n/a

A Basserabie 3/3 3/3 n/a 3/3 n/a

M Kaplan 3/3 3/3 * 1/1 * 2/3 1/1 *

A Kirkel 3/3 3/3 * 1/1 * 3/3 1/1

J Limalia 3/3 3/3 * 1/1 * 3/3 1/1

n/a Not applicable.
*  By invitation.
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Directors cannot trade in their shares during closed periods. 
Directors are further prohibited from dealing in the company’s 
shares at any time when they are in possession of unpublished 
and price-sensitive information, or where clearance to trade 
has yet to be confirmed.

The required notification and disclosure by directors to the 
company of their interests is a standard agenda item at each 
Board meeting. Information regarding directors’ interests is 
set out in the annual financial statements.

Stakeholder communications
Gemgrow strives to take account of the competing needs of the 
various stakeholders, while still acting in the best interests of the 
company. Information is disseminated to the market in a timely 
manner, with all stakeholders treated equally in this regard. 
Information is posted on the company’s website as well as in 
this integrated annual report.

The company engages in regular, open and transparent dialogue 
with stakeholders (including institutional investors). Half- and 
full-year financial results, corporate actions, trading updates 
and announcements are published in accordance with the 
JSE Listings Requirements informing stakeholders via SENS 
and results announcements, the integrated annual report and 
presentations to shareholders and analysts are also published 
on Gemgrow’s website. The importance of good relationships 
with tenants, employees and service providers is recognised.

The CEO and CFO, together with the COO, present Gemgrow’s 
performance and strategy to analysts, institutional investors 
and the media in South Africa at least twice a year. Gemgrow 
also keeps in regular contact with the media by circulating 
relevant information.

For further information on stakeholder communications, 
refer to stakeholder engagement commencing on page 12 
of this integrated annual report.

Annual general meeting
The annual general meeting will be held on 29 January 2018 
at 11h00. Information relating to the annual general meeting is 
contained in the notice of annual general meeting commencing 
on page 114 of this integrated annual report. The chairpersons 
of all the Board committees as well as the external auditors will 
be in attendance and available at the annual general meeting to 
answer any questions.

Internal audit
Having regard to the size and life-stage of the company, the 
Board has determined that a dedicated internal audit function is 
not warranted at this stage. Use is made of external specialists, 
including resources of the external property managers in respect 
of the internal audit function. The situation in this regard will be 
reassessed by the audit and risk committee on a regular basis.

Information technology (“IT”) management
Having regard to the size and life-stage of the company the 
Board believes that the IT governance policy is appropriate and 
is aligned with the performance and sustainability objectives of 
the company.

The Board assigns IT and its information assets the necessary 
importance and, in furtherance hereof, it ensures that its 
information assets are managed effectively. Use is made of 
external specialists, including the resources of the external 
property managers, in respect of the IT functions. The Board has 
delegated the implementation of its IT governance framework 
to its external property manager.

The Board monitors and evaluates investment and expenditure 
in respect of IT on an annual basis. IT forms an integral part 
of the company’s risk management processes, as does the 
external property manager, which has disaster recovery 
processes and business continuity planning procedures 
in place (and is ISO compliant).

Ethical performance

Share dealings and disclosure of interests
The Board of directors, individually and collectively, understands 
the fiduciary duty to act in the best interests of the company. 
Conflicts of interest are disclosed in terms of section 75 of 
the Companies Act, with disclosures of interest and director’s 
dealings reported on in accordance with a policy adopted by 
the Board in this regard.

All directors require clearance before trading in the company’s 
securities. Prior approval to trade must be obtained from the 
CEO or, in his absence, from the Chairman. The CEO must obtain 
clearance from the Chairman or a designated director, prior to 
trading in the company’s securities. Directors are required to 
inform their portfolio/investment managers not to trade in the 
securities of the company, unless they have specific written 
instructions from that director to do so.
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These principles sit alongside the company’s principles of agility, 
integrity, trust, simplicity and accountability and together are 
at the heart of all its dealings and drive the way the company 
operates as a collective to benefit all employees, tenants, 
suppliers, shareholders and other stakeholders.

Adherence to corporate governance is entrenched in the company’s 
day-to-day operations.

As the company has as at the date hereof, no employees, application 
of the company’s ethics were monitored monthly with reference 
to the outsourcing arrangements in place. Meetings were held 
and telephonic conferences held. No adverse outcomes were 
found pursuant to the monitoring as aforesaid.

The key areas of focus during the reporting period were as follows:

 › Implementing an ethical culture at Board level, commencing 
with each appointed director contractually agreeing to conduct 
themselves in an ethical manner, and disclosing conflicts of 
interest (where applicable) in respect of agenda items discussed.

 › The company, in its dealings with its investors, stakeholders, 
suppliers and clients, conducting itself with the highest 
standard of ethics.

 › Complying with all legal and regulatory requirements.
 › The company implemented a risk framework, which included 

the risk and impact of unethical behaviour e.g. fraud. Internal 
controls were evaluated to ensure that the risk of fraud 
is minimised.

The planned area of future focus is to develop an ethics policy 
which encompasses in greater detail the relationship with 
external stakeholders taking into account the legitimate and 
reasonable needs, interests and expectations of stakeholders.

Principle 3
The Board should ensure that the organisation is and is seen 
to be a responsible corporate citizen.

Explanation
The Board has undertaken a full review of the company’s position 
with regards to being a responsible corporate citizen. This includes 
a review of the company’s remuneration policy, work environment, 
gender diversity, health and safety requirements, reporting on 
B-BBEE, employment equity and the application of King IV.

The Board has appointed an independent consultant in the year 
under review. The Board is able to confirm that the only pending 
requirement is the current Employment Equity submission which 
will be reported on by 15 January 2018. This will actively be 
managed and reported as a Board reporting issue moving forward.

In the coming financial year the Board intends developing 
the focus on “responsible corporate citizenship” with reference, 
amongst others to the constitution of South Africa and King IV.

Principles of King IV 
and disclosure requirements
This report is to be read in conjunction with the remaining 
provisions of this integrated annual report in particular 
the corporate governance section, the audit and risk 
committee report, the social and ethics committee report, 
the remuneration policy and the implementation report 
commencing on page 67.

Principle 1
The Board should lead ethically and effectively.

Explanation
The Board has taken cognisance of the approach contained in 
both the Companies Act and King IV that the company has a 
role to play in society and has an obligation to conduct itself 
as a responsible corporate citizen.

The Board leads by example and has adopted a code of ethics 
and conduct so as to commit the business practices which 
the company will follow to writing as well as the standards 
of behaviour required by others within the company. Agility, 
integrity, trust, simplicity and accountability are all relevant 
words and concepts within the company.

Despite the company not having any employees at present, 
with property management outsourced to external property 
managers, the Board ensures that an ethical culture is imbued 
in its strategy, plans and performance of the company.

Principle 2
The Board should govern the ethics of the organisation in a way 
that supports the establishment of an ethical culture.

Explanation
The Board assumes responsibility for the governance of ethics. 
The Board has adopted a code of ethics which clearly sets out 
the business practices which the company will follow as well as 
the standards of behaviour for all persons within the company. 
The Board ensures that the code of ethics is well communicated 
and understood.

Specifically the company will:

 › Promote ethical business practices;
 › Operate responsibly in accordance with all relevant laws 

and regulations;
 › Ensure equal opportunities;
 › Provide a safe and healthy working environment;
 › Value diversity in the workplace;
 › Conduct its dealings with third parties in an ethical manner;
 › Provide a safe route for people to highlight non-compliance;
 › Conduct relationships with employees, tenants and stakeholders 

in a manner which ensures respect for all parties.
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The Board is provided with copies of circulars and integrated annual 
reports and given an opportunity to comment thereon prior to 
dispatch. All SENS announcements, circulars and integrated annual 
reports and notices of annual general meeting are placed on the 
company’s website www.gemgrow.co.za.

Principle 6
The Board should serve as the focal point and custodian of 
corporate governance in the organisation.

Explanation
The Board has adopted a Board charter and code of ethics and 
has established an audit and risk committee, a remuneration 
and nomination committee, an investment committee and a 
social and ethics committee each of which have adopted terms 
of reference, copies of which can be viewed on the company’s 
website www.gemgrow.co.za.

The Board is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities in 
accordance with its Board charter for the reporting period.

Principle 7
The Board should comprise the appropriate balance of knowledge, 
skills, experience, diversity and independence for it to discharge its 
governance role and responsibilities objectively and effectively.

Explanation
In view of the fact that certain of the functions of the remuneration 
committee and the nomination committee overlap the Board 
resolved to establish a combined remuneration and nomination 
committee comprising of three independent non-executive 
directors. The terms of reference of the committee detail 
inter alia the procedures for appointments to the Board. As a 
cornerstone of good corporate governance there is a formal, 
rigorous and transparent procedure for the appointment of 
new directors to the Board by:

 › evaluating the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of 
the Board members and in the light of the evaluation preparing 
a description of the role and capabilities required for any 
particular appointment. In identifying suitable candidates the 
committee has due regard for the benefits of diversity on the 
Board and has to be satisfied that appointees have adequate 
time available to devote to the position; and

 › the proposed appointee is required to disclose all other 
business interests that could result in a conflict of interest 
prior to their being recommended to the Board.

The remuneration and nomination committee is tasked with:

 › reviewing the results of the Board evaluation process that 
relates to the composition of the Board;

 › giving consideration to succession planning for the CEO and 
executive directors taking into account the challenges and 
opportunities facing the company and the skills and expertise 
needed in the future;

A copy of the company’s broad-based black economic 
empowerment verification certificate will be placed on 
the company’s website www.gemgrow.co.za in due course.

Principle 4
The Board should appreciate that the organisation’s core 
purpose, its risks and opportunities, strategy, business model, 
performance and sustainable development are all inseparable 
elements of the value creation process.

Explanation
The Board assumes responsibility for Gemgrow’s strategy 
(strategy is defined as the setting of the organisation’s short-, 
medium- and long-term direction towards realising its core 
purpose and values).

Gemgrow repositioned itself late in 2016 as a high-yielding, 
high growth income focused fund which is internally managed. 
The Board intends meeting annually in order to reassess the 
strategy of the company, taking into account then prevailing 
market conditions. That being said, the Board meets quarterly 
and will touch on strategy and the need to re-evaluate at each 
Board meeting.

Gemgrow has an investment committee (refer to pages 16, 17 and 
57 for further details) which assists the Board of directors with 
regards to investment decisions relating to the acquisition and 
disposal of property by the company in line with its stated strategy. 
The terms of reference in respect of the investment committee has 
been approved by the Board. The company’s strategy is reflected 
in the investment committee’s terms of reference namely:

 › to make only yield enhancing acquisitions that grow sustainable 
earnings thereby providing a platform for growth;

 › acquisitions must be yield enhancing from the date of acquisition;
 › properties which are considered to be surplus to the company’s 

requirements as a result of non-performance, size or location 
are to be disposed of; and

 › no property should represent more than 10% of the value 
of the company’s portfolio.

Principle 5
The Board should ensure that reports issued by the organisation 
enable stakeholders to make informed assessments of the 
organisation’s performance, and its short-, medium- and 
long-term prospects.

Explanation
The Board ensures that reports issued by the company enable 
stakeholders to make informed assessments of the company’s 
performance, and its short, medium and long term prospects, 
subject to statutory and regulatory requirements. The company 
has retained Sigil Design Bureau to assist with ensuring that its 
stakeholder communications whether by means of SENS, press, 
circulars, integrated annual report or direct engagements are 
clear, informative and articulate.
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Principle 10
The Board should ensure that the appointment of and delegation to 
management contribute to role clarity and the effective exercise 
of authority and responsibilities.

Explanation
The CEO is in regular contact with the chairman of the Board.

At present the company only has three executive directors 
and no employees. The chief executive officer, Mark Kaplan 
is accountable and reports to the Board.

The Board is satisfied that the delegation of authority framework 
contributes to role clarity and the effective exercise of authority 
and responsibilities.

Principle 11
The Board should govern risk in a way that supports the 
organisation in setting and achieving strategic objectives.

Explanation
Acquisitions and disposals within the parameters set out in 
Principle 4 above are approved by the investment committee 
established by the Board. Acquisitions and disposals outside of 
these parameters are approved by the Board. The strategy of 
the Board from time to time determines the organisation’s risk 
appetite. The risk matrix on pages 14 and 15 is updated quarterly 
and any new risks are identified and a process or policy put in 
place as required.

The focus for the coming financial year will be on assessing the:

 › risks and opportunities emanating from the social, economic 
and environmental context within which the company 
operates in South Africa;

 › potential opportunities presented by risks; and
 › risks to achieving organisational objectives.

Principle 12
The Board should govern technology and information in a 
way that supports the organisation setting and achieving its 
strategic objectives.

Explanation
An outsourced model for all technology requirements is utilised. 
There is a flat infrastructure with an on-site file server, with 
back-ups managed manually by the outsourced supplier. There 
is a non-disclosure agreement in place with the supplier. There are 
strict log in process for email management which is hosted off-
site by an external third party supplier. All accounting reporting for 
tenants is included as part of the outsourced property manager’s 
service level agreement which utilises cloud managed services.

 › evaluating the effectiveness of the Board as a whole;
 › considering and evaluating the performance and contribution 

of the non-executive directors;
 › formulating plans for succession for both executive and 

non-executive directors and in particular for the key roles 
of the chairman and the CEO; and

 › proposing suitable candidates for the role of lead 
independent director.

The remuneration and nomination committee assists with the 
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for the 
establishment of a remuneration policy and for determining 
the remuneration packages payable to executive directors 
and non-executive directors with agreed terms of reference.

The Board is committed to the principle of diversity (including 
gender diversity). All new appointments to the Board will 
be considered in the context of achieving voluntary gender 
diversity targets while keeping the operational requirements 
of the company in mind.

In the coming financial year the social and ethics committee will 
be reconstituted in line with King IV. It is furthermore intended 
to adopt a race diversity policy.

Principle 8
The Board should ensure that its arrangements for delegation 
within its own structures promote independent judgement, 
and assist with balance of power and the effective discharge 
of its duties.

Explanation
The Board has established an audit and risk committee, 
a remuneration and nomination committee, an investment 
committee and a social and ethics committee which have 
certain roles and responsibilities contained in terms of reference 
adopted by the various committees. The Board has in addition 
passed an overarching resolution in terms of which certain 
responsibilities are delegated to executive directors.

Principle 9
The Board should ensure that the evaluation of its own 
performance and that of its individual members support 
continued improvement in its performance and effectiveness.

Explanation
An internal informal Board evaluation was undertaken.

All performance evaluations were satisfactory.

The Board is satisfied that the evaluation process is improving 
its performance and effectiveness.
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Principle 15
The Board should ensure that assurance services and functions 
enable an effective control environment, and that these support 
the integrity of information for internal decision making and of 
the organisation’s external reports.

Explanation
ERES, the company’s outsourced property manager, have an 
internal audit department which provides assurance on the 
internal controls of ERES.

Principle 16
In the execution of its governance role and responsibilities, 
the Board should adopt a stakeholder inclusive approach that 
balances the needs, interests and expectations of material 
stakeholders in the best interests of the organisation over time.

Explanation
The Chair of the Board attends all shareholder meetings.

The executive directors have an open door policy and regularly 
engage with tenants and meet monthly with the property 
managers. Sigil Design Bureau facilitates larger stakeholder 
engagements. The Board is guided among others, by the 
JSE Listings Requirements when engaging with stakeholders. 
The company’s website www.gemgrow.co.za is widely used 
to disseminate information.

The future focus will be on:

 › developing a plan for communication in crisis situations;
 › procuring the attendance of the designated partner of the 

external audit firm at general and annual general meetings 
of the company; and

 › the implementation of policies and procedures of the 
holding company by subsidiaries.

There were no significant changes in policy during the year 
under review and no incidents were reported.

The executive directors completed an internal analysis of information 
technology within the company. In the coming financial year 
changes to certain back up process are to be implemented.

Future focus will be on off-site, cloud hosted back up management 
and enhanced security and archiving of email.

Principle 13
The Board should govern compliance with applicable 
laws and adopted, non-binding rules, codes and standards 
in a way that supports the organisation’s being ethical 
and a good corporate citizen.

Explanation
The company has a dedicated legal resource that monitors 
compliance and remains appraised of any new legislation, 
non-binding rules and codes which may be of application 
to the company. Pre-emptive action is taken where possible 
so as to be prepared in advance of the implementation date 
of new legislation, regulation or codes.

In the year under review inter alia the Property Sector Charter, 
Companies Act, amendments to the JSE Listings Requirements, 
King IV, amendments to the Income Tax Act and the Protection of 
Personal Information Act (“POPI”) were considered. Where required, 
external attorneys and counsel were consulted. The company 
secretary was also called upon to provide a presentation with 
regards to the differences between King III and King IV.

In the next financial year the key areas of focus will be among 
others POPI and King IV.

Principle 14
The Board should ensure that the organisation remunerates fairly, 
responsibly and transparently so as to promote the achievement 
of strategic objectives and positive outcomes in the short, medium 
and long term.

Explanation
Refer to the remuneration report commencing on page 67 
setting out the remuneration policy and implementation report.
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This report is provided by the audit and 
risk committee (“the committee”) appointed 
in respect of the 2017 financial year, which 
incorporates the requirements of section 94(7)(f) 
of the Companies Act, the King IV principles 
and other regulatory requirements.

The audit and risk committee
The company established the committee to assist the Board 
in discharging its duties relating to risk management processes, 
including but not limited to ensuring that the company has 
established appropriate financial reporting procedures, and 
that these procedures are operating, the safeguarding of assets, 
the operation of adequate systems and control processes and 
the preparation of accurate financial reporting and statements 
in compliance with all applicable legal requirements and 
accounting standards.

The committee does not perform any management functions nor 
does it assume any management responsibilities. Notwithstanding 
the aforegoing, members of the committee may be appointed as 
members of the investment committee. The committee provides 
a forum for discussing business risk and control issues and for 
developing relevant recommendations for consideration and 
approval by the Board.

Membership, resources, responsibilities and authority of the 
committee to perform its role effectively are stipulated in its 
terms of reference, which are amended by the Board as and 
when deemed necessary. The committee has been constituted 
in terms of the requirements of sound corporate governance 
practice and shall operate within that framework.

Terms of reference
The Companies Act and King IV have guided the detailed 
terms of reference that have been approved by the Board. The 
committee confirms that it has executed its duties during the 
past financial year in accordance with these terms of reference.

The chairman of the audit and risk committee is available at the 
annual general meeting of shareholders to answer any questions 
by shareholders. The audit and risk committee Chair reports 
back at each Board meeting on the activities, decisions and 
recommendations of the committee.

Composition
The Board nominated the committee in respect of the 2017 
financial year and shareholders appointed its members at the 
annual general meeting held on 23 March 2017 as follows:

 › C Abrams (Chairman);
 › A Rehman; and
 › A Basserabie.

Shareholders will be requested to approve the appointment 
of the committee members for the 2018 financial year at the 
annual general meeting that is scheduled for 29 January 2018.

The CEO, COO and CFO, as well as representatives of the 
external auditors, attend meetings by invitation. The company 
secretary acts as secretary to the committee.

The Board has satisfied itself that the members are suitably 
skilled, independent and qualified to fulfil their duties. Abridged 
biographies of the members are published on pages 16 and 17.

Meetings
The committee held three meetings during the year. Attendance 
at these meetings is shown in the table set out on page 57 of the 
corporate governance section of the integrated annual report.

Responsibilities of the committee
In execution of its duties pertaining to the external auditors, 
the committee:

 › evaluated the effectiveness and independence of the external 
auditor and considered whether non-audit services rendered by 
such auditor are likely to substantively impair its independence;

 › evaluated the performance of the external auditor;
 › formulated principles related to utilisation of the external 

auditor for non-audit services;
 › considered and made recommendations on the appointment 

and retention of the external auditor and any questions of 
resignation or dismissal of the auditor;

 › discussed and reviewed with the external auditor before 
the audit commenced, the auditor engagement letter, the 
terms, nature and scope of the audit function, procedures 
and engagement and the audit fee;

 › negotiated procedures, subject to agreement, beyond 
minimum statutory and professional duties;

 › agreed to the timing and nature of reports from the 
external auditor;

 › considered any accounting treatments, significant unusual 
transactions or accounting judgements that were contentious;

 › identified key matters arising in the current year’s management 
letter and satisfied itself that these were being properly 
followed up and addressed;

 › considered whether any significant ventures, investments 
or operations were not subject to external audit;

 › reviewed the overall audit role to explore objectives, minimise 
duplication, discuss implications of new auditing standards 
and ensure that the external audit fee will sustain a proper 
audit and provide value for money;

 › obtained assurance from the external auditor that adequate 
accounting records are being maintained; and

 › assessed the suitability of the current audit firm and designated 
individual partner for continued appointment as auditor and 
designated partner.
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The committee has satisfied itself that Grant Thornton, the 
external auditor, and Edward Dreyer, the designated auditor, 
are independent of the company and of the group. The audit 
committee has reviewed sections 3, 8, 13, 15 and 22 and schedule 8 
of the JSE Listings Requirements and have confirmed that based 
on the amended requirements for the JSE-accreditation of auditors, 
effective 15 October 2017, it is satisfied that:

i)   the audit firm has met all the criteria stipulated in the 
requirements, including that the audit regulator has 
completed a firm-wide independent quality control 
inspection on the audit firm during its previous 
inspection cycle;

ii)   the auditors have provided to the audit committee, the 
required IRBA inspection decision letters, findings report and 
the proposed remedial action to address the findings; and

iii)   both the audit firm and the individual auditor understand 
their roles and have the competence, expertise, experience 
and skills required to discharge their audit and financial 
reporting responsibilities.

The committee examined and reviewed the annual financial 
statements, prior to submission and approval by the Board, 
focusing particularly on:

 › the implementation of new accounting systems;
 › taxation and litigation matters involving uncertainty;
 › any changes in accounting policies and practices;
 › major judgemental areas;
 › significant adjustments resulting from the audit;
 › the basis on which Gemgrow has been determined 

as a going concern;
 › capital adequacy;
 › internal control;
 › compliance with accounting standards, the JSE, regulatory 

and legal requirements;
 › the efficiency of major adjustments processed at year end;
 › compliance with the financial conditions of loan covenants; and
 › reviewing special documents, such as prospectuses 

and circulars.

The committee has satisfied itself that appropriate financial 
reporting procedures are in place and operating.

The committee ensured that management attends to the tax 
affairs of Gemgrow in an effective and timely manner.

Internal controls
The committee receives reports on the internal controls 
of the company well in advance of meetings of the audit 
and risk committee.

The committee reviewed Gemgrow’s internal controls and 
systems prior to endorsement by the Board, which included:

 › the procedures for identifying business risks and controlling 
their impact on Gemgrow;

 › Gemgrow’s policies for preventing or detecting fraud;
 › Gemgrow’s policies for ensuring that it complies with 

applicable regulatory and legal requirements;
 › the operational effectiveness of the policies and procedures;
 › considering whether or not the objectives, organisation, 

staffing plans, financial budgets and audit plans provide 
adequate support to enable the committee to meet 
its objectives;

 › reviewing such significant transactions not directly related 
to Gemgrow’s normal business;

 › reviewing significant cases of employee conflicts of interest, 
misconduct or fraud or any other unethical activity by 
employees of Gemgrow; and

 › considering other relevant matters referred to it by the Board.

The audit and risk committee obtains combined assurance from 
the external auditors, Grant Thornton and management and 
ensures that the combined assurance received is appropriate 
to address all significant risks facing Gemgrow.

Based on the processes and assurances obtained, the committee 
believes that the significant internal financial controls are effective.

Regulatory compliance
Compliance with laws and regulations is a standing agenda item 
and is addressed accordingly by the committee at each meeting. 
The corporate governance report contains a more detailed 
discussion on regulatory compliance commencing on page 53 
of this integrated annual report.

Oversight of risk management
The Board takes overall responsibility for risk management with 
a formal process implemented for managing risk while delegating 
authority to the audit and risk committee.

As Gemgrow has a combined audit and risk committee, the risk 
management process is an integral component of the committee’s 
duties. All risk identification, measurement and management is 
addressed through these channels.

A risk management framework, risk policy and risk register were 
presented to and considered by the committee during the year.

Refer to pages 14 and 15 of this integrated annual report for 
additional information relating to risk management.

Independence of the external auditors
The external auditor presents the external audit plan to the 
audit and risk committee on an annual basis whereafter the 
committee nominates for appointment the external auditor to 
the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the company 
in terms of the Companies Act.
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CFO
The annual evaluation of the finance function of the financial 
director was performed, as required in terms of the JSE Listings 
Requirements, and the committee and the Board are satisfied 
as to the appropriateness of the expertise and experience of 
the financial director.

The committee is also satisfied that the resources within the 
finance function are able to provide the required support to 
the CFO. Based on the processes and assurances obtained, 
the committee has satisfied itself and is of the opinion that 
the accounting practices are effective.

Integrated annual report
The committee is tasked with reviewing the integrated annual 
report and reporting back to the Board. In this regard, the 
committee considers all factors and risks that may impact 
on the integrity of the integrated annual report and reviews 
it prior to the Board approving it.

Following the review by the committee of the annual financial 
statements of Gemgrow for the year ended 30 September 2017, 
the committee is of the view that in all material respects they 
comply with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act 
and IFRS, and fairly present the consolidated and separate 
financial position (which are available on the company’s website 
www.gemgrow.co.za at that date) and the results of operations 
and cash flows for the year then ended.

The committee has also satisfied itself of the integrity of the 
remainder of the integrated annual report. Having achieved its 
objectives, the committee has recommended the integrated 
annual report for the year ended 30 September 2017 for approval 
to the Gemgrow Board. The Board has subsequently approved the 
report, which will be open for presentation at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the audit and risk committee

Clifford Abrams 
Chairman

14 November 2017

The external auditors’ independence and effectiveness is 
evaluated annually by the committee, which also considers 
whether any non-audit services rendered by such auditors 
materially impair their independence. Although the external 
auditors performed certain non-audit services during the year 
under review, their fees for their services were not deemed 
to be immaterial.

The committee has satisfied itself that Grant Thornton, the external 
auditor, and Mr EFG Dreyer, the designated auditor, are independent 
of the company and of the group.

The Audit Committee has reviewed sections 3, 8, 13, 15 and 22 
and schedule 8 of the JSE Listing Requirements and confirm that 
based on the amended requirements for the JSE-accreditation of 
Auditors, effective 15 October 2017, we were satisfied that:

(i)   the audit firm has met all the criteria stipulated in the 
requirements, including that the audit regulator has completed 
a firm-wide independent quality control (ISQC 1) inspection 
on the audit firm during its previous inspection cycle;

(ii)  the auditors have provided to the audit committee, the 
required IRBA inspection decision letters, findings report 
and the proposed remedial action to address the findings, 
both at the audit firm and the individual auditor levels; and

(iii)  both the audit firm and the individual auditor understand 
their roles and have the competence, expertise, experience 
and skills required to discharge their specific audit and 
financial reporting responsibilities.

Based on enquiries made and assurances received, the committee is 
satisfied with the external auditors’ independence. The committee 
has recommended to the Board and to the shareholders, the 
reappointment of Grant Thornton as the independent registered 
audit firm and Mr EFG Dreyer as the individual registered 
auditor, respectively.

Internal audit
The audit and risk committee monitors and supervises the 
effective function of internal audit. In view of the fact that the 
accounting, company secretarial, rent collection and property 
administration functions are all outsourced, an internal audit 
function is not practical and is therefore considered by both the 
Board and by the committee to be unnecessary at the present 
time. Instead, the committee places reliance on the internal 
auditors of the company’s service providers and where deemed 
necessary, seeks assurances from such internal auditors and 
external auditors.

Where a change in circumstances warrants an internal 
audit function, such function will be established to provide 
management with advice and assurances that proper systems 
and controls are in place and are functioning properly.
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The social and ethics committee was established in 
terms of the requirements of section 72(4) of the 
Companies Act, read with Regulation 43 of the 
Companies Regulations, 2011, and oversees the 
transformation and sustainability of Gemgrow.

Terms of reference
The Companies Act and King IV have guided the detailed terms of 
reference that have been approved by the Board. The committee is 
responsible for evaluating all social and ethics responsibilities and 
making recommendations to the Board with regard thereto. The 
Board may in its discretion delegate authority to the committee to 
act on its behalf in respect of certain matters and may authorise 
it to approve projects within specified limits or parameters. The 
committee has due regard to the principles of sound governance 
and codes of best practice in its functioning and deliberations.

Composition
The committee is chaired by the CFO and further comprises 
independent non-executive director Clifford Abrams and the 
COO. Abridged biographies of the members are published on 
pages 16 and 17. The CEO attends all meetings by invitation. 
The committee composition is not in compliance with King IV 
and this will be rectified in the coming financial year.

Meetings
The committee met once during the year under review. Attendance 
at this meeting is contained in the table set out in the corporate 
governance report on page 57.

Statutory and other duties
In the execution of its duties, the committee’s functions and 
responsibilities as provided for in the Companies Act, included 
but were not limited to:

 › monitoring the company’s activities with regard to matters 
relating to:
 » social and economic development (including the UN Global 

Compact Principles, the OECD recommendations regarding 
corruption, the Employment Equity Act and the Broad-based 
Black Economic Empowerment Act);

 » good corporate citizenship, including promotion of equality, 
prevention of unfair discrimination, elimination of corruption, 
contribution to the development of the communities in which 
its products or services are marketed and the recording of 
sponsorships, donations and charitable endowments;

 » the environment, health and public safety, including the 
impact of the company’s activities;

 » consumer relationships, including the company’s 
advertising, public relations and compliance with 
consumer protection laws;

 » the company’s employment relationships with and its 
contribution towards the educational development of 
its employees.

 › drawing matters within its mandate to the attention of the 
Board as the occasion requires; and

 › reporting through one of its members to the shareholders at 
the company’s annual general meeting on the matters within 
its mandate.

On behalf of the social and ethics committee

Junaid Limalia 
Chairman

14 November 2017

66

Social and ethics committee report



Part I

Background statement
To align with King IV™, we have separated our report into 
three sections: background statement (Part I), overview of 
the remuneration policy for the year ahead (Part II) and the 
implementation report indicating the actual remuneration paid 
based on the previous year’s remuneration policy (Part III). 
Parts II and III will be put to a non-binding advisory shareholder 
vote at the upcoming annual general meeting of the company 
on Monday, 29 January 2018. We have also enhanced our 
remuneration reporting to be more transparent regarding the 
basis on which remuneration is determined, and in particular 
have included details on the performance measures used to 
determine the bonuses payable. We invite our shareholders 
to engage us regarding the changes to our policy and reporting.

The remuneration policy is designed to facilitate and consolidate 
attracting and retaining high calibre talent at all levels. As we 
understand that all employees are integral to our success, 
we are committed to internal equity, and fair and responsible 
remuneration. We have thus considered executive management’s 
remuneration, and over time have made adjustments to our 
policy to reflect our commitment to paying fairly, responsibly and 
transparently. We believe that, as we have a small committed 
team of employees, it is important for everyone to be motivated 
by the same goals.

The remuneration and nomination committee oversees all 
remuneration decisions, and in particular determines the criteria 
necessary to measure the performance of executive directors in 
discharging their functions and responsibilities. Pursuant to the 
terms of reference, the committee strives to give the executive 
directors every encouragement to enhance the company’s 
performance and to ensure that they are fairly but responsibly 
rewarded for their individual contributions and performance.

The remuneration and nomination committee is satisfied that in 
the past the remuneration policy achieved its stated objectives. 
During the course of the year under review, certain changes 
have been implemented to further align the policy with our 
strategy. These are outlined below.

Changes to the remuneration policy
Pursuant to a review process, certain changes were made to the 
remuneration policy. These are summarised below:

 › The performance measures for the short-term incentive have 
been revisited, and additional measures of strategic importance 
have been added. More detail is included within Part II.

 › The executive management team must provide security 
acceptable to the Board which must, at a minimum, equate 
to 13% of the loan debt.

How did Gemgrow perform in 2017, 
and how did we pay executive management?
The remuneration and nomination committee exercised its 
discretion in terms of awarding the short-term incentive in 
incentive loan shares, as more fully described in Part III. We 
believe that this practice increases the executive management’s 
exposure to the share price and further aligns their interests 
with those of Gemgrow’s shareholders.

Use of remuneration advisers
Gemgrow’s holding company, Arrowhead Properties Limited, 
received advice from PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) during 
the year which advice was imparted to Gemgrow. Gemgrow 
is satisfied that the advice received from PwC was objective 
and independent.

Voting results
At the annual general meeting on 23 March 2017, the non-binding 
advisory vote on the company’s remuneration policy received 
a 90,68% vote in support of the policy.

Part II

Overview of the main provisions 
of the remuneration policy
The remuneration policy for the upcoming year, which will be 
presented to shareholders for an advisory vote at the upcoming 
annual general meeting, is outlined below.

Elements of remuneration
The elements of remuneration applicable to executive 
management (including executive directors and prescribed 
officers) are described below. Where elements also apply 
to other employees, this is indicated.

Further details on each element of pay is provided below.

Fixed remuneration
Total guaranteed pay
Our pay philosophy is to set total guaranteed pay at the 
median of the market. We benchmark to companies which 
are comparable in terms of size, market sector and complexity.

Annual increases are inflationary adjustments, which are also 
determined with reference to market competitiveness. Awarding 
of annual increases is dependent on the financial performance, 
stability and position of the company.

Short-term incentive — annual bonus
Executive management is eligible to receive an annual bonus, which 
is determined according to the performance of Gemgrow, relative 
to pre-determined performance criteria which are aligned with the 
creation of shareholder value. The remuneration and nomination 
committee is committed to ensuring that bonuses are only awarded 
in a manner that is affordable to the company.
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Elements of remuneration

Element Detail

Total guaranteed pay A total guaranteed package is paid which is inclusive of annual salary and all benefits. There are no 
additional benefits or allowances payable.

Short-term incentive 
“Annual bonus”

The bonus is payable annually in cash and is linked to the achievement of strategically important 
company-wide performance measures.

In addition, the bonus is linked to the share purchase and option scheme through the election of 
the remuneration and nomination committee to award incentive loan shares as an alternative to 
cash bonuses under the scheme. The executive management team must provide security acceptable 
to the Board which must, at a minimum, equate to 13% of the loan debt

Gemgrow share purchase 
and option scheme 

Under this scheme, loans of up to five times annual salary are made available to executive management 
to acquire Gemgrow shares. The executive management team must provide security acceptable to the 
Board which must, at a minimum, equate to 13% of the loan debt.

Executive management is not eligible to receive options under the scheme.

Performance against key measures

Performance measure Weighting of bonus

Percentage growth in dividend
Target: dividend agreed by the Board at November 2017 Board meeting

Note:   maximum achievement is earned on this measure of percentage growth in distribution increases 
at 150% of dividend decided by Gemgrow Board

35%

Capital return for the year (excluding dividend income)
Target: sector average

10%

Asset base growth
Cost of new acquisitions for the year as a percentage of previous year’s balance sheet value

Target: 12-month target set by the Board

10%

Vacancy
Target: 12-month target set by the Board 

Note:   vacancy is defined as unlet gross lettable area (GLA) in m² over total lettable area (GLA) in m²

15%

Loan to value
Target: 12-month target set by the Board 

Note:   loan to value is defined as the value of total borrowings over total assets (properties and shares)

10%

Core portfolio growth
Target: 12-month target set by the Board 

Note:   core portfolio growth includes properties that have been owned for a full 24-month period and 
is calculated by taking the growth in net income from these properties for the latter 12 months in 
comparison to the first 12 months

10%

Bad debts
Target: 12-month target set by the Board 

Note:   bad debts means the percentage of arrears that have been written off

10%
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Gemgrow share purchase and option scheme 
(“the scheme”)
Under this scheme, loans of up to five times annual salary 
(“the loan debt”) are made available by the company to 
executive management to acquire Gemgrow shares. The scheme 
aligns the interests of executive management with those of 
shareholders through the exposure of executives to the share 
price, and commits the executives to the growth in long-term 
value, and sustainability of the company.

The features of this scheme are as follows:

 › The number of overall shares which may be issued in terms 
of the scheme is 2 367 610 A shares and 20 035 523 B shares.

 › Ownership of the incentive loan shares purchased vests 
immediately in the participant, but there is a pledge of the 
shares as security against the loans.

 › The participants are entitled to all dividends and distributions 
attributable to the shares, and the rate of interest applied to 
the loan will be equal to such distributions.

 › In the case of termination of employment of a participant 
(bad leaver) the loan debt will be payable within 60 days after 
termination. In all other instances the loan debt is repayable 
within 12 months of the termination, pursuant to which the 
shares are released.

 › Gemgrow has the right to demand payment of the loan 
debt after ten years of the acceptance of the offer.

The remuneration and nomination committee has determined 
that, for the 2018 year going forward, the executive management 
team must provide security acceptable to the Board which must, 
at a minimum, equate to 13% of the loan debt.

Executive management are not eligible to participate in the 
approved option scheme.

Detail regarding executive service contracts including 
detail of payments due on termination of employment
The chief operating officer and chief financial officer have 
contracts ending 31 December 2021 with a two-month notice 
period the CEO has a service contract terminable on three 
months’ written notice. There are no restraint of trade clauses. 
There are no contractual obligations to executive management 
in terms of any separation payments.

Bonuses paid to executive management cannot exceed 100% 
of annual salary.

The use of the company-wide performance measures as an input 
to the modifier results in annual bonus payments being closely 
linked to the strategic objectives of the company, including the 
long-term sustainability of the company.

The performance measures that are used to determine the 
modifier, and thus the quantum of the bonus, and the applicable 
weightings, are as per the table on page 68.

Calculation of bonus:
Calculation of modifier percentage:
 › If target is not achieved for any particular performance 

measure, the weighted achievement will be 0 for 
that measure.

 › If target is met, the weighted achievement will be 
100% x the applicable weighting.

 › In the event that the target is exceeded, the weighted 
achievement will be the actual achievement 
(100%+) x the applicable weighting.

 › The weighted achievement scores are added together 
to result in the modifier percentage.

Bonus formula:
An on-target percentage of 50% is used for all executive 
management. The bonus is thus calculated as follows:

Annual salary x 50% x modifier percentage (sum of all weighted 
achievement scores).

Bonus exchange for incentive loan shares
The remuneration and nomination committee has the discretion 
to offer the executive directors loans to acquire additional 
incentive loan shares at R10 in loan assistance in exchange 
for every R1 bonus earned.

The executive management team must provide security 
acceptable to the Board which must, at a minimum, equate 
to 13% of the loan debt.
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Policy relating to setting of non-executive director fees
Non-executive directors’ fees comprise an annual fee in recognition 
of their ongoing fiduciary duties and responsibilities. Directors 
who serve on committees are paid an additional fee for the 
various committees of which they are members.

The fees payable for 2017 were paid on the basis recommended 
by the remuneration and nomination committee and by the 
Board and were approved by shareholders at the annual general 
meeting held on 23 March 2017. Proposed fees for 2018 are 
contained within the notice of annual general meeting.

Measures to be taken by the Board in the event 
of a negative vote of 25% or more
In the event that the remuneration policy or the implementation 
report as they appear in Part II and III of this report, or both, 
have been voted against by 25% or more of the voting rights 
exercised at the annual general meeting, the Board commits 
to the following measures. These measures should provide 
for taking steps in good faith and with best reasonable effort, 
towards the following at a minimum:

 › An engagement process to ascertain the reasons for the 
dissenting votes.

 › Appropriately addressing legitimate and reasonable objections 
and concerns raised, which may include amending the 
remuneration policy, or clarifying or adjusting remuneration 
governance and/or processes.

Further, in the event of negative voting as outlined above, 
the committee commits to including details of the following in 
Part I (background statement) of the next remuneration report:

 › with whom the company engaged, and the manner and form of 
engagement to ascertain the reasons for dissenting votes; and

 › the nature of steps taken to address legitimate and reasonable 
objections and concerns.

Advisory vote on the remuneration policy
Shareholders are requested to cast an advisory vote on the 
remuneration policy as it appears in Part II of this report.

Part III

Implementation of the policy during 
the 2017 financial year

Increase in non-executive director fees
A 6% increase has been proposed for the 2018 year. The proposed 
fees for the 2018 year are set out in the notice of annual general 
meeting for shareholder approval.

Annual bonus outcomes
For the 2017 year, the remuneration and nomination committee 
exercised its discretion to award incentive loan shares in terms 
of the share purchase and option scheme to the CEO and CFO, 
in lieu of bonuses. Accordingly, no cash bonuses will be paid to 
the CEO and CFO for 2017.

Termination of office payments
There were no payments in terms of terminations of employment 
during the financial year.

Statement regarding compliance with, and any deviations 
from, the remuneration policy
The remuneration and nomination committee is satisfied that 
there was compliance with the remuneration policy during the 
year, and there were no substantial deviations from the policy 
during the year.

Voting statement (non-binding advisory vote on the 
implementation report)
Shareholders are requested to cast an advisory vote on the 
remuneration implementation report as contained in Part III 
of this report at the upcoming annual general meeting.

Approval of remuneration report by the 
Board of directors
This remuneration report was approved by the Board 
of directors of Gemgrow on 4 December 2017.

70

Remuneration report continued



Non-executive director fees for 2017

R 2017 2016

Non-executive directors’ remuneration

C Abrams 285 187 —

A Basserabie 241 520 —

G Kinross 401 003 —

A Rehman 285 187 —

MJ Kuscus 82 613 165 225

LX Mtumtum 88 975 177 950

SJ Segar 63 538 127 075

I Zwarenstein 63 538 127 075

LG Rapp 69 894 139 788

MJ Potts 38 125 76 250

Total 1 619 580 813 363

Executive management remuneration for 2017

R

Total
guaranteed

package
Short-term

incentive

Total
guaranteed

package
2017

M Kaplan * — — —

J Limalia 1 317 691 — 1 317 691

A Kirkel 1 324 613 — 1 324 613 

Total 2 642 304 — 2 642 304

* The CEO is remunerated by the company’s holding company, Arrowhead, and for the group (including Gemgrow), his total remuneration was R4 677 359.
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The directors are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the annual financial statements of 
Gemgrow Properties Limited, comprising the statements 
of financial position at 30 September 2017 and statements 
of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows 
for the year then ended. To achieve the highest standards of 
financial reporting, these financial statements have been drawn 
up to comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act.

The directors’ responsibility includes the design, implementation and 
maintenance of internal controls that will ensure the preparation, 
integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements and other 
financial information included in this report, selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The directors have reviewed the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies and conclude that estimates and judgements 
are reasonable. They are of the opinion that the annual financial 
statements fairly present the financial position of the business 
at 30 September 2017 and of its financial performance and 
cash flows for the year to 30 September 2017. The external 
auditors, who have unrestricted access to all records and 
information, as well as to the audit committee, concur with this 
statement. The directors believe that all representations made 
to the independent auditors during their audit are valid and 
appropriate. The unqualified audit report of Grant Thornton 
is presented on pages 74 to 76.

In addition, the directors have also reviewed the cash flow 
forecast for the year to 30 September 2018 and believe that 
the company has adequate resources to continue in operation 
for the foreseeable future.

Accordingly, the annual financial statements have been prepared 
on a going-concern basis. These financial statements support the 
viability of the company.

The annual financial statements were approved by the board of 
directors on 14 November 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mark Kaplan 
CEO

Junaid Limalia 
CFO

14 November 2017
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In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, 2008 as amended (“the Act”), we declare that to the best of our knowledge, 
for the year ended 30 September 2017, Gemgrow Properties Limited has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns 
as are required of a public company in terms of the Act and that such returns are true, correct and up to date.

CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited 
Company Secretary

Rosebank Towers, 15 Bierman Avenue, Rosebank, 2196

15 November 2017

Certification by the company secretary
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To the shareholders of Gemgrow Properties 
Limited and its subsidiaries

Report on the financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of Gemgrow Properties Limited and its subsidiaries 
(“the group”) set out on pages 80 to 111, which comprise the 
statements of financial position as at 30 September 2017, and the 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
statements of changes in equity and the statements of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 
financial position of the group as at 30 September 2017, and its 
consolidated and separate financial performance and consolidated 
and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance 
with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of 
Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and 
other independence requirements applicable to performing audits 
of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code 
and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to 
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent 
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements of the current 
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key 
audit matters relate to the consolidated and separate financial 
statements discussed in the table below.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment property 
(consolidated and separate financial statements)
Investment property is the group and company’s most significant 
asset amounting to R4,4 billion and R2,5 billion respectively as 
at year end. The properties are fair valued on an annual basis in 
accordance with IAS 40 Investment Property.

Significant judgement is required by the directors in determining 
the fair value of investment properties and for the purposes of 
our audit, we identified the valuation of investment properties 
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the 
financial statements as a whole, combined with the judgement 
associated with determining the fair value.

The group annually performs internal and external valuations. 
Independent valuations obtained on a rotational basis ensuring 
that every property is valued externally at least once every three 
years, The discounted cash flow model is used. The inputs with the 
most significant impact on these valuations are disclosed in note 3 
to the annual financial statements.

 

We obtained the external and internal valuation reports and performed 
the following procedures:

 › Evaluated, with the assistance of our valuation specialist, the 
methodologies and the significant inputs and assumptions applied 
by the external and internal valuators. In particular, those relating 
to the discount rates, growth rates, and forecasts used in the 
calculations. Comparisons of the valuators significant assumptions 
were compared to market data where available and unusual or 
unexpected movements were investigated and further testing 
conducted as necessary;

 › Assessed the competence, capabilities, and objectivity of the 
independent valuators as well as the directors who perform the 
internal valuation, and verified their qualifications.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in note 3 to the financial 
statements in relation to the requirements of the reporting framework.
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In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the group and / or the company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

 › Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the Directors’ Report, the Audit Committee’s 
Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by 
the Companies Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to 
the date of this report, and the Integrated annual report, which 
is expected to be made available to us after that date. Other 
information does not include the consolidated and separate 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial 
statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed on the other information 
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the 
consolidated and separate financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control 
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of goodwill (consolidated financial statements)
Goodwill amounting to R161 million arose in the current year. 
As per IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, the group is required to 
annually test the carrying value of goodwill for impairment. 
This annual impairment test was considered a KAM due to the 
estimation uncertainty, specifically with regards the estimation 
of future cash flows including growth, discounted cash flow rates 
and forecast periods of the cash generating unit to which the 
goodwill has been allocated (refer note 10).

No impairment was recognised with respect to goodwill in the 
current year.

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

 › Obtained from management their 3 year forecast and related 
discounted cash flow model;

 › Tested the mathematical accuracy of the model;
 › Evaluated, with the assistance of our valuation specialist, 
the reasonableness of the assumptions and methodologies applied 
by the directors. In particular those relating to the revenue growth 
and discount rates for each cash generating unit to which goodwill 
has been allocated and the appropriateness of a 3 year forecast 
given the industry average forecast term;

 › Performed sensitivity analyses on the key assumptions.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in note 10 to the financial 
statements in relation to the requirements of the reporting framework.
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 › Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s and the company’s 
internal control.

 › Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

 › Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors of the going 
concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s 
and the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the group and/or the company to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

 › Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the consolidated and separate financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 › Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal 
and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette 
Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Grant 
Thornton has been the auditor of Gemgrow Properties Limited 
and its subsidiaries for four years.

GRANT THORNTON 
Registered auditors 
Practice number: 903485E

EFG Dreyer 
Partner 
Registered auditor 
Chartered accountant (SA)

15 November 2017

@Grant Thornton 
Wanderers Office Park 
52 Corlett Drive 
Illovo, 2196
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 › Dividend number 2 of 24,85 cents per A share for the three 
months ended 31 March 2017

 › Dividend number 2 of 18,15 cents per A share for the three 
months ended 31 March 2017

 › Dividend number 3 of 26,09 cents per A share for the three 
months ended 30 June 2017

 › Dividend number 3 of 18,52 cents per A share for the three 
months ended 30 June 2017

 › Dividend number 4 of 26,09 cents per A share for the three 
months ended 30 September 2017 *

 › Dividend number 4 of 19,00 cents per B share for the three 
months ended 30 September 2017 *

* The distribution was declared on 15 November 2017.

Directorate
The directors of the company at the date of this report were:

Executive directors
 › M Kaplan — CEO
 › A Kirkel — COO
 › J Limalia — CFO

Independent non-executive directors
 › G Kinross (Chairman)
 › C Abrams
 › A Basserabie
 › A Rehman

Brief curricula vitae of the directors have been included on 
pages 16 and 17.

The number of Board and committee meetings attended by 
each of the directors during the year is tabled in the corporate 
governance report on page 57.

Gemgrow’s CFO was assessed by the audit committee (as is 
done annually) to be appropriately qualified and experienced 
for the position.

Directors’ interests
The interests of the directors in the shares of the company 
at 30 September 2017 can be seen in the table on page 78.

Directors’ interests in contracts
The company has not entered into any contracts in which a 
director has a material interest during the year under review.

The Board has pleasure in submitting their directors’ report 
for the year ended 30 September 2017.

Nature of business
Gemgrow is a REIT and is listed on the JSE Limited under the 
Financial — Real Estate sector. Gemgrow became a REIT with 
effect from 1 October 2016.

Gemgrow is a REIT holding a diverse portfolio of office, retail 
and industrial properties throughout South Africa. Its main 
focus is on paying growing income returns to its investors. This 
is achieved through escalating rentals in terms of leases with 
tenants, satisfactory renewal of leases with existing tenants, 
renting of vacant space within the property portfolio, managing 
and reducing, where possible, costs associated with the property 
portfolio and by acquiring revenue enhancing properties. 
The company owns a portfolio of 129 retail, industrial and 
commercial properties.

Year under review
The results of the company are addressed in the reports 
of the Chairman and the executive directors and are set 
out in the annual financial statements on pages 18 to 28 
and 80 to 111 respectively.

Share and debenture capital
The company’s authorised share capital comprises 1 000 000 000 
A ordinary no par value Gemgrow shares and 2 000 000 000 
B no par value shares. The company’s ordinary shares trade as 
shares on the JSE.

During the year ended 30 September 2017 the following shares 
were issued through a general placement:

 › 247 412 268 Gemgrow B ordinary shares at R7,68 to fund 
acquisition of investment properties;

 › 22 945 522 Gemgrow B ordinary shares at R7 to fund the 
internalisation of VAM.

Furthermore, in the year under review, 24 000 000 Gemgrow 
B ordinary shares were issued to executives at R6,79 in terms 
of the transaction.

There were 47 352 203 A Gemgrow shares and 400 710 459 
B Gemgrow shares (2016: 47 352 203 A and 106 352 670 B 
shares) in issue at 30 September 2017.

Dividend
The following dividends were declared during the year:

 › Dividend number 1 of 24,85 cents per A share for the three 
months ended 31 December 2016

 › Dividend number 1 of 17,84 cents per B share for the three 
months ended 31 December 2016
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Directors’ interests
Beneficial

direct 2017
Beneficial

direct 2016

Executive directors 
M Kaplan   

Gemgrow shares

B shares  6 000 000 —

A Kirkel
Gemgrow shares

B shares  3 000 000 —

J Limalia
Gemgrow shares

B shares  3 000 000 —

Comprises
Total Gemgrow shares  12 000 000 —

Total B shares 12 000 000 —

The following shares were issued to the directors on 13 October 2017:

 › J Limalia — 2 160 149 Gemgrow shares at R6,10
 › A Kirkel — 2 171 497 Gemgrow shares at a R6,10

Apart from the issue of shares disclosed above, no other changes in directors’ interests have occurred between 30 September 2017 and the 
date of finalisation of this integrated annual report.

Directors’ remuneration
R 2017 2016

Fees earned by executive directors
M Kaplan * — —

J Limalia  1 318 —

A Kirkel  1 324 —

GS Moseneke —  1 364 

RC Hawton —  1 125 

Total executive fees  2 642  2 489 

Fees earned by non-executive directors 
G Kinross  401 —

C Abrams  285 —

A Basserabie  241 —

A Rehman  285 —

MJ Kuscus  83  165 

LX Mtumtum  89  178 

SJ Segar  64  127 

I Zwarenstein  64  127 

LG Rapp  70  140 

MJ Potts  38  76 

Total non-executive fees  1 620  813 

* The CEO is remunerated by the company’s holding company, Arrowhead, and for the group (including Gemgrow), his total remuneration was R4 677 359.
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Post balance sheet event
Gemgrow will take transfer of the properties relating to its 
acquisition post year-end. The company has secured acquisitions 
to the value of R580 million, at a weighted average yield of 
11,85%, funded with hedge debt facilities.

Going concern
The directors are of the opinion that the company has adequate 
resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future and 
that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the company’s financial statements. The directors have satisfied 
themselves that the company is in a sound financial position and 
that it has access to sufficient borrowings facilities to meet its 
foreseeable cash requirements.

Major shareholders
Beneficial shareholders holding in excess of 3% of the units 
in issue are detailed on pages 51 and 52 of the integrated 
annual report.

Executive directors’ service contracts
In terms of the service contracts agreed between the executive 
directors and the company, the CEO’s contract is terminable on 
three months’ notice, while the CFO and COO are both contracted 
until 31 December 2021.

Company secretary
The company secretary at the date of this report was CIS 
Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited, a subsidiary of 
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited. 
The transfer secretary is Link Market Services.

The business and postal addresses of the company secretary 
are set out on page 112.

Rosebank

14 November 2017
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R Notes
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

Assets
Non-current assets 4 723 205 154 4 594 751 089  2 612 836 

Investment property 4 438 238 000  2 510 319 000 —

Fair value of property portfolio for accounting purposes 3 4 402 669 444  2 489 412 588 —

Straight line rental income accrual 4  35 568 556  20 906 412 —

Property, plant and equipment 7  163 673  163 673 —

Loans to executives 8  122 173 421 — —

Deferred capital expenditure — —  601 430 

Goodwill 10  160 618 654 — —

Interest in subsidiaries 9.1 — 2 082 257 010 —

Deferred taxation 5  2 011 406  2 011 406  2 011 406 

Current assets 211 095 868 141 722 905  64 357 183 

Trade and other receivables 11 74 597 756 65 047 259  40 512 136 

Derivative financial instruments 15 — —  107 337 

Intercompany loan 9.2 —  41 730 644 —

Loan to holding company 9.2  80 002 300 — —

Cash and cash equivalents 12 56 495 812 34 945 002  23 737 710 

Non-current assets held for sale 6  9 370 000 —  2 451 435 378 

Total assets 4 943 671 022 4 736 473 994  2 518 405 397 

Equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ interest 3 846 010 826 3 669 272 315  1 491 493 968 

Stated capital 13  3 184 041 303 3 184 041 303  942 472 424 

Reserves 661 969 523 485 231 012  55 086 238 

Other components of equity — —  493 935 306 

Other non-current liabilities  350 831 264  350 831 264  367 406 265 

Secured financial liabilities 14  343 389 925  343 389 925  361 852 768 

Derivative financial instruments 15  7 441 339  7 441 339  5 553 497 

Current liabilities 746 828 932 716 370 415  659 505 164 

Trade and other payables 16 126 787 864 96 329 347  84 338 419 

Secured financial liabilities 14  575 041 068  575 041 068  575 046 336 

Derivative financial instruments 15 — —  120 409 

Loan from holding company 9.2  45 000 000  45 000 000 —

Total equity and liabilities 4 943 671 022 4 736 473 994  2 518 405 397 

Number of Gemgrow ordinary shares in issue

— Gemgrow A shares  47 352 203  47 352 203 

— Gemgrow B shares  400 710 459  106 352 670 

Net asset value per share (R) 8,58
— Gemgrow A shares 9,72
— Gemgrow B shares 8,45
Gearing ratio * 20,65  37,25 

* Secured liabilities/investment property (%).

Comparative consolidated figures and information
No comparative consolidated figures and information has been presented as this is the first year that the entity is a group.
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R Notes
Group

2017
Company

2017

Company
Six months

ended 30 Sep
2016

Property portfolio revenue

Contractual rental income  666 065 512  369 897 106  181 404 212 

Straight line rental income accrual 4  35 568 556  20 906 412  (16 403 812)

Dividends received 17 — 209 628 919 —

Total revenue  701 634 068 600 432 437  165 000 400 

Operating costs (263 055 682) (140 252 122)  (80 009 507)

Administration costs (8 531 202) (7 380 717)  (1 707 896)

Net operating profit 18 430 047 184 452 799 598  83 282 997 

Changes in fair values 20 63 407 397  42 517 105  64 482 593 

Profit from operations 493 454 581 495 316 703  147 765 590 

Net finance charges  (71 109 188) (89 091 167)  (44 991 836)

Finance charges 21  (91 577 835) (91 577 158)  (46 220 885)

Finance income 22  20 468 647  2 485 991  1 229 049 

Profit after net finance cost and before capital items 422 345 393 406 225 536  102 773 754 

Loss on sale of investment properties — —  (2 396 729)

Cost of strategic repositioning — —  (970 857)

Impairment of investment in GAM 9.1 — (160 618 654) —

Profit before taxation 422 345 393 245 606 882  99 406 168 

Taxation 23 — —  109 554 

Total comprehensive income for the year 422 345 393 245 606 882  99 515 722 

Weighted average number of shares

— Gemgrow A shares  47 352 203   47 352 203 

— Gemgrow B shares  400 710 460   106 352 670 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) (note 24)

— Gemgrow A shares 94,26  64,74 

— Gemgrow B shares 94,26   64,74 
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R
Stated
capital

Retained
income

Other
components

of equity Total

Group

Balance at 1 April 2016  953 409 806  42 020 919  467 926 478  1 463 357 203 

Dividends paid —  (56 608 255) —  (56 608 255)

Change in fair value of investment properties —  (48 078 781)  48 078 781 — 

Transfer from other components of equity —  18 236 633  (18 236 633) — 

Costs of strategic repositioning  (10 937 382) — —  (10 937 382)

Revaluation of cash flow hedges — —  (3 833 320)  (3 833 320)

Total comprehensive income for the year —  99 515 722 —  99 515 722 

Balance at 30 September 2016  942 472 424  55 086 238  493 935 306  1 491 493 968 

Issue of shares  2 241 568 879 — —  2 241 568 879 

Transfers of other components of equity to reserves —  493 935 306  (493 935 306) — 

Dividends paid —  (309 397 414) —  (309 397 414)

Total comprehensive income for the year — 422 345 393 — 422 345 393

Balance at 30 September 2017  3 184 041 303 661 969 523 — 3 846 010 826

Note 13

Company

Balance at 1 April 2016  953 409 806  42 020 919  467 926 478  1 463 357 203 

Dividends paid —  (56 608 255) —  (56 608 255)

Change in fair value of investment properties —  (48 078 781)  48 078 781 — 

Transfer from other components of equity —  18 236 633  (18 236 633) — 

Costs of strategic repositioning  (10 937 382) — —  (10 937 382)

Revaluation of cash flow hedges — —  (3 833 320)  (3 833 320)

Total comprehensive income for the year —  99 515 722 —  99 515 722 

Balance at 30 September 2016  942 472 424  55 086 238  493 935 306  1 491 493 968 

Issue of shares  2 241 568 879 — —  2 241 568 879 

Transfers of other components of equity to reserves —  493 935 306  (493 935 306) — 

Dividends paid —  (309 397 414) —  (309 397 414)

Total comprehensive income for the year — 245 606 882 — 245 606 882

Balance at 30 September 2017  3 184 041 303 485 231 012 — 3 669 272 315

Note 13  
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R Notes
Group

2017
Company

2017

Company
Six months

ended 30 Sep
2016

Net cash generated from operating activities  25 927 768 23 758 504  2 271 374 

Cash generated from operations 25.2  406 434 370 212 618 166  103 480 200 

Finance charges  (91 577 835)  (91 577 158)  (45 829 620)

Finance income  20 468 647  2 485 991  1 229 049 

Dividends received —  209 628 919 —

Dividends paid  (309 397 414)  (309 397 414)  (56 608 255)

Net cash generated in investing activities  56 158 757 4 238 013  35 219 162 

Acquisition of investment property 3  (30 471 353)  (22 235 057)  (17 626 498)

Proceeds from disposal of investment property  26 652 255  26 652 255  53 447 090 

Deferred capital expenditure — —  (601 430)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (179 185)  (179 185) —

Pre-effective date distribution  19 432 579 — —

Repayment of loans from executives  40 724 461 — —

Net cash utilised from financing activities  (49 328 423)  (16 789 225)  (39 368 516)

Net proceeds/(outflow) from issue of share capital  4 425 675  (1 306 782) —

Proceeds from loans to subsidiary  —  3 269 355 —

Loans advanced to holding company  (35 002 300) — —

Repayment of financial liabilities  (18 751 798)  (18 751 798)  (39 368 516)

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  32 758 102  11 207 292  (1 877 980)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  23 737 710  23 737 710  25 615 690 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12  56 495 812  34 945 002  23 737 710 
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1. Accounting policies
The financial statements are prepared on the historic cost basis, except for investment properties and certain financial instruments 
which are carried at fair value, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), SAICA Financial 
Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial 
Reporting Standard Council, the JSE Listing requirements, SA REIT Association Best Practice Recommendations and the requirements 
of the South African Companies Act.

The accounting policies applied by the group, and the preparation of these annual financial statements are consistent with the 
accounting policies applied in the preparation of the previous annual financial statements.

1.2 Basis of consolidation
The group financial statements include those of the holding company and enterprises controlled by the company. Control is achieved 
when the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee enterprise.

An investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Thus, an investor controls an investee if and only if the investor 
has all the following:

(a) power over the investee;
(b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
(c) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows of the group and all 
entities controlled by the group. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised profits or losses between group companies are 
eliminated on consolidation.

In the separate financial statements of the company, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost and adjusted for impairment 
if applicable.

Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is 
transferred to the group. Judgement is applied in determining the acquisition date and determining whether control is transferred from 
one party to another.

The group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as follows:

 › the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
 › the recognised amount of the non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
 › if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less
 › the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Where the excess is negative this is immediately recognised in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the group incurs in 
connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred. Costs associated with the issue of debt or equity securities are 
recorded directly in the statement of changes in equity.

1.3 Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of financial position when the group becomes party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. The group initially recognises a financial instrument as a financial asset, a financial liability or as an equity instrument 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

The group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the 
rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest financial assets that is created or retained by the entity is recognised 
as a separate asset or liability.
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The group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value and in the case of those not measured at fair value through profit 
or loss, transaction cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments are measured as follows:

Financial assets
 › Trade and other receivables
  Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value including transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method. Trade and other receivables are presented net of an allowance for impairment. The allowance for 
impairment is raised based on the difference between the carrying value of the receivables and the present value of expected future cash 
flows using the discount rate calculated at initial recognition. Movements in the provision are recognised in profit or loss. Unrecoverable 
amounts are written off against the allowance account.

 Subsequent recoveries of previously written off amounts are credited to profit or loss.

 › Cash and cash equivalents
  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid, short term 

investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. These investments are subject to insignificant risk in change 
in value. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost that approximates fair value.

 › Loans to executives
  Loans to executives consist of shares issued to the directors of Gemgrow at market value. The loans bear interest at a rate equal 

to the dividend of the company.

 › Derivative instrument
  The group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks arising from its financing activities. 

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement 
to fair value is recognised in profit or loss. The group holds interest rate swaps. The fair value of the interest rate swap is the 
estimated amount that the group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the reporting date, taking into account current 
interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties.

Financial liabilities
 › Interest bearing borrowings
  Interest bearing borrowings are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Any raising costs that are 

incurred on interest bearing borrowings are offset against the debt balance and recognised as additional interest using the effective 
interest rate method over the term of the loan. The finance cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it accrues.

 › Trade and other payables
  Trade and other payables are initially recognised at cost and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

rate method, with gains or losses being recognised in profit or loss.

Offset
 › Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when the group 

has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

  Where the carrying amounts of short term financial instruments carried at amortised cost approximate their amortised cost value 
and the impact of discounting is not considered to be material, no discounting is applied.

1.4 Investment properties
Investment property is initially recorded at cost and include transaction costs on acquisition. Subsequent expenditure to add to or 
replace a part of the property is capitalised at cost. Investment property is valued annually and adjusted to fair value as at statement 
of financial position date.

Independent valuations are obtained on a rotational basis, ensuring that every property is valued at least once every three years 
by an external independent valuer. The remaining properties are valued by the directors annually on an open market basis.

The proposed net profit budget relating to each internally valued property for the following year is used in conjunction with a discounted 
cash flow model to calculate the fair value adjustment value of the investment property. The discount, yield and reversion rate used in 
the discounted cash flow calculation reflects the risks anticipated in the geographical area.

Notes to the financial statements continued
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1.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis over the current useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful 
lives of the assets are:

 › Computer equipment (three years)
 The useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if necessary.

  Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of equipment is capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow 
to the entity and the cost can be measured reliably. All other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which it incurred.

1.6 Goodwill
Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not individually identified and 
separately recognised. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Cash generating units to which goodwill 
has been allocated are tested for impairment at least annually.

1.7 Revenue recognition

Property portfolio revenue
Property portfolio revenue comprises operating lease income and operating cost recoveries from the letting of investment property. 
Operating lease income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating cost recoveries are invoiced two 
months in arrears from incurring the expense and are accrued for throughout the year to ensure matching. Contingent rents (turnover 
rentals) are included in revenue when the amount can be reliably measured.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest rate method.

1.8 Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying value of assets is reviewed for impairment at each reporting date. Assets are impaired when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. If such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated 
recoverable amounts, the assets are written down to their recoverable amounts.

Recoverable amount is determined as the higher of fair value less costs to sell or value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount for an individual asset, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In assessing the value in use, the estimated cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is 
allocated to the cash-generating unit expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination.

Impairment losses and the reversal of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss other than those relating to revalued assets, 
in which case the impairment or reversal of impairment is accounted for as a revaluation decrease or increase respectively. In the case 
of a cash-generating unit, an impairment is first allocated to goodwill and then to the other assets in the cash-generating unit on a pro 
rata basis. Impairments to goodwill are not subsequently reversed. An impairment loss is only reversed if there is an indication that 
the impairment loss no longer exists and the recoverable amount increases as a result of a change in estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or 
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairments to goodwill are never reversed.

1.9 Employee short-term benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employees render the related service. 
Short-term employee benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis. The accrual for employee entitlements to salaries, bonuses 
and annual leave represents the amount which the group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay as a result of the 
employees’ services provided up to the reporting date.

Notes to the financial statements continued
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1.10 Letting costs
Installations and lease commissions are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.

Amortisation is provided to write down the cost, less residual value, by equal instalments over the period of the lease.

1.11 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the development or acquisition of qualifying assets are capitalised to the cost of that 
asset until such time as it is substantially ready for its intended use. The capitalisation rate is arrived at by reference to the actual rate 
payable. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

1.12 Operating segments
An operating segment is a component of the company that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 
incur expenses. The operating results are reviewed regularly by executive management to make decisions about and to assess the 
performance of the segment.

On a primary basis the operations are organised into geographical major business segments. The operating segments is reported 
in the manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker (executive management).

1.13 Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than continuing use, are classified as held for sale. 
Investment property classified as held for sale is measured in terms of IAS 40 — ‘Investment Property’ at fair value with gains and 
losses on subsequent measurement being recognised in profit or loss.

1.14 Stated capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. External costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown as a deduction 
in equity from the proceeds.

1.15 Key estimates and assumptions
Estimates and assumptions, an integral part of financial reporting, have an impact on the amounts reported for the company’s assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Judgement in these areas is based on historical experience and reasonable expectations relating to 
future events. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Information on the key estimations and uncertainties that have the 
most significant effect on amounts recognised are set out in the following notes to the financial statements:

 › Accounting policies — notes 1.3, 1.4, 1.8
 › Investment property valuation — note 3
 › Goodwill — note 10
 › Impairment of receivables — note 11

Further matters that require key judgement in the preparation of these annual financial statements are:

Payment for the acquisition of investment properties
In the current year, the acquisitions of investment property was treated as property acquisitions in terms of IAS 40 — ‘Investment 
property’. In the opinion of the directors these properties did not constitute a business as defined in terms of IFRS 3, as there were 
not adequate processes identified with these properties to warrant classification as businesses.

Deferred taxation
As the group is a REIT, no provision for current tax has been provided as the Group’s distributable income is paid to the shareholders. 
No deferred tax has been provided on property fair value movements as no capital gains tax is payable on disposal of properties due 
to the REIT legislation. Deferred tax has been provided for based on timing differences as well assessed losses brought forward from 
prior year to be utilised against any potential future tax gains.
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2. Standards and interpretations applicable to the company not yet effective
There are new or revised accounting standards and interpretations in issue that are not yet effective. These include the following 
standards and interpretations that are material to the business and may have an impact on future financial statements, or those for 
which the impact has not yet been assessed. These standards were not early adopted.

Standard  Details of amendments
Annual periods 
beginning on or after

IFRS 9 
Financial 
Instruments

 › A final version of IFRS 9 has been issued which replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. The completed standard comprises guidance on 
Classification and Measurement, Impairment Hedge Accounting and Derecognition:

 » IFRS 9 introduces a new approach to the classification of financial assets, which 
is driven by the business model in which the asset is held and their cash flow 
characteristics. A new business model was introduced which does allow certain 
financial assets to be categorised as “fair value through other comprehensive 
income” in certain circumstances. The requirements for financial liabilities are mostly 
carried forward unchanged from IAS 39. However, some changes were made to the 
fair value option for financial liabilities to address the issue of own credit risk. 

 » The new model introduces a single impairment model being applied to all financial 
instruments, as well as an “expected credit loss” model for the measurement of 
financial assets. 

 » IFRS 9 contains a new model for hedge accounting that aligns the accounting 
treatment with the risk management activities of an entity, in addition enhanced 
disclosures will provide better information about risk management and the effect 
of hedge accounting on the financial statements. 

 » IFRS 9 carries forward the derecognition requirements of financial assets and 
liabilities from IAS 39.

1 January 2018

IFRS 15 
Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers

 › New standard that requires entities to recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 
This core principle is achieved through a five step methodology that is required to 
be applied to all contracts with customers.

 › The new standard will also result in enhanced disclosures about revenue, provide 
guidance for transactions that were not previously addressed comprehensively and 
improve guidance for multiple-element arrangements.

 › The new standard supersedes:
 » IAS 11 Construction Contracts; 
 » IAS 18 Revenue; 
 » IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes; 
 » IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; 
 » IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers; and 
 » SIC-31 Revenue — Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

1 January 2018

IFRS 16 
Leases

 › New standard that introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee 
to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, 
unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-
use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability 
representing its obligation to make lease payments. A lessee measures right-of-use 
assets similarly to other non-financial assets (such as property, plant and equipment) 
and lease liabilities similarly to other financial liabilities. As a consequence, a lessee 
recognises depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease liability, 
and also classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion and 
an interest portion and presents them in the statement of cash flows applying IAS 7 
Statement of Cash Flows.

1 January 2019
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Standard  Details of amendments
Annual periods 
beginning on or after

IFRS 16 
Leases continued

 › IFRS 16 contains expanded disclosure requirements for lessees. Lessees will need to 
apply judgement in deciding upon the information to disclose to meet the objective of 
providing a basis for users of financial statements to assess the effect that leases have 
on the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the lessee.

 › IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. 
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance 
leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently.

 › IFRS 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors that will improve 
information disclosed about a lessor’s risk exposure, particularly to residual value risk.

 › IFRS 16 supersedes the following Standards and Interpretations:
 » IAS 17 Leases;
 » IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease;
 » SIC-15 Operating Leases—Incentives; and
 » SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

1 January 2019

IAS 7 
Statement 
of Cash Flows

 › Disclosure Initiative: Amendments requiring entities to disclose information about 
changes in their financing liabilities. The additional disclosures will help investors to 
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including changes from 
cash flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign exchange gains or losses).

1 January 2017

IAS 40 
Investment 
Properties

 › Transfers of Investment Property: Clarification of the requirements on transfers to, or 
from, investment property.

1 January 2018

Due to the nature of the entity IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 is not expected to have a material impact. Other than these standards the directors 
have not yet determined what the impact of these new Standards and Interpretation on the company will be.
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3. Investment property

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

Stated at fair value

Property acquisitions and development costs  4 332 765 495  2 443 370 041  1 913 939 638 

Accumulated fair value adjustments 58 265 288  37 374 996  463 647 102 

Lease commissions and tenant installation  11 638 661  8 667 551  20 281 038 

Fair value 4 402 669 444  2 489 412 588  2 397 867 778 

Straight line rental income accrual — current year  35 568 556  20 906 412  53 568 600 

4 438 238 000  2 510 319 000  2 451 436 378 

3.1 Movement for the year

Investment properties at the beginning of year  —  —  2 441 574 918 

Tenant installations and lease commissions  11 638 661  8 667 551  13 042 665 

— Capitalised  14 931 379  11 266 447  13 042 665 

— Amortised  (3 292 718)  (2 598 896) —

Disposal of investment property  —  —  (55 843 819)

Acquisitions  4 311 664 142  2 431 800 000  — 

Decrease in straight-lining receivable  —  —  (16 403 812)

Increase in deferred lease incentive expense  —  —  4 583 833 

Change in fair value (note 20) 93 833 844  58 281 408  64 482 593 

— Fair value adjustment 58 265 288  37 374 996  48 078 781 

— Straightline rental income  35 568 556  20 906 412  16 403 812 

Improvements to buildings  30 471 353  11 570 041  — 

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (note 6)  (9 370 000)  —  (2 451 436 378)

Balance at the end of the year 4 438 238 000  2 510 319 000  — 

Reconciliation to valuation

Investment properties carrying amount 4 402 669 444  2 489 412 588  2 397 867 778 

Straight line rental income accrual  35 568 556  20 906 412  53 568 600 

Non-current assets held for sale (note 6)  9 370 000  —  (2 451 436 378)

Investment properties per valuations 4 447 608 000  2 510 319 000  — 

Full details of investment properties owned by the company are contained in the register of investment properties which is open for 
inspection by shareholders at the registered office of the company.

In terms of the accounting policy, the portfolio is valued annually. One third of the properties were valued by Real Insight and Yield 
Enhancement Solutions, registered valuers in terms of Section 19 of the Property Valuers Professional Act (Act No 47 of 2000). 
The remaining properties were valued by the directors.

The valuations were performed using the discounted cash flow methodology. This method is based on an open market basis with 
consideration given to the future earnings potential and applying an appropriate capitalisation rate. Refer to note 31 for the fair 
value hierarchy.
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3. Investment property continued
The key assumptions used by the group in determining the fair value were in the following ranges:

Sector

 Group
average yield
high/low (%)

Industrial 

 Discount rate 18,75/17,13

 Exit CAP rate 11,75/10,13

Commercial

 Discount rate 18,75/16,00

 Exit CAP rate 11,50/9,50

Retail 

 Discount rate 18,13/16,88

 Exit CAP rate 10,88/9,88

Sector

 Group
average yield

(%)

Industrial 10,94

Commercial 10,50

Retail 10,38

Other assumptions
Vacancy — market related rental per m² is applied to vacant pockets during the forecasted 12-month period.

Income increases — average rental income percentage increases as per leases in place ranging from 5,5% to 10,0% (2016: 5,5% to 12,0%).

Expense increases — average expense percentage increases as per negotiations with suppliers ranging from 5,5% to 10,0% 
(2016: 6,0% to 10,0%). Repairs and maintenance were evaluated on a property by property basis.
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R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

4. Straight line rental income accrual
Balance at the beginning of the year  —  —  69 972 000 

Movement for the year  35 568 556  20 906 412  (16 403 812)

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (note 6)  —  —  (53 568 188)

Balance at the end of the year  35 568 556  20 906 412  — 

5. Deferred taxation
Balance at the beginning of the year  2 011 406  2 011 406  343 211 

Movement in profit or loss and other comprehensive income  —  —  1 668 195 

Balance at the end of the year  2 011 406  2 011 406  2 011 406 

Comprising

Fair value of derivative financial instruments  1 558 639  1 558 639  1 558 639 

Deferred tax asset arising from prior year assessed loss  660 428  660 428  660 428 

Allowance for future expenditure  (627 940)  (627 940)  (627 940)

Income received in advance  1 423 718  1 423 718  1 423 718 

Prepayments  (1 988 701)  (1 988 701)  (1 988 701)

Provision for doubtful debts  985 262  985 262  985 262 

 2 011 406  2 011 406  2 011 406 

Deferred tax balances

Deferred tax liabilities  —  —  — 

Deferred tax assets  2 011 406  2 011 406  2 011 406 

 2 011 406  2 011 406  2 011 406 

6. Non-current assets held for sale
This consists of investment property that will be recovered through 
sale in the next financial year

Balance at the beginning of the year  2 451 435 378  2 451 435 378  — 

Gemgrow transaction  (2 451 435 378)  (2 451 435 378)  2 451 435 378 

Corpgro Welkom  3 370 000  —  — 

Town Talk Nelspruit  6 000 000  —  — 

Balance at the end of the year  9 370 000  —  2 451 435 378 

In the prior year Gemgrow has classified all of its existing properties as non-current assets held for sale in terms of IFRS 5 as a 
consequence of the strategic transaction with Vukile and Arrowhead. Post the implementation of this transaction Gemgrow has 
continued its operations as a property investment company.
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R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

7. Property, plant and equipment
Computer equipment  163 673  163 673  — 

 Cost  179 185  179 185  — 

 Accumulated depreciation  (15 512)  (15 512)  — 

Movement for the year  

Balance at beginning of year  —  —  — 

Net acquisitions  179 185  179 185  — 

 Computer equipment  179 185  179 185  — 

Depreciation  (15 512)  (15 512)  — 

 Computer equipment  (15 512)  (15 512)  — 

 163 673  163 673  — 

8. Loans to executives
Balance at the beginning of the year  —  —  — 

Advances  162 897 882  —  — 

Interest charged on loans  15 390 330  —  — 

Dividend repayments on loans  (11 970 330) — —

Repayments  (40 724 461)  —  — 

Amounts transferred to trade and other receivables (note 11)  (3 420 000) — —

Balance at the end of the year  122 173 421  —  — 

Owing by the following directors:

G Leissner

2017 year — Issued 6 000 000 Gemgrow B shares at R6,79  40 724 461  —  — 

M Kaplan

2017 year — Issued 6 000 000 Gemgrow B shares at R6,79  40 724 461  —  — 

I Suleman

2017 year — Issued 6 000 000 Gemgrow B shares at R6,79  40 724 461  —  — 

A Kirkel

2017 year — Issued 3 000 000 Gemgrow B shares at R6,79  20 362 250  —  — 

J Limalia

2017 year — Issued 3 000 000 Gemgrow B shares at R6,79  20 362 250  —  — 

 162 897 883  —  — 

2017 year — Repayment — disposal of G Leissner 6 000 000 shares  (40 724 461)  —  — 

 122 173 422  —  — 

During the year under review, pursuant to the transaction and for purposes of incentivising certain executives, loans of R162,9 million 
were issued to these executives. The recipients included the executive directors of Gemgrow. The loans bear interest at a rate equal to the 
dividend of the company for the period ending 30 September 2017 and is calculated at 31 December, 31 March, 30 June and 30 September.

The shares have been pledged as security against the loans.

The dividends received on the shares are used to repay the interest accumulated on the loans.
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9. Interest in subsidiaries and loans (from)/to holding company

9.1 Investments

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

Cumulative

100% of Cumulative — at cost  —  2 082 257 010  — 

100% of GAM — at cost  —  160 618 654  — 

Impairment of investment in GAM  — (160 618 654)  — 

 — 2 082 257 010  — 

Cumulative is a property company that operates in South Africa.

The investment in GAM has been impaired to R Nil due to the fact that the company has no assets and is dormant.

9.2 Loans to/(from) holding company and subsidiaries

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

Owing by Arrowhead 80 002 300 — —

Owing by Cumulative — 41 730 644 —

Owing to Arrowhead (45 000 000) (45 000 000) —

35 002 300 (3 269 356) —

Shown on statement of financial position as:

Interest in subsidiaries  — 2 082 257 010  — 

Short-term portion — loans to holding company 80 002 300 41 730 644 —

Short-term portion — loans from holding company (45 000 000) (45 000 000) —

35 002 300 2 078 987 654 —

The loans are unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment.

10. Business combinations
The Vukile asset exchange and Cumulative share acquisition were accounted for as asset acquisitions, whilst the acquisition of GAM 
was accounted for as a business combination.

In respect of the acquisition of GAM:

The purchase consideration for the acquisition of GAM was R160 618 654 settled by the issue of 22 945 522 shares at the ruling price 
of R7 per share on the date of the transaction.
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10. Business combinations continued
The net value of the assets and liabilities acquired on 1 October 2016 amounts to zero, a breakdown of which is reflected as follows:

R
Group

2017

Description

Trade and other receivables  3 099 903 

Current tax asset  125 965 

Cash and cash equivalents  146 046 

Total assets  3 371 914 

Trade and other payables 3 125 320

Loans from shareholders  102 245 

Dividends payable  144 349 

Total liabilities  3 371 914 

Net assets Nil

The resultant goodwill was R160 618 654, representing the cost of acquiring the asset management contracts which have since 
been internalised.

R
Group

2017

Goodwill

Cost  160 618 654 

Movement for the year

Opening balance —

Additions through business combinations  160 618 654 

 160 618 654 

The goodwill that arose was due to the expected synergies between the two companies.

The goodwill that arose was allocated to the Gemgrow cash generating unit. The goodwill was tested at year-end for impairment by 
comparing the carrying amount to the value in use. The cash flows used in the value in use calculation was the forecast distribution for 
the 2018 financial year capitalised at a rate of 10,2%. The following key assumptions were applied in calculating the forecast distribution:

 › Average rental increase — 7%
 › Average increase in operating costs — 6,5%

All profits will be distributed to shareholders and thus no tax is payable.

Impairment of goodwill
The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is based on the higher of the fair value less cost to sell or value-in-use calculations. 
The calculations use discounted cashflow projections based on financial forecasts over a three-year period.

The discount rate used in the cashflow model is 10,2%.

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time-value of money and risks specied to the 
cash-generating unit.

The growth rate used in forecasted cashflows are estimated at 6%. A reasonable change in the assumptions applied would not result 
in the carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount.

Therefore no impairment is required.
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11. Trade and other receivables

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

Trade receivables 24 122 756 14 319 218  21 133 905 

Allowance for impairments of trade receivables  (3 662 318)  (2 353 128)  (4 691 722)

20 460 439 11 966 090  16 442 183 

Short-term portion of loans to executives (note 8)  3 420 000  —  — 

Municipal deposits  8 114 699  6 362 269  2 892 296 

Other receivables 42 476 653 46 592 935  21 177 657 

Taxation receivable — SA current  125 965  125 965  — 

74 597 756 65 047 259  40 512 136 

Ageing of receivables past due but not impaired

As at 30 September 2017 trade receivables of R8 661 809 
(2016: R12 977 000) were past due but not impaired

30 days  3 413 338  787 827  4 502 000 

60 days  1 455 145  354 466  1 457 000 

90 days  975 071  136 856  — 

120 days  521 175  59 456  763 000 

120+ days 2 297 080  703 413  6 255 000 

Total  8 661 809  2 042 018  12 977 000 

Movement on the allowance for impairments of trade receivables

Balance at the beginning of the year  4 691 722  4 691 722  5 232 259 

Impairment losses recognised on receivables  (4 054 487)  (4 054 487)  453 658 

Bad debts written off/(recovered)  3 025 083  1 715 893  (994 195)

Balance at the end of the year  3 662 318  2 353 128  4 691 722 

The allowance for doubtful debts has been determined on a tenant by tenant basis.

Receivables past due but not impaired are believed collectable due to the nature of the tenant and payment history.

12. Cash and cash equivalents

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

For purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise:

Cash on call 56 495 812 34 945 002  15 184 998 

Current account — —  8 552 712 

56 495 812 34 945 002  23 737 710 
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13. Stated capital

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

Authorised

1 000 000 000 A ordinary no par value shares

2 000 000 000 B ordinary no par value shares

Issued

47 352 203 (2016: 47 352 203) A shares at R0,01  473 522  473 522  473 522 

400 710 459 (2016: 106 352 670) B shares at R0,01  2 223 198 828  2 223 198 828  1 062 527 

Costs of strategic repositioning  (10 936 382)  (10 936 382)  (10 936 382)

Capital conversion of debentures to stated capital net of costs 
of conversion of debentures  971 305 336  971 305 336  951 872 757 

 3 184 041 304  3 184 041 304  942 472 424 

Shares in issue  448 062 662  448 062 662  153 704 873 

A Shares in issue  47 352 203  47 352 203  47 352 203 

B Shares in issue  400 710 459  400 710 459  106 352 670 

14. Secured financial liabilities

Standard Bank

Loan number 000144727

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, bears 
interest at a variable rate linked to 3 months JIBAR plus 2,35% 
repayable on 30 September 2019.  139 000 000  139 000 000  162 000 000 

Loan number 000297227

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, bears 
interest at prime less 1,60% and is repayable on 30 September 2017.  50 000 000  50 000 000  50 000 000 

Loan number 000146374

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, bears 
interest at prime less 1,10% and is repayable on 30 September 2019.  4 000 000  4 000 000 —

Nedbank

Loan number 30133940

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, bears 
interest at prime less 1,5% and is repayable on 31 January 2018.  234 998 318  234 998 318  235 003 586 

Loan number 30143884

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, bears 
interest at prime less 1,5% and is repayable on 1 November 2018.  200 673 612  200 673 612  200 678 112 
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14. Secured financial liabilities continued

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

FirstRand Bank Limited (“RMB”)

Loan number 000003173

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, bears 
interest at a fixed rate of 9,14% and is repayable on 31 December 2017.  90 000 000  90 000 000  90 000 000 

Loan number 000003174

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, bears 
interest at a fixed rate of 8,36% and is repayable on 31 December 2017.  146 705 000  146 705 000  146 705 000 

Loan number 000003253

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, bears 
interest at a variable rate linked to a 1 month JIBAR plus 2,3% 
repayable on 31 December 2017.  28 295 000  28 295 000  28 295 000 

Loan number 000006076

Secured by a mortgage bond over investment properties, bears 
interest at a variable rate linked to a 1 month JIBAR plus 1,65% 
repayable on 31 December 2017.  25 042 750  25 042 750  25 042 750 

Total debt  918 714 680  918 714 680  937 724 448 

Less: Loan raising costs  (283 687)  (283 687)  (825 344)

 918 430 993  918 430 993  936 899 104

Shown on statement of financial position as:

Long-term portion  343 389 925  343 389 925  361 852 768 

Short-term portion  575 041 068  575 041 068  575 046 336 

 918 430 993  918 430 993  936 899 104

The above are secured over investment properties valued at R2,51 billion (2016: R2,43 billion).

At year-end, the company’s unutilised loan facilities amounted to R55 million, the gearing ratio was 20,65% (2016: 38,3%) and the average 
all inclusive rate of interest was 9,33%.
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15. Derivative financial instruments

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

Nedbank

Long-term cancellable interest rate swaps

R60 million at a fixed quarter JIBAR 3-month rate of 7,08%, 
maturing on 1 June 2017  —  —  (107 337)

R50 million at a fixed quarter JIBAR 1-month rate of 7,65%, 
maturing on 1 June 2017  —  —  120 409 

R40 million at a fixed quarter JIBAR 3-month rate of 10,49%, 
maturing on 19 February 2019  718 291  718 291  619 489 

R50 million at a fixed prime rate minus 1,60% month rate of 9,92%, 
maturing on 19 February 2019  966 818  966 818  891 732 

 1 685 109  1 685 109  1 524 293 

The fair value of the interest rate swap derivative was determined 
by Nedbank Capital and relates to the fixed rate swaps relative to 
3-month JIBAR.

Standard Bank

Long-term cancellable interest rate swaps

R80 million at a fixed quarter JIBAR 3-month rate of 10,20%, 
maturing on 30 September 2019  1 743 327  1 743 327  1 023 103 

R40 million at a fixed quarter JIBAR rate of 10,70%, 
maturing 1 July 2019  999 853  999 853  794 878 

R50 million at a fixed quarter JIBAR 3-month rate of 10,99%, 
maturing on 1 September 2020  2 054 598  2 054 598  1 490 906 

R40 million at a fixed quarter JIBAR rate of 10,76%, 
maturing 1 July 2019  958 452  958 452  733 389 

 5 756 230  5 756 230  4 042 276 

The derivative instruments were valued by the Standard Bank of 
South Africa Limited by discounting the future cash flows using the 
JIBAR swap curve — refer to note 31 for the fair value hierarchy.

Total derivatives  7 441 339  7 441 339  5 566 569 

Shown on the statement of financial position as follows:

Non-current liabilities  7 441 339  7 441 339  5 553 497 

Current assets  —  —  (107 337)

Current liabilities  —  —  120 409 

 7 441 339  7 441 339  5 566 569 
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R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

16. Trade and other payables
Trade creditors 4 435 341 1 598 720  2 922 901 

Rental income received in advance 10 678 315 9 540 441  5 796 567 

Interest payable accrual  —  —  5 823 169 

Operating expense accruals 64 042 995 58 878 387  54 321 282 

Value added taxation 6 927 648 2 462 527  2 403 592 

Tenant deposits  40 703 564  23 849 272  13 070 908 

126 787 863 96 329 347  84 338 419 

17. Dividend received
Distributions received

— Cumulative Limited  — 209 628 919  — 

 — 209 628 919  — 

18. Net operating profit
Net operating profit includes the following items:

Charges

Audit fees — current year  500 000  500 000  350 700 

Audit fees — prior year under provision  362 000  362 000  — 

Depreciation  15 512  15 512  — 

Bad debts  5 378 211  4 069 021  453 

Professional services fee 1 689 691 1 574 782  — 

Property management fees  18 843 161  10 394 409 11 802 392

19. Directors’ emoluments

19.1 Fees paid to executive directors

30 September 2017

M Kaplan * — — —

J Limalia  1 317 691  1 317 691  — 

A Kirkel  1 324 613  1 324 613  — 

GS Moseneke  —  —  1 364 000 

RC Hawton  —  —  1 125 000 

  2 642 304  2 642 304  2 489 000 

* The CEO is remunerated by the company’s holding company, Arrowhead, and for the group (including Gemgrow), his total remuneration was R4 677 359.
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2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

19. Directors’ emoluments continued

19.2 Fees paid to non-executive directors

30 September 2017

G Kinross  401 003  401 003  — 

C Abrams  285 187  285 187  — 

A Basserabie  241 520  241 520  — 

A Rehman  285 187  285 187  — 

MJ Kuscus  82 613  82 613  165 225 

LX Mtumtum  88 975  88 975  177 950 

SJ Segar  63 538  63 538  127 075 

I Zwarenstein  63 538  63 538  127 075 

LG Rapp  69 894  69 894  139 788 

MJ Potts  38 125  38 125  76 250 

1 619 580 1 619 580  813 363 

Directors’ fees paid to non-executive 
directors are in respect of services rendered  4 261 884  4 261 884  3 302 363 

Fixed-term contracts are in place for the executive directors.

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

20. Changes in fair values 
Gain on revaluation of investment property 93 833 844  58 281 408  48 078 781 

Straight line rental income accrual on investment property (note 4)  (35 568 556)  (20 906 412)  16 403 812 

Fair value gains on investment property (note 3) 58 265 288  37 374 996  64 482 593 

Post acquisition fair value adjustment  7 016 879  7 016 879 —

Derivative instruments  (1 874 770)  (1 874 770) —

63 407 397  42 517 105  64 482 593 

21. Finance charges
Interest paid on loans  86 860 095  86 860 095  45 828 527 

Interest paid on interest rate swaps  3 261 805  3 261 805 —

Amortisation of loan raising costs 776 936 776 943  391 265 

Other interest paid  678 999 678 315  1 093 

 91 577 835 91 577 158  46 220 885 
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22. Finance income
Interest received on bank balances outstanding  3 726 473 —  679 937 

Interest received loans to executives  15 390 330 — —

Interest received from subsidiary —  2 107 423 —

Interest on debtors  836 218  378 568  549 112 

Interest received other  515 626 — —

 20 468 647  2 485 991  1 229 049 

23. Taxation
South African normal tax

— deferred tax — —  109 554 

Reconciliation of taxation charge

Profit before tax at 28% 118 256 710 68 769 927  27 833 727 

Taxation effect of:

 Unprovided timing differences (17 754 071) (11 904 790) (833 370)

 Non-taxable income — —  (4 128 870)

 Permanent differences  (9 959 196) 39 119 428  (8 390 265)

 Qualifying distribution (90 543 443) (95 984 565)  (14 371 668)

— — 109 554

No provision for normal taxation has been made as the group has an estimated loss for tax purposes of R Nil million (2016: R Nil million).

No provision for normal taxation has been made as the company has an estimated loss for tax purposes of R Nil million (2016: R Nil million).

24. Earnings and headline earnings

R
Group

2017
Company

2016

Number of A shares in issue 47 352 203 47 352 203

Number of B shares in issue 400 710 459 106 352 670

Weighted average number of A shares in issue 47 352 203 47 352 203

Weighted average number of B shares in issue 400 710 459  106 352 670 

Reconciliation of earnings, headline earnings 
and distributable earnings

Profit for the year 422 345 393  99 515 722 

Earnings 422 345 393  99 515 722 

Change in fair value of investment property (note 3) (58 265 288)  (64 482 593)

Loss on sale of investment property (7 016 879)  2 396 729 

Headline earnings attributable to shareholders adjusted for 357 063 226  37 429 858 
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24. Earnings and headline earnings continued

R
Group

2017
Company

2016

Basic and diluted earnings per A share (cents) 94,26  64,74 

Basic and diluted earnings per B share (cents) 94,26  64,74 

Headline earnings per A share (cents) 79,69  24,35 

Headline earnings per B share (cents) 79,69  24,35 

Given the nature of its business, Gemgrow uses dividend per share as its key performance measure as it is considered a more relevant 
performance measure than earnings or headline earnings per share.

25. Note to the cash flow statement

25.1 The following convention applies to figures other than adjustments
Outflows of cash are represented by figures in brackets. Inflows of cash are represented by figures without brackets.

25.2 Cash generated from operation

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

Profit before taxation 422 345 393 245 606 882  99 406 168 

Adjusted for 

Non cash items: (24 274 848) (20 444 521)  (11 768 625)

 Changes in fair values (56 390 518) (35 500 226)  (64 482 593)

 Straight line rental income accrual (note 4)  (35 568 556)  (20 906 412)  16 403 812 

 Loss on sale of investment properties (7 016 879) (7 016 879)  2 396 729 

 Derivative financial instruments matured during the year  —  —  (141 027)

 Cost of strategic repositioning  —  —  (10 937 382)

 Dividends received (note 17)  — (209 628 919) —

 Depreciation (note 7)  15 512  15 512  — 

 Impairment of investments — 160 618 654 —

 Amortisation of tenant installations and lease commission 3 292 718 2 598 895  — 

 Amortisation of structuring fee  283 687  283 687  — 

 Finance income  (20 468 647)  (2 485 991)  (1 229 049)

 Finance charges  91 577 835 91 577 158  46 220 885 

Operating profit before working capital changes 398 070 545 225 162 361  87 637 543 

Working capital changes 8 363 825 (12 544 195)  15 842 657 

 Trade and other receivables (34 085 620) (24 534 123)  (13 214 292)

 Trade and other payables 42 449 445 11 989 928  29 056 949 

406 434 370 212 618 166  103 480 200 
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26. Capital commitments

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

Acquisition of investment properties and improvements 
to existing properties

— approved and committed  590 097 742  412 842 000 —

— approved not yet committed  19 020 032  3 000 000 —

 609 117 774  415 842 000 —

* Debt of R600 million to fund acquisitions finalised and hedged at a 5-year fixed interest rate of 9,74%.

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

27. Minimum lease payments receivable
Minimum lease payments comprises contractual rental income from 
investment properties and operating lease recoveries due in terms 
of signed lease agreements

 Receivable within one year  507 900 731  300 912 297  218 506 566 

 Receivable two to five years  631 328 192  368 027 786  449 950 716 

 Receivable beyond five years  87 272 615  48 593 220  76 693 168 

 1 226 501 538  717 533 303  745 150 450 

28. Related parties and related party transactions
Parties are considered related if they meet the definition of a related 
party in terms of IAS 24.

Relationships

Ultimate holding company — Arrowhead

Subsidiaries — Refer to note 10

Fellow subsidiaries — Indluplace; Vividend 

Directors’ emoluments  4 261 884  4 261 884  3 302 363 

 Executive directors (note 19)  2 642 304  2 642 304  2 489 000 

 Non-executive directors (note 19)  1 619 580  1 619 580  813 363 

Balances owing by related parties

Loans to directors (note 8)  122 173 421  —  — 

Transactions

Interest received from subsidiaries (note 22)  —  2 107 423  — 

Interest received from loans to executives (note 22)  15 390 330  —  — 

Loan to holding company 80 002 300  —  — 

Loan from holding company 45 000 000  —  — 

Loan to subsidiary  — 41 730 644  — 
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29. Financial risk management
The group’s financial instruments consists mainly of deposits with banks, interest bearing liabilities, derivative instruments, trade and 
other receivables and trade and other payables. Book value approximates fair value in respect of these financial instruments.

Exposure to market, credit and liquidity risks arises in the normal course of business.

The table below sets out the classification of each class of financial asset and liability.

R

At
amortised

cost

At fair
value through
profit or loss

Non-financial
instrument Total

Group

As at 30 September 2017

Trade and other receivables Variable 74 597 756  —  — 74 597 756

Loans to executives Equal to dividend  122 173 421  —  —  122 173 421 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,25 56 495 812  —  — 56 495 812

Total financial assets 253 266 989  —  — 253 266 989

Secured financial liabilities 9,33  918 430 993  —  —  918 430 993 

Derivative instruments Average 10,51  —  7 441 339  —  7 441 339 

Trade and other payables Variable 109 181 901  — 17 605 963 126 787 864

Total financial liabilities 1 027 612 894 7 441 339 17 605 963 1 052 660 196

Company

As at 30 September 2017

Trade and other receivables Variable 65 047 259  —  — 65 047 259

Cash and cash equivalents 5,25 34 945 002  —  —  34 961 221 

Loans to holding company  80 002 300  —  —  80 002 300 

Total financial assets 179 994 561  —  — 179 994 561

Secured financial liabilities 9,33  918 430 993  —  —  918 430 993 

Derivative instruments Average 10,51  —  7 441 339  —  7 441 339 

Trade and other payables Variable 84 326 379  — 12 002 968 96 329 347

Loans from holding company  45 000 000  —  —  45 000 000 

Total financial liabilities 1 047 757 372  7 441 339 12 002 968 1 067 201 679

As at 30 September 2016

Trade and other receivables Variable  40 512 136  —  —  40 512 136 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,25  23 737 710  —  —  23 737 710 

Total financial assets  64 249 846  —  —  64 249 846 

Secured financial liabilities 9,16  936 899 104  —  —  936 899 104 

Derivative instruments 10,1  —  5 553 497  —  5 553 497 

Trade and other payables  76 138 260  —  8 200 159  84 338 419 

Total financial liabilities  1 013 037 364  5 553 497  8 200 159  1 026 791 020 
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29. Financial risk management continued
Interest rate risk
The group manages its exposure to changes in interest rates by hedging its exposure to interest rates in respect of the majority of 
its borrowings either in the form of fixed rate loans or interest rate swaps. At year-end, interest rates in respect of 58% (2016: 90%) 
of borrowings were hedged.

The average rate of interest for the year was 9,33%. The value of unhedged borrowings is R382 million (2016 : R207 million), and as a result, 
the company’s unhedged exposure is immaterial at year end.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial commitments as and when they fall due. This risk 
is managed by holding cash balances and a revolving loan facility and by regularly monitoring cash flows.

The group will utilise undrawn facilities and cash on hand to meet its short term funding requirements.

A maturity analysis of the company’s financial assets and liabilities and its exposure to interest rate risk at year-end are set out 
in the proceeding table:

R

 Weighted
average effective

interest rate % 
 Less than

one year 
 One to

five years 
 More than

five years Total

Group

As at 30 September 2017

Trade and other receivables 74 597 756  —  — 74 597 756

Loans to executives Equal to dividend  —  122 173 421  —  122 173 421 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,25 56 495 812  —  — 56 495 812

Total financial assets 131 093 568  122 173 421  — 253 266 989

Secured financial liabilities 9,33  575 041 068  343 389 925  —  918 430 993 

Interest outflow on secured 
financial liabilities  53 651 332  214 605 326  —  268 256 658 

Trade and other payables 126 787 864  —  — 126 787 864

Derivative instruments Average 10,51  —  7 441 339  —  7 441 339 

Total financial liabilities 755 480 264  565 436 590  — 1 320 916 854

Company

As at 30 September 2017

Trade and other receivables 65 047 259  —  — 65 047 259

Cash and cash equivalents 5,25 34 945 002  —  — 34 945 002

Total financial assets 99 992 261  —  — 99 992 261

Secured financial liabilities 9,33  575 041 068  343 389 925  —  918 430 993 

Interest outflow on secured 
financial liabilities  53 651 332  214 605 326  —  268 256 658 

Trade and other payables 96 329 347  —  — 96 329 347

Loans from subsidiaries 45 000 000  —  — 45 000 000

Derivative instruments Average 10,51 —  7 441 339  —  7 441 339 

Total financial liabilities 770 021 747  565 436 590  — 1 335 458 337
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29. Financial risk management continued

R

 Weighted
average effective

interest rate % 
 Less than

one year 
 One to

five years 
 More than

five years Total

Company

As at 30 September 2016

Trade and other receivables  40 512 136  —  —  40 512 136 

Deferred capital expenditure  —  601 430  —  601 430 

Cash and cash equivalents  23 737 710  —  —  23 737 710 

Total financial assets  64 249 846  601 430  —  64 851 276 

Secured financial liabilities 9,16  575 046 336  362 678 112  —  937 724 448 

Trade and other payables  78 543 849  —  —  78 543 849 

Derivative instruments  120 409  —  —  120 409 

Total financial liabilities  653 710 594  362 678 112  —  1 016 388 706 

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the risk that a tenant may default or not meet its obligations timeously. The financial position of the tenants 
are monitored on an ongoing basis. The risk is minimised as receivables are spread over a wide customer base. Allowance is made 
for specific doubtful debts and credit risk is therefore limited to the carrying amount of the financial asset at year-end.

Receivables past due but not impaired are believed collectable due to the nature of the tenant and payment history.

Other than secured financial liabilities on investment properties, no other assets have been issued as collateral or security.

The impairment allowance at 30 September 2017 of R3,7 million (2016: R4,7 million), net of tenant deposits and guarantees, relates 
to tenants who have either vacated the premises or who have been handed over for non payment.

The credit quality of receivables neither past due nor impaired are considered satisfactory.

Management does not consider there to be any credit risk exposure that is not already covered in the impairment. The carrying value 
of receivables is considered to reasonably approximate fair value.

Credit exposure
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting 
date was:

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

Derivative financial asset — financial instruments — —  107 337 

Tenant and related receivables (net of provision for bad debts) 20 460 439 11 966 090  19 334 479 

Other receivables 42 476 653 46 592 935  21 177 657 

Cash and cash equivalents 56 495 812 34 945 002  23 737 710 

119 432 904 93 504 027  64 357 183 
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30. Capital management
The company’s borrowings are limited to 45% (2016: 50%) of the valuation of the investment property portfolio in terms of the existing 
debt covenants and unlimited in terms of the memorandum of incorporation of the company.

As at 30 September 2017, the unutilised borrowing capacity of the company was as follows:

R
Group

2017
Company

2017
Company

2016

Investment properties at valuation 4 447 608 000  2 510 319 000  2 451 436 378 

45% thereof (2016: 50%) 2 001 423 600 1 129 643 550  1 225 718 189 

Total borrowings  (918 714 680)  (918 714 680)  (937 724 448)

Unutilised borrowing capacity 1 082 708 920 210 928 870  287 993 741 

31. Fair value hierarchy
The different levels have been defined as:

Level 1 — fair value is determined from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical asset or liabilities;
Level 2 — fair value is determined through the use of valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 — fair value is determined through the use of valuation techniques using significant inputs.

The derivative instruments are valued using a level 2 model.

Investment property is valued using a level 3 model.

Measurement of fair value for level 3.

Investment property is measured using the discounted net cashflow method. Using the expected net income an appropriate capitalisation 
rate is applied. During the year under review, 36% of the property portfolio was valued externally with the balance being valued by 
the executive directors.

The key inputs are as follows:

 › Expected net operating income;
 › Discount rate;
 › Growth rate; and
 › Vacancy factor.

R
Designated at

fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Group

Year ended 30 September 2017

Investment property 
(including non-current assets held for sale) 4 447 608 000 — — 4 447 608 000

Total assets 4 447 608 000 — — 4 447 608 000

Financial liabilities  7 441 339 —  7 441 339 —

Interest rate swaps  7 441 339 —  7 441 339 —

Total liabilities  7 441 339 —  7 441 339 —
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31. Fair value hierarchy continued

R
Designated at

fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Company

Year ended 30 September 2017

Investment property 
(including non-current assets held for sale) 2 510 319 000 — —  2 510 319 000 

Total assets  2 510 319 000 — —  2 510 319 000 

Financial liabilities  7 441 339 —  7 441 339 —

Interest rate swaps  7 441 339 —  7 441 339 —

Total liabilities  7 441 339 —  7 441 339 —

Year ended 30 September 2016

Investment property 
(including non-current assets held for sale) — — — —

Financial assets  107 337 —  107 337 —

Interest rate swaps  107 337 —  107 337 —

Total assets  107 337 —  107 337 —

Financial liabilities  5 673 906 —  5 673 906 —

Interest rate swaps  5 673 906 —  5 673 906 —

Total liabilities  5 673 906 —  5 673 906 —

32. Subsequent events
Gemgrow will take transfer of the properties relating to its acquisition post year-end. The company has secured acquisitions to the 
value of R580 million, at a weighted average yield of 11,85%, funded with hedge debt facilities.
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33. Operating segments
The entity has four reportable segments based on the geographic split of the country which are the entity’s strategic business segments. 
For each strategic business segment, the entity’s executive directors review internal management reports on a monthly basis. All segments 
are located in South Africa. There are no single major customers.

The following summary describes the operations in each of the entity’s reportable segments.

R Gauteng KwaZulu-Natal Western Cape Other Total

Geographical

30 September 2017

Contractual rental income  421 238 203  70 967 121  94 997 619  78 862 569  666 065 512 

Straight line rental income  18 738 424  2 932 792  3 505 951  10 391 389  35 568 556 

Operating and administration costs  (160 143 865)  (24 385 400)  (35 386 359) (51 671 260) (271 586 884)

Net operating profit  279 832 762  49 514 513  63 117 211 37 582 698 430 047 184

Interest received  605 361  100 348  47 715  19 715 222  20 468 647 

Finance charges  (405 372)  (16 978)  (250 572)  (90 904 913)  (91 577 835)

Net operating profit/(loss)  280 032 752  49 597 883  62 914 354 (33 606 993) 358 937 996

Changes in fair values  1 060 123 (4 743 021)  28 097 892 38 992 402 63 407 397

Reportable segment profit before tax  281 092 875 44 854 862  91 012 247 5 385 409 422 345 393

Taxation — — — — —

Reportable segment profit after tax  281 092 875 44 854 862  91 012 247 5 385 409 422 345 393

Reportable segment assets 2 856 785 702 536 329 320  655 642 976 894 913 023 4 943 671 022

Reportable segment liabilities (41 672 581)  (26 215 774)  (13 530 553) (1 016 241 287) (1 097 660 196)

 2 815 113 122 510 113 545  642 112 423 (121 328 264) 3 846 010 826
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33. Operating segments continued

R Commercial Industrial Retail Overheads Total

Sector

30 September 2017

Contractual rental income  359 066 432  194 342 556  112 656 525 —  666 065 512 

Straight line rental income  24 007 952  7 024 516  4 536 088 —  35 568 556 

Operating and administration costs  (134 088 430)  (74 533 395)  (41 496 659) (21 468 401) (271 586 884)

Net operating profit/(loss)  248 985 954  126 833 676  75 695 954 (21 468 401) 430 047 184

Interest received  331 436  338 749  166 033  19 632 428  20 468 647 

Finance charges  (486 030)  (182 704)  (10 258)  (90 898 843)  (91 577 835)

Net operating income/(loss)  248 831 360  126 989 721  75 851 730 (92 734 815) 358 937 996

Changes in fair values  39 748 283  14 158 466 4 358 539  5 142 109 63 407 397

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 
before tax  288 579 643  141 148 187 80 210 269 (87 592 707) 422 345 393

Taxation — — — — —

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 
after tax  288 579 643  141 148 187 80 210 269 (87 592 707) 422 345 393

Reportable segment assets 2 511 992 386 1 374 418 296 676 343 358 380 916 983 4 943 671 022

Reportable segment liabilities (29 326 216)  (26 248 381)  (55 948 124) (986 137 475) (1 097 660 196)

 2 482 666 170 1 348 169 914 620 395 234 (605 220 492) 3 846 010 826

No segmental information has been presented for the group for the financial year ended 30 September 2016 as the company owned 
14 properties in prior year of which all was retail.

R
Group

2017
Company

2016

Headline earnings attributable to shareholders adjusted for 357 063 226  37 429 858 

Cost of strategic repositioning —  970 857 

Deferred tax —  (109 554)

Amortisation of loan raising costs —  391 265 

Changes in fair values of financial instruments  1 874 770 —

Straight line rental income accrual (note 4)  (35 568 556)  16 403 812 

Pre-effective date distribution  19 432 579 —

Amounts available for distribution to shareholders 342 802 019  55 086 238 
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Annual general meeting: 29 January 2018

Distribution timetable for the 2018 financial year

Distribution number 1 2 3 4

Three months ended 31 December 2017 31 March 2018 30 June 2018 30 September 2018

Declaration date 14 February 2018 16 May 2018 15 August 2018 21 November 2018

Last day to trade 6 March 2018 5 June 2018 4 September 2018 11 December 2018

Shares trade ex distribution 7 March 2018 6 June 2018 5 September 2018 12 December 2018

Payment date 12 March 2018 11 June 2018 10 September 2018 18 December 2018
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In terms of section 62(3)(e) of the Companies Act:

 › a shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the annual 
general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy/ies to attend, 
participate in and vote at the annual general meeting in the 
place of the shareholder, by completing the form of proxy 
in accordance with the instruction set out therein; and

 › a proxy need not be a shareholder of the company.

Kindly note that in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, 
meeting participants (including proxies) are required to provide 
reasonably satisfactory identification before being entitled 
to attend or participate in the annual general meeting. In this 
regard, all Gemgrow shareholders recorded in the register 
of the company on the voting record date will be required to 
provide identification satisfactory to the chairman of the annual 
general meeting. Forms of identification include valid identity 
documents, driver’s licences and passports.

Ordinary resolution 1

Re-election of G Kinross, C Abrams and A Rehman 
as directors
“Resolved that the following be re-elected as directors of the 
company (each by way of a separate vote):

1.1.  G Kinross who retires in terms of the company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation and who, being eligible, 
offers himself for re-election;

1.2.  C Abrams who retires in terms of the company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation and who, being eligible, 
offers himself for re-election; and

1.3.  A Rehman who retires in terms of the company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation and who, being eligible, 
offers herself for re-election.

Brief curricula vitae in respect of G Kinross, C Abrams and 
A Rehman are set out on page 17 of the integrated annual report 
of which this notice forms part.

The Board has considered each of G Kinross, C Abrams and 
A Rehman’s past performances and contribution to the company 
and recommends that G Kinross, C Abrams and A Rehman be 
re-elected as directors of the company.

Gemgrow Properties Limited
(formerly Synergy Income Fund Limited)
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2007/032604/06)
JSE share code: GPA ISIN: ZAE0000223269
JSE share code: GPB ISIN: ZAE0000223277
(Approved as a REIT by the JSE)
(“Gemgrow” or “the company”)

Notice of annual general 
meeting of A and B shareholders
Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of A and 
B shareholders of Gemgrow (“shareholders”) will be held at the 
offices of Gemgrow, 3rd Floor, Upper Building, 1 Sturdee Avenue, 
Rosebank, Johannesburg on Monday, 29 January 2018 at 11h00 
(the “annual general meeting”) for the purpose of:

 › presenting the directors’ report, the social and ethics committee 
report, the audited annual financial statements containing the 
auditor’s report and the audit and risk committee report of the 
company for the year ended 30 September 2017, as is contained 
in the integrated annual report to which this notice of annual 
general meeting is attached;

 › transacting any other business as may be transacted at 
an annual general meeting of shareholders of a company 
including the re-appointment of the auditors and re-election 
of retiring directors; and

 › considering and, if deemed fit, adopting with or without 
modification, the shareholder ordinary and special resolutions 
set out below.

In terms of section 59(1)(a) and (b) of the Companies Act, 71 of 
2008, as amended (the “Companies Act”), the Board has set the 
record date for the purpose of determining which shareholders 
are entitled to:

 › receive notice of the annual general meeting (being the date on 
which the shareholder must be registered in the share register 
in order to receive notice of the annual general meeting); and

 › participate in and vote at the annual general meeting (being 
the date on which the shareholder must be registered in the 
company’s share register in order to participate in and vote at 
the annual general meeting), as follows:

Event Date

Record date for the receipt of notice purposes Friday, 24 November 2017

Last day to trade in order to be eligible to participate in and vote at the annual general meeting on Tuesday, 16 January 2018

Record date for voting purposes (“voting record date”) on Friday, 19 January 2018

Forms of proxy for the annual general meeting lodged by 11h00 on * Thursday, 25 January 2018

Annual general meeting (at 11h00) on Monday, 29 January 2018

Results of annual general meeting released on SENS on or before Tuesday, 30 January 2018

* Recommended for administrative purposes.
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 › the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be 
of a class already in issue or, where this is not the case, must 
be limited to such shares or rights as are convertible into a 
class already in issue;

 ›  the allotment and issue of shares for cash shall be made only 
to persons qualifying as “public shareholders”, as defined in 
the JSE Listings Requirements, and not to “related parties”;

 ›  shares which are the subject of general issues for cash shall 
not exceed 7 110 000 Gemgrow A shares and 60 106 568 
Gemgrow B shares, being 15% of the company’s total shares 
in issue as at the date of notice of this annual general meeting.

Accordingly, any shares issued under this authority prior to this 
authority lapsing shall be deducted from the 7 110 000 Gemgrow 
A shares and 60 106 568 Gemgrow B shares the company is 
authorised to issue in terms of this authority for the purpose of 
determining the remaining number of shares that may be issued 
in terms of this authority:

 ›  in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of shares, 
prior to this authority lapsing, the existing authority shall be 
adjusted accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio;

 ›  the maximum discount at which the shares may be issued 
is 10% of the weighted average traded price of such shares 
measured over the 30 business days prior to the date that 
the price of the issue is agreed between the company and the 
party subscribing for the shares adjusted for a dividend where 
the “ex” date of the dividend occurs during the 30 day period 
in question;

 › after the company has issued shares in terms of this general 
authority to issue shares for cash representing on a cumulative 
basis within a financial year, 5% or more of the number of 
shares in issue prior to that issue, the company shall publish an 
announcement containing full details of that issue, including:
 » the number of shares issued;
 » the average discount to the weighted average traded price 

of the shares over the 30 business days prior to the date 
that the issue is agreed in writing between the company 
and the party/ies subscribing for the shares; and

 » an explanation, including supporting documentation 
(if any), of the intended use of the funds.”

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, in order for ordinary 
resolution 4 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% of the 
total number of votes exercisable by shareholders, present in 
person or by proxy, is required.

Ordinary resolution 5

Non-binding advisory vote on remuneration policy 
and remuneration implementation report
“5.1  Resolved that on the Board’s recommendation and on 

an advisory basis, the company’s remuneration policy on 
base salary, benefits, short- and long-term incentives for 
executive directors be and is hereby approved.”

In order for each of ordinary resolutions 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 to be adopted, 
the support of more than 50% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required.

Ordinary resolution 2

Re-appointment of members of the audit and 
risk committee
“Resolved that the members of the company’s audit and risk 
committee set out below be and are hereby re-appointed, 
each by way of a separate vote, with effect from the end of 
this annual general meeting. The membership as proposed 
by the remuneration and nomination committee is:

2.1 C Abrams (Chairman);
2.2 A Rehman; and
2.3 A Basserabie,

all of whom are independent non-executive directors.”

Brief curricula vitae of each of the above audit and risk 
committee members are set out on page 17 of the integrated 
annual report.

In order for ordinary resolutions 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 to be adopted, the 
support of more than 50% of the total number of votes exercisable 
by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required.

Ordinary resolution 3

Re-appointment of auditors
“Resolved that Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership, 
together with EFG Dreyer as designated audit partner, be and 
are hereby re-appointed as the auditors of the company from 
the conclusion of this annual general meeting.”

The audit and risk committee has nominated Grant Thornton 
Johannesburg Partnership for appointment as auditors of 
the company under section 90 of the Companies Act and in 
accordance with the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited 
(“JSE Listings Requirements”).

In order for ordinary resolution 3 to be adopted, the support 
of more than 50% of the total number of votes exercisable 
by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required.

Ordinary resolution 4

General authority to issue shares for cash
“Resolved that, subject to the restrictions set out below and 
subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the JSE Listings 
Requirements and the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, 
the directors of the company be and are hereby authorised until 
this authority lapses at the next annual general meeting of the 
company, provided that this authority shall not extend beyond 
15 months, to allot and issue shares in the capital of the company 
for cash on the following basis:
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Ordinary resolution 7

Signature of documentation
“Resolved that any director of the company or the company 
secretary be and is hereby authorised to sign all such documentation 
and do all such things as may be necessary for or incidental to the 
implementation of ordinary resolution numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 
and special resolutions 1, 2, 3 and 4 passed at this annual general 
meeting subject to the terms thereof.”

In order for ordinary resolution 7 to be adopted, the support 
of more than 50% of the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required.

Special resolution 1

Share repurchases
“Resolved as a special resolution that the company or any of its 
subsidiaries be and are hereby authorised by way of a general 
approval to acquire shares issued by the company, in terms of 
sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act and in terms of the 
JSE Listings Requirements being that:

 › any acquisition of shares shall be implemented through the order 
book of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) and without prior arrangement;

 › this general authority shall be valid until the company’s next 
annual general meeting, provided that it shall not extend beyond 
15 months from the date of passing of this special resolution;

 › the company (or any subsidiary) is duly authorised by its 
Memorandum of Incorporation to do so;

 › acquisitions of shares in the aggregate in any one financial 
year may not exceed 20% (or 10% where the acquisitions are 
effected by a subsidiary) of the company’s issued share capital 
as at the date of passing this special resolution;

 › in determining the price at which shares issued by the 
company are acquired by it or any of its subsidiaries in terms of 
this general authority, the maximum premium at which such 
shares may be acquired will be 10% of the weighted average 
of the market value on the JSE over the five business days 
immediately preceding the repurchase of such shares;

 › at any point in time the company (or any subsidiary) may 
appoint only one agent to effect repurchases on its behalf;

 ›  repurchases may not take place during a prohibited period 
(as defined in paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings Requirements) 
unless a repurchase programme is in place (where the dates and 
quantities of shares to be repurchased during the prohibited 
period are fixed) and has been submitted to the JSE in writing 
prior to the commencement of the prohibited period;

 › an announcement will be published as soon as the company 
or any of its subsidiaries have acquired shares constituting on 
a cumulative basis, 3% of the number of shares in issue prior 
to the acquisition pursuant to which the aforesaid threshold 
is reached and for each 3% in aggregate acquired thereafter, 
containing full details of such acquisitions; and

“5.2  Resolved that on an advisory basis the company’s 
remuneration implementation report be and is 
hereby approved.”

Overview
Remuneration is used to incentivise and retain staff thereby 
contributing to succession and long-term sustainability of the 
company. The Gemgrow remuneration policy supports the 
company’s intention to attract high calibre staff as well as 
serving to retain and motivate staff which is in the company’s 
as well as all stakeholders’ best interest.

Annual increases include annual salary increases which are 
inflation related and adjustments benchmarked against industry 
norms. Annual increases are paid subject to satisfactory overall 
performance, stability and position of the company.

Non-executive directors do not receive remuneration or incentive 
rewards related to the price of the company’s shares or corporate 
performance and their fees are approved by shareholders.

The payment of incentive awards to executive directors has 
a performance linked component measured against growth 
in distribution, total return for the year as well as asset-based 
growth, vacancy, loan to value and core portfolio growth. 
The company does not provide any retirement or medical 
aid benefits and these are for the account of the employee. 
The remuneration policy and implementation report can be 
found on pages 67 to 71.

Should the remuneration policy and/or the remuneration 
implementation report be voted against by 25% or more of the 
votes exercised, the board undertakes to actively engage with 
shareholders in order to ascertain the legitimate and reasonable 
objections and concerns thereto and formulate and adopt 
metrics to develop the remuneration and/or implementation 
policy as the case may be, in the next financial year.

Ordinary resolution 6

Specific authority to issue shares pursuant 
to a reinvestment option
“Resolved that, subject to the provisions of the Companies 
Act, the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and the 
JSE Listings Requirements, the directors be and are hereby 
authorised by way of a specific standing authority to issue 
shares, as and when they deem appropriate, for the exclusive 
purpose of affording shareholders opportunities from time to 
time to elect to reinvest their distributions in new shares of 
the company pursuant to a reinvestment option.”

In order for ordinary resolution 6 to be adopted, the support 
of more than 50% of the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required.
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Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in the 
integrated annual report of which this notice forms part, there 
have been no material changes in the affairs or financial position 
of the company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of 
the audit report for the financial year ended 30 September 2017 
and up to the date of this notice.

Reason for special resolution 1
The reason for special resolution 1 is to grant the directors of 
the company (or a subsidiary of the company) general authority 
to effect a repurchase of the company’s shares on the JSE.

Special resolution 2

Financial assistance to related and inter-related parties
“Resolved as a special resolution that, to the extent required by 
the Companies Act, the Board of directors of the company may, 
subject to compliance with the requirements of the company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act and the 
JSE Listings Requirements, each as presently constituted and 
as amended from time to time, authorise the company to 
provide direct or indirect financial assistance, as contemplated 
in section 45 of the Companies Act by way of loans, guarantees, 
the provision of security or otherwise, to any of its present or 
future subsidiaries and/or any other company or corporation 
that is or becomes related or inter-related (as defined in 
the Companies Act) to the company for any purpose or in 
connection with any matter, such authority to endure until the 
next annual general meeting provided that such authority shall 
not extend beyond 2 (two) years, and further provided that 
inasmuch as the company’s provision of financial assistance to 
its subsidiaries will at any and all times be in excess of one-tenth 
of one percent of the company’s net worth, the company hereby 
provides notice to its shareholders of that fact.”

In order for special resolution 2 to be adopted, the support 
of at least 75% of the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required.

Reason for special resolution 2
The company would like the ability to provide financial 
assistance, in appropriate circumstances and if the need arises, 
in accordance with section 45 of the Companies Act. Under the 
Companies Act, the company will, however, require the special 
resolution referred to above to be adopted, provided that the 
Board of directors of the company is satisfied that the terms 
under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given 
are fair and reasonable to the company and, immediately after 
providing the financial assistance, the company would satisfy 
the solvency and liquidity test contemplated in the Companies 
Act. In the circumstances and in order to, inter alia, ensure that 
the company’s subsidiaries and other related and inter-related 
companies and corporations have access to financing and/or 
financial backing from the company (as opposed to banks), 

 › the Board of directors of the company must resolve that the 
repurchase is authorised, the company and its subsidiaries 
have passed the solvency and liquidity test, as set out in 
section 4 of the Companies Act, and since that test was 
performed, there have been no material changes to the 
financial position of the group.”

In order for special resolution 1 to be adopted, the support 
of at least 75% of the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required.

In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the directors 
record that although there is no immediate intention to effect 
a repurchase of the shares of the company, the directors will 
utilise this general authority to repurchase shares as and when 
suitable opportunities present themselves, which may require 
expeditious and immediate action.

The directors undertake that, after considering the maximum 
number of shares that may be repurchased and the price at 
which the repurchases may take place pursuant to the share 
repurchase general authority, for a period of 12 months from 
the date of the repurchase:

 › the company and the group will, in the ordinary course of 
business, be able to pay its debts;

 › the consolidated assets of the company and the group fairly 
valued in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, will exceed the consolidated liabilities of the 
company and the group fairly valued in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards; and

 › the company’s and the group’s share capital, reserves and 
working capital will be adequate for ordinary business purposes.

The following additional information, some of which may appear 
elsewhere in the integrated annual report, is provided in terms 
of paragraph 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements for purposes 
of this general authority:

 › Major beneficial shareholders — pages 51 and 52;
 › Capital structure of the company — pages 47 to 52 and 97 

(note 13)

Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors whose names appear on pages 16 and 17 of 
the integrated annual report of which this notice forms part, 
collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the 
accuracy of the information pertaining to this special resolution 
and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there 
are no facts that have been omitted which would make any 
statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries 
to ascertain such facts have been made and that the special 
resolution contains all information required by the Companies 
Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.
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Special resolution 3

Approval of fees payable to non-executive directors
“Resolved that, as a special resolution, the fees payable by 
the company to non-executive directors for their services 
as non-executive directors (in terms of section 66 of the 
Companies Act) be and are hereby approved by the passing of 
this resolution for the financial year ending 30 September 2018, 
as follows (see table below).

The remuneration excludes VAT (if applicable).

In order for the special resolution 3 to be adopted, the support 
of at least 75% of the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required.

Reason for special resolution 3
The reason for this special resolution 3 is to obtain shareholder 
approval by way of special resolution in accordance with section 
66(9) of the Companies Act for the payment by the company of 
remuneration to the non-executive directors of the company for their 
services as non-executive directors for the ensuing financial year.

Special resolution 4

Approval to issue shares in terms of Section 41(1) 
of the Companies Act
“Resolved that, as a special resolution in accordance with 
section 41(1) of the Companies Act and subject to the JSE 
Listings Requirements, the issue by the company of shares 
to any director, future director, prescribed officer or future 
prescribed officer of the company, or to a person related or 
inter-related to the company, or to a person related or inter-
related to a director or prescribed officer of the company, 
or to any nominee of such person, in terms of any placement, 
offer, book-build or similar capital raising, at the same price 
and at the same terms as those upon which shares are issued 
to other investors in terms of such capital raising, be and is 
hereby approved.”

In order for special resolution 4 to be adopted, the support 
of at least 75% of the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by proxy is required.

it is necessary to obtain the approval of shareholders, as set 
out in special resolution 2. Therefore, the reason for special 
resolution 2 is to permit the company to provide direct and/or 
indirect financial assistance (within the meaning attributed to 
that term in section 45 of the Companies Act) to the entities 
referred to in special resolution 2 above.

Notice in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act 
in respect of special resolution 2
Notice is hereby given to shareholders of the company in terms of 
section 45(5) of the Companies Act of resolutions adopted by the 
Board authorising the company to provide such direct or indirect 
financial assistance as specified in the special resolution above:

 › by the time that this notice of annual general meeting is 
delivered to shareholders of the company, the Board will 
have adopted a resolution (“section 45 Board resolution”) 
authorising the company to provide, at any time and from 
time to time during the period of 2 (two) years commencing 
on the date on which the special resolution is adopted, 
any direct or indirect financial assistance as contemplated in 
section 45 of the Companies Act to any one or more related 
or inter-related companies or corporations of the company 
and/or to any one or more members of any such related or 
inter-related company or corporation and/or to any one or 
more persons related to any such company or corporation;

 ›  the section 45 Board resolution will be effective only if and 
to the extent that the special resolution under the heading 
“special resolution number 2” is adopted by shareholders 
of the company, and the provision of any such direct or 
indirect financial assistance by the company, pursuant to such 
resolution, will always be subject to the Board being satisfied 
that immediately after providing such financial assistance, 
the company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test as 
referred to in section 45(3)(b)(i) of the Companies Act, and 
that (ii) the terms under which such financial assistance is to 
be given are fair and reasonable to the company as referred 
to in section 45(3)(b)(ii) of the Companies Act; and

 › in as much as the section 45 Board resolution contemplates that 
such financial assistance will in the aggregate exceed one-tenth of 
one percent of the company’s net worth at the date of adoption 
of such resolution, the company hereby provides notice of the 
section 45 Board resolution to shareholders of the company.

Non-executive directors’ fees
Proposed

Chairman of the Board R438 164

Non-executive director R274 476

Audit and risk committee member R65 875

Remuneration and nomination committee member R59 886

Investment committee member R65 875
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Upon receipt of the required information, the Gemgrow shareholder 
concerned will be provided with a secure code and instructions 
to access the electronic communication during the annual 
general meeting. Gemgrow shareholders must note that access 
to the electronic communication will be at the expense of the 
Gemgrow shareholders who wish to utilise the facility.

Gemgrow shareholders and their appointed proxies attending by 
conference call will not be able to cast their votes at the annual 
general meeting through this medium. Such shareholders, should 
they wish to have their vote counted at the annual general meeting 
must, to the extent applicable, complete the form of proxy or 
contact their CSDP or broker, in both instances as set out above.

Voting, proxies and authority for representatives to act
A shareholder of the company entitled to attend and vote at 
the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint one or more 
proxies (who need not be a shareholder of the company) to 
attend, vote and speak in his/her stead.

On a show of hands, every shareholder of the company present 
in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote only. On 
a poll, every shareholder of the company present in person or 
represented by proxy shall have one vote for every share held 
in the company by such shareholder.

A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of any Gemgrow 
shareholder holding certificated shares, who cannot attend the 
annual general meeting but wishes to be represented thereat. 
Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the 
company’s registered office.

The attached form of proxy is only to be completed by those 
shareholders who are:

 › holding shares in certificated form; or
 › recorded on the company’s sub-register in dematerialised 

electronic form with “own name” registration.

All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their 
shares through a Central Securities Depository participant 
(“CSDP”) or broker and wish to attend the annual general 
meeting, must instruct their CSDP or broker to provide them 
with the necessary letter of representation, or they must 
provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in 
terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between 
them and the CSDP or broker. These shareholders must not 
use a form of proxy.

Quorum
A quorum for purposes of considering the resolutions above 
shall consist of three shareholders of the company personally 
present. In addition a meeting of shareholders may not begin 
until sufficient persons are present at the meeting to exercise in 
aggregate at least 25% of the voting rights that are entitled to be 
exercised in respect of at least one matter to be decided at the 
meeting. A matter to be decided at a meeting may not begin to be 
considered unless sufficient persons are present at the meeting 
to exercise, in aggregate at least 25% of all of the voting rights 
that are entitled to be exercised in respect of that matter at the 
time the matter is called on the agenda.

The date on which Gemgrow shareholders must be recorded 
as such in the register maintained by the transfer secretaries, 
Link Market Services South Africa Proprietary Limited, 13th 
Floor, 19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, 2001 (PO Box 4844, 
Johannesburg, 2000), for the purposes of being entitled to 
attend, participate in and vote at the annual general meeting 
is Friday, 19 January 2018.

Shareholders

General instructions
Shareholders are encouraged to attend, speak and vote at the 
annual general meeting.

Electronic participation
The company has made provision for Gemgrow shareholders or 
their proxies to participate electronically in the annual general 
meeting by way of telephone conferencing. Should shareholders 
wish to participate in the annual general meeting by telephone 
conference call as aforesaid, the shareholder or its proxy as the 
case may be, will be required to advise the company thereof by 
no later than 11h00 on Friday, 26 January 2018, by submitting 
by e-mail to the company secretary at Nthabiseng.Tlhapane@
computershare.co.za or by fax to be faxed to +27 (0)11 688 5279, 
for the attention of Nthabiseng Tlhapane, relevant contact details, 
including an e-mail address, cellular number and landline as well 
as full details of the Gemgrow shareholder’s title to securities 
issued by the company and proof of identity, in the form of 
copies of identity documents and share certificates (in the case 
of materialised certificated Gemgrow shares) and (in the case 
of dematerialised Gemgrow shares) written confirmation from 
the Gemgrow shareholder’s CSDP confirming the Gemgrow 
shareholder’s title to the dematerialised Gemgrow shares.
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Resolutions authorising representatives in terms of section 57(5) 
of the Companies Act must be lodged with the company’s transfer 
secretaries prior to the annual general meeting.

Gemgrow does not accept responsibility and will not be held 
liable for any failure on the part of the CSDP or broker of a 
dematerialised shareholder to notify such shareholder of the 
annual general meeting or any business to be conducted thereat.

By order of the Board

Gemgrow Properties Limited

7 December 2017

For administrative purposes forms of proxy should be deposited 
with the transfer secretaries, Link Market Services South 
Africa Proprietary Limited at 13th Floor, 19 Ameshoff Street, 
Braamfontein, 2001 or by fax on 086 674 2450 or by email to 
meetfax@linkmarketservices.co.za to be received by 11h00 on 
Friday, 26 January 2017. Alternatively, the form of proxy may be 
handed to the chairman of the annual general meeting or to the 
transfer secretaries at the annual general meeting at any time 
prior to the commencement of the annual general meeting or 
prior to voting on any resolution proposed at the annual general 
meeting. Any shareholder who completes and lodges a form of 
proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend, speak and vote in 
person at the annual general meeting should the shareholder 
decide to do so.

A company that is a shareholder, wishing to attend and participate 
at the annual general meeting should ensure that a resolution 
authorising a representative to so attend and participate at the 
annual general meeting on its behalf is passed by its directors.
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Gemgrow Properties Limited (“Gemgrow” or “the company”)

(formerly Synergy Income Fund Limited) | (Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) | (Registration number 2007/032604/06)
JSE share code: GPA ISIN: ZAE0000223269 | JSE share code: GPB ISIN: ZAE0000223277 | (Approved as a REIT by the JSE)

Where appropriate and applicable the terms defined in the notice of annual general meeting to which this form of proxy is attached and 
forms part of bear the same meanings in this form of proxy. This form of proxy is only for use by:
 › registered shareholders who have not yet dematerialised their Gemgrow shares;
 › registered shareholders who have already dematerialised their Gemgrow shares and which shares are registered in their own names in the 
company’s sub-register.

For completion by the aforesaid registered shareholders of Gemgrow who are unable to attend the annual general meeting of the company 
to be held at the offices of the company at 3rd Floor, Upper Building, 1 Sturdee Avenue Rosebank, Johannesburg, at 11h00 on Monday, 29 January 
2018 (the “annual general meeting”) or any postponement or adjournment thereof.
Dematerialised shareholders, other than with “own name” registration, are not to use this form. Dematerialised shareholders, other than with 
“own name” registration, should provide instructions to their appointed Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker in the 
form as stipulated in the agreement entered into between the shareholder and the CSDP or broker.

I/we (block letters please) 

Of (address) 

Being the holder/s of  Gemgrow shares hereby appoint:

1. 

2. 

3. The chairman of the annual general meeting
as my/our proxy to attend and speak and to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting and at any adjournment or 
postponement thereof, for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed at 
the annual general meeting, and to vote on the resolutions in respect of the ordinary shares registered in my/our name(s), in the following manner.
Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless this is done the proxy will vote as he/she thinks fit.

In favour of * Against * Abstain *
Ordinary resolutions
 1.1 Re-election of G Kinross as director
 1.2 Re-election of C Abrams as director
 1.3 Re-election of A Rehman as director
 2.1 Re-appointment of members of the audit and risk committee — C Abrams (chairman)
 2.2 Re-appointment of members of the audit and risk committee — A Rehman
 2.3 Re-appointment of members of the audit and risk committee — A Basserabie
 3 Re-appointment of auditors
 4 General authority to issue shares for cash
 5.1 Non-binding advisory vote on remuneration policy
 5.2 Non-binding advisory vote on remuneration implementation report
 6 Specific authority to issue shares pursuant to a reinvestment option
 7 Signature of documentation
Special resolutions
 1 Share repurchases
 2 Financial assistance to related and inter- related parties in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act
 3 Approval of fees payable to non- executive directors
 4 Approval to issue shares in terms of section 41(1) of the Companies Act

*  One vote per share held by Gemgrow shareholders recorded in the register on the voting record date. Unless otherwise instructed, my/our proxy may vote or 
abstain from voting as he/she thinks fit.

Signed at  on  20 

Signature  assisted by me (where applicable) 

(State capacity and full name) 
A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, vote and speak in his/her stead. A proxy need not 
be a member of the company. Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and, on a poll, vote in place of that shareholder at the 
annual general meeting. For administrative purposes, forms of proxy should be deposited at Link Market Services South Africa Proprietary Limited, 13th Floor, 
19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, 2001 or posted to PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000, or by fax on 086674450 or by email to meetfax@linkmarketservices.co.za 
to be received by 11h00 on Friday, 26 January 2018. Alternatively, the form of proxy may be handed to the chairman of the annual general meeting or to the transfer 
secretaries, at the annual general meeting, at any time prior to the commencement of the annual general meeting or prior to voting on any resolution proposed at 
the annual general meeting. Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.
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 › the company must not require that the proxy appointment be made 
irrevocable; and

 › the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the relevant 
meeting at which it was intended to be used, unless revoked as 
contemplated in section 58(5) of the Companies Act.

12.  Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be 
initialled by the signatory/ies. A deletion of any printed matter and 
the completion of any blank space(s) need not be signed or initialled.

13.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing 
this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to 
this form unless previously recorded by the transfer secretaries of the 
company or waived by the chairman of the annual general meeting.

14.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent/guardian unless the 
relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity are produced 
or have been registered by the transfer secretaries.

15.  A company holding shares in the company that wishes to attend 
and participate at the annual general meeting should ensure that a 
resolution authorising a representative to act is passed by its directors. 
Resolutions authorising representatives in terms of section 57(5) 
of the Companies Act must be lodged with the company’s transfer 
secretaries prior to the annual general meeting.

16.  Where there are joint holders of shares any one of such persons 
may vote at any meeting in respect of such shares as if he were solely 
entitled thereto; but if more than one of such joint holders be present 
or represented at the meeting, that one of the said persons whose 
name appears first in the register of shareholders of such shares or 
his proxy, as the case may be, shall alone be entitled to vote in 
respect thereof.

17.  On a show of hands, every shareholder of the company present in 
person or represented by proxy shall have one vote only. On a poll a 
shareholder who is present in person or represented by a proxy shall 
have one vote for every share held in the company by such shareholder.

18.  The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any 
proxy which is completed and/or received other than in accordance 
with the instructions, provided that he shall not accept a proxy unless 
he is satisfied as to the matter in which a shareholder wishes to vote.

19.  A proxy may not delegate his/her authority to act on behalf of the 
shareholder, to another person.

20.  A shareholder’s instruction to the proxy must be indicated by the 
insertion of the relevant number of shares to be voted on behalf of 
that shareholder in the appropriate space provided. Failure to comply 
with the above will be deemed to authorise the chairperson of the 
annual general meeting, if the chairperson is the authorised proxy, 
to vote in favour of the resolutions at the annual general meeting or 
other proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual general 
meeting as he/she deems fit, in respect of the shares concerned. A 
shareholder or the proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable 
by the shareholder or the proxy, but the total of votes cast in respect 
whereof abstention is recorded may not exceed the total of the votes 
exercisable by the shareholder or the proxy.

21.  It is requested that this form of proxy be lodged or posted or faxed 
to the transfer secretaries, Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) 
Ltd 13th Floor, 19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, 2001 or by fax 
on 086 674 2450 or by email to meetfax@linkmarketservices.
co.za, to be received by the company no later than 11h00 on Friday, 
26 January 2017. Alternatively, the form of proxy may be handed 
to the chairman of the annual general meeting or to the transfer 
secretaries at the annual general meeting at any time prior to the 
commencement of the annual general meeting or prior to voting on 
any resolution proposed at the annual general meeting. A quorum 
for the purposes of considering the resolutions shall comprise 
25% of all the voting rights that are entitled to be exercised by 
shareholders in respect of each matter to be decided at the annual 
general meeting. In addition, a quorum shall consist of three 
shareholders of the company personally present or represented 
and entitled to vote at the annual general meeting.

22.  This form of proxy may be used at any adjournment or postponement 
of the annual general meeting, including any postponement due to a 
lack of quorum, unless withdrawn by the shareholder.

The aforegoing notes contain a summary of the relevant provisions of 
section 58 of the Companies Act.

1.  Only shareholders who are registered in the register of the company 
under their own name on the date on which shareholders must be 
recorded as such in the register maintained by the transfer secretaries, 
Link Market Services South Africa Proprietary Limited, being Friday, 
19 January 2018 (the “voting record date”), may complete a form of proxy 
or attend the annual general meeting. This includes shareholders who 
have not dematerialised their shares or who have dematerialised their 
shares with “own name” registration. The person whose name stands 
first on the form of proxy and who is present at the annual general 
meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose 
names follow. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company.

2.  Certificated shareholders wishing to attend the annual general meeting 
have to ensure beforehand with the transfer secretaries of the company 
(being Link Market Services South Africa Proprietary Limited) that their 
shares are registered in their own name.

3.  Beneficial shareholders whose shares are not registered in their “own 
name”, but in the name of another, for example, a nominee, may not 
complete a proxy form, unless a form of proxy is issued to them by a 
registered shareholder and they should contact the registered shareholder 
for assistance in issuing instructions on voting their shares, or obtaining a 
proxy to attend, speak and, on a poll, vote at the annual general meeting.

4.  Dematerialised shareholders who have not elected “own name” 
registration in the register of the company through a Central Securities 
Depository Participant (“CSDP”) and who wish to attend the annual 
general meeting, must instruct the CSDP or broker to provide them 
with the necessary authority to attend.

5.  Dematerialised shareholders who have not elected “own name” 
registration in the register of the company through a CSDP and who are 
unable to attend, but wish to vote at the annual general meeting, must 
timeously provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in 
terms of the custody agreement entered into between that shareholder 
and the CSDP or broker.

6.  A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two 
or more alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the space, 
with or without deleting “the chairman of the annual general meeting”. 
The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and who is 
present at the annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy 
to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

7.  The completion and lodging of this form will not preclude the relevant 
shareholder from attending the annual general meeting and speaking 
and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed, 
should such shareholder wish to do so. In addition to the aforegoing, a 
shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by cancelling it in writing, 
or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy and delivering a 
copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and to the company.

8.  The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final 
cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the relevant 
shareholder as of the later of the date:
 › stated in the revocation instrument, if any; or
 › upon which the revocation instrument is delivered to the proxy 
and the relevant company as required in section 58(4)(c)(ii) of the 
Companies Act.

9.  Should the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies have been 
delivered to the company, as long as that appointment remains 
in effect, any notice that is required by the Companies Act or the 
company’s Memorandum of Incorporation to be delivered by the 
company to the shareholder must be delivered by the company to:
 › the shareholder, or
 › the proxy or proxies if the shareholder has in writing directed the 
relevant company to do so and has paid any reasonable fee charged 
by the company for doing so.

10.   A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting 
right of the relevant shareholder without direction, except to the 
extent that the Memorandum of Incorporation of the company or 
the instrument appointing the proxy provide otherwise.

11.  If the company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one 
or more persons named by the company as a proxy, or supplies a form 
of instrument for appointing a proxy:
 › such invitation must be sent to every shareholder who is entitled 
to receive notice of the meeting at which the proxy is intended to 
be exercised;

122

Notes to the form of proxy



Investec Investec Bank Limited

IT Information technology

JSE Johannesburg Stock Exchange Limited

King IV King IV™ Code/Report on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa, 2016

LTV Loan to value

m2 Square metre

MOI Memorandum of incorporation 
of Gemgrow

NAV Net asset value

Nedbank Nedbank Limited

Pipeline Potential property acquisitions 
not yet finalised

PLS Property loan stock

R South African rand

RMB Rand Merchant Bank Limited

Real Insight Real Insight (Pty) Ltd

REIT Real Estate Investment Trust

Remuneration policy Remuneration policy in terms of King IV

SAPY SA Listed Property Index

SENS Stock Exchange News Service of the JSE

Share or ordinary share Share or ordinary share of no par value in 
the capital of the company

Standard Bank The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

SME Small medium enterprise

Strate A licensed Central Securities Depository 
for the electronic settlement of financial 
instruments in South Africa

Synergy Synergy Income Fund Limited, the name 
of which was changed to Gemgrow 
Properties Limited

Transfer date Date of registration of transfer of 
ownership of immovable property 
in the Deeds Office

Vukile Vukile Property Fund Limited

Yield Enhancement 
Solutions

Yield Enhancement Solutions (Pty) Ltd 
(reg. no. 2009/016199/07), a limited 
liability private company duly 
incorporated in South Africa

ALBI All Bond Index

ALSI All Share Index

Arrowhead Arrowhead Properties Limited, 
a REIT listed on the JSE

Board Board of directors

CEO Chief executive officer

CFO Chief financial officer

CGT Capital Gains Tax

CIPC Companies and Intellectual 
Property Commission

Commercial Retail, office and industrial properties

Companies Act Companies Act, 2008 as amended

Company Gemgrow

COO Chief operating officer

Couzyns Couzyns Incorporated

CSDP Central Securities Depository Participant

Cumulative Cumulative Properties Limited

EPS Earnings per share

ERES Excellerate Real Estate Services (Pty) 
Ltd, t/a JHI, part of Cushman & Wakefield 
Excellerate

Executive CEO, CFO and COO

GAM Gemgrow Asset Management (Pty) Ltd

Gearing Loans from The Standard Bank of 
South Africa Limited, Rand Merchant 
Bank Limited, Investec Bank Limited 
and Nedbank Limited

Gemgrow Gemgrow Properties Limited, 
a REIT listed on the JSE

GLA Gross lettable area

Grant Thornton Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership

Group Gemgrow and its subsidiaries

HEPS Headline earnings per share

IAS International Accounting Standards

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

Implementation report Implementation report in terms of King IV

Indluplace Indluplace Properties Limited
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Gemgrow Properties Ltd

Registration number:  
2007/032604/06  
JSE Share code:  
GPA ISIN: ZAE0000223269

Registered Office
Gemgrow Properties Limited
3rd Floor Upper Building
1 Sturdee Avenue
Rosebank
Johannesburg 2196

Directors
Mark Kaplan (CEO)
Junaid Limalia (CFO)
Alon Kirkel (COO)
Gregory Kinross (Chairman) *
Clifford Abrams *
Arnold Basserabie *
Ayesha Rehman *

* Independent non-executive

Transfer Secretaries
Link Market Services South 
Africa Proprietary Limited

Sponsor
Java Capital Trustees and  
Sponsors Proprietary Limited

Company Secretary
Gillian Prestwich

CIS Company Secretaries 
Proprietary Limited

gemgrow.co.za


